
WILSONVILLE CITY HALL
DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL A

MONDAY, JULY 11, 2016 - 6:30 P.M.
Call To Order:

Chairman's Remarks:

Roll Call:

Mary Fierros Bower Kristin Akervall
James Frinell Fred Ruby
Ronald Heberlein Council Liaison Julie Fitzgerald 

Citizen's Input:

City Council Liaison's Report:

Consent Agenda:

A. Approval of minutes of the June 13, 2016 meeting

June 13 2016 Minutes.pdf

Public Hearing:

A. Resolution No. 329.
12-Lot Single Family Subdivision (Ash Park): Randy Myers, Brownstone 
Development - Applicant.  The applicant is requesting approval of a modification to a 
previously approved condition of approval, Tentative Partition Plat, Modified Stage I 
Preliminary Plan, Stage II Final Plan, Tentative Subdivision Plat, Site Design Review, 
Type C Tree Plan and Waivers for a 12-lot single family subdivision. The subject property 
is located at 8195 SW Maxine Lane on Tax Lot 2700 of Section 13B, T3S, R1W, 
Clackamas County, Oregon.  Staff:  Connie Randall

Case File: AR15-0088 Modification to Condition of Approval (87AR25)
DB15-0075 Remedial Partition - Tentative Partition Plat
DB15-0076 Modify Stage I Master Plan for Ash Meadows
DB15-0077 Stage II Final Plan
DB15-0078       Tentative Subdivision Plat
DB15-0079       Site Design Review
DB15-0080       Type C Tree Removal Plan
DB15-0082       3 Waivers

DRB Resolution 329 Ash Park.pdf

Staff Report Exhibits

Staff Report . exhibits combined.pdf

Ash Park Notebook Plan Set

Ash Park Notebook.pdf, Full Size Plan Set.pdf

Board Member Communications:

Staff Communications

Adjournment

Assistive Listening Devices (ALD) are available for persons with impaired hearing and can be scheduled for 
this meeting.  The City will also endeavor to provide the following services, without cost, if requested at least 

48 hours prior to the meeting.

l Qualified sign language interpreters for persons with speech or hearing impairments.

l Qualified bilingual interpreters.

l To obtain such services, please call the Planning Assistant at 503 682-4960

I.

II.

III.

IV.

V.

VI.

Documents:

VII.

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

VIII.

IX.

X.



WILSONVILLE CITY HALL
DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL A

MONDAY, JULY 11, 2016 - 6:30 P.M.
Call To Order:

Chairman's Remarks:

Roll Call:

Mary Fierros Bower Kristin Akervall
James Frinell Fred Ruby
Ronald Heberlein Council Liaison Julie Fitzgerald 

Citizen's Input:

City Council Liaison's Report:

Consent Agenda:

A. Approval of minutes of the June 13, 2016 meeting

June 13 2016 Minutes.pdf

Public Hearing:

A. Resolution No. 329.
12-Lot Single Family Subdivision (Ash Park): Randy Myers, Brownstone 
Development - Applicant.  The applicant is requesting approval of a modification to a 
previously approved condition of approval, Tentative Partition Plat, Modified Stage I 
Preliminary Plan, Stage II Final Plan, Tentative Subdivision Plat, Site Design Review, 
Type C Tree Plan and Waivers for a 12-lot single family subdivision. The subject property 
is located at 8195 SW Maxine Lane on Tax Lot 2700 of Section 13B, T3S, R1W, 
Clackamas County, Oregon.  Staff:  Connie Randall

Case File: AR15-0088 Modification to Condition of Approval (87AR25)
DB15-0075 Remedial Partition - Tentative Partition Plat
DB15-0076 Modify Stage I Master Plan for Ash Meadows
DB15-0077 Stage II Final Plan
DB15-0078       Tentative Subdivision Plat
DB15-0079       Site Design Review
DB15-0080       Type C Tree Removal Plan
DB15-0082       3 Waivers

DRB Resolution 329 Ash Park.pdf

Staff Report Exhibits

Staff Report . exhibits combined.pdf

Ash Park Notebook Plan Set

Ash Park Notebook.pdf, Full Size Plan Set.pdf

Board Member Communications:

Staff Communications

Adjournment

Assistive Listening Devices (ALD) are available for persons with impaired hearing and can be scheduled for 
this meeting.  The City will also endeavor to provide the following services, without cost, if requested at least 

48 hours prior to the meeting.

l Qualified sign language interpreters for persons with speech or hearing impairments.

l Qualified bilingual interpreters.

l To obtain such services, please call the Planning Assistant at 503 682-4960

I.

II.

III.

IV.

V.

VI.

Documents:

VII.

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

VIII.

IX.

X.

http://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/98eb352c-7303-4dd6-a17b-77e52cc164dd


DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, JULY 11, 2016 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
  

 
 
 
 

VI. Consent Agenda: 
A. Approval of minutes from June 13, 2016 DRB Panel 

A meeting 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Development Review Board Panel A  June 13, 2016 
Minutes  Page 1 of 4  

Wilsonville City Hall 
29799 SW Town Center Loop East 
Wilsonville, Oregon 
 
Development Review Board – Panel A 
Minutes–June 13, 2016   6:30 PM 
 
I. Call to Order 
Chair Mary Fierros Bower called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 

 
II. Chair’s Remarks 
The Conduct of Hearing and Statement of Public Notice were read into the record. 
 
III. Roll Call 
Present for roll call were:  Mary Fierros Bower, Kristin Akervall, James Frinell, Ronald Heberlein, Fred 

Ruby and City Council Liaison Julie Fitzgerald 
 
Staff present:   Barbara Jacobson, Daniel Pauly and Jennifer Scola 
 
IV. Citizens’ Input This is an opportunity for visitors to address the Development Review Board on 
items not on the agenda.  There were no comments. 
 
V. City Council Liaison Report 
Councilor Fitzgerald highlighted City Council’s recent activities: 

• The City, along with several other cities, successfully participated in an emergency exercise in 
preparation or a large scale earthquake.   

• Council discussed the Water Treatment Master Plan Update regarding projections of increased 
use over time and the best way to maintain high water quality. 

• The budget committee processes had concluded with approval of the budget by the committee. 
The budget will move on to City Council. 

• The Council continued work on the Basalt Creek Plan, working on land use in the area and the 
best way to manage traffic flow.  She referred board members to the Planning Department for 
more information. 

• The City was just awarded a Walk Friendly Communities bronze level designation.   The City 
was one of 7 cities across the country awarded that designation. 

  
VI. Consent Agenda: 
  A.     Approval of minutes of May 9, 2016 DRB Panel A meeting 
 
Chair Fierros Bower noted that she was not present at the May 9 meeting. 
 
Ronald Heberlein moved to approve the May 9, 2016 DRB Panel A meeting minutes as amended to 
show that Chair Fierros Bower was not present at the May 9 meeting. Fred Ruby seconded the 
motion, which passed 4 to 0 to 1 with Mary Fierros Bower abstaining. 
 
VII. Public Hearing: 

A.   Resolution No. 328.   8855 SW Holly Lane Monument Sign: Two G’s Real Estate – 
Owner/Applicant.  The applicant is requesting approval of a Class 3 Sign Permit for a new 
multi-tenant monument sign at 8855 SW Holly Lane.   The site is located on Tax Lot 303, 
Section 23AA, T3S, R1W, Clackamas County, Oregon. Staff:  Jennifer Scola. 

 
 Case File:  DB16-0019 – Class 3 Sign Permit 



Development Review Board Panel A  June 13, 2016 
Minutes  Page 2 of 4  

 
Chair Fierros Bower called the public hearing to order at 6:39 p.m. and read the conduct of hearing 
format into the record. All Board members except James Frinell declared for the record that they had 
visited the site. No board member, however, declared a conflict of interest, bias, or conclusion from a site 
visit. No board member participation was challenged by any member of the audience. 
 
Jennifer Scola, Assistant Planner, announced that the criteria applicable to the application were stated 
on page 1 and 2 of the Staff report, which was entered into the record. Copies of the report were made 
available to the side of the room.  
 
Ms. Scola presented the Staff report via PowerPoint, briefly reviewing the site’s history and noting the 
project’s location and surrounding features, with these key comments: 

• When approved in 1979, the complex known as the Crown Building was built for a single tenant, 
but has since become a multi-tenant complex that has outgrown its current monument sign. 

• While the Code would ordinarily allow staff to process a monument sign as a Class 2 review, 
with the proposed sign being over 8 feet in height and in a new location, it was being reviewed 
through a Class 3 process. 

• The proposed replacement sign was overall shorter and smaller in area than the current sign. 
• The current wooden monument sign was 11 feet in height and 5 feet in width and located in a 

landscaped area adjacent to Parkway Avenue. Since the monument sign was initially designed for 
far fewer tenants than what now existed, the applicant was encountering difficulty ensuring that 
all tenants on site had visibility from the right of way. 

• There were currently 34 units.  While some of those units were not in use, the sign was still 
limiting for providing adequate signage for everyone on site thus prompting the application.    

• The property was zoned Planned Development Commercial and allowed a monument sign up to 
20 feet in height, but the proposal was only for 10 feet in height.  

• Additionally, buildings in the PDC zone were permitted 32 square feet plus an additional 3 square 
feet per tenant space under 1,000 square feet.   The number in tenants in the complex meant that 
the subject site was permitted a sign up to 134 square feet total.   The applicant was only 
proposing 55 square feet in area. 

• Overall the proposed sign would be 10 feet in height by 5 feet 6 inches in width with 32 
individual cells for signage for each individual tenant and have a masonry base, metal dividers 
and changeable signs for the tenants. 

• In working with the applicant to determine a final location for the monument sign, the 
Engineering Division noted a 15 inch storm line that ran through the landscape area adjacent 
Parkway Avenue.   Both the current and the proposed replacement monument signs were shown 
to be located within the prescriptive easement of the storm line which was buried at least 20 feet 
deep.  Engineering had approved the location of the proposed sign, which allowed it to encroach 
within the 2 foot setback of the storm line although in a more northern location along the west 
property line. 

• The proposed sign had been designed with a removable metal frame so that the City could easily 
access the storm line in the future. 

 
While Engineering had approved the new location, Staff proposed a modified condition as noted in a 
Planning Division memo that had been circulated to the Board.  The modified condition would ensure a 
proper easement agreement was reached prior to the construction of the subject sign.  The modified 
condition PD 5 would read as followed: 
 

“The Applicant/Owner shall ensure that the approved sign is installed outside of all City 
Easements, particularly pipeline easements, unless appropriate agreement is reached between the 
Applicant/Owner and the City.”  

          



Development Review Board Panel A  June 13, 2016 
Minutes  Page 3 of 4  

Kristin Akervall had two questions: 
 1) If there were 34 tenants, why were there only 32 spots on the sign? 

2) Thirty two small sections on the sign seemed like a lot of reading to do while driving by.  
Would there be a place on the sign for the street address? 

 
Ms. Scola said that the Code required that the site address be on the sign, unless explicitly waived by the 
fire department. Planning Condition PD2 required the actual building address on the sign. The individual 
signs would show the individual tenant space and address on them. 
 
Ms. Akervall asked if they would be large enough to read. 
 
The Board decided to let the Applicant answer that question. 
 
Ms. Scola noted that, as far as the individual tenant spaces were concerned, there were some spaces that 
were not filled and some tenants that took up multiple spaces. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower asked if there were any other questions for staff.  Seeing none, she called the 
Applicant forward to present testimony. 
 
Russ Goddard, Property Manager for Two G’s Real Estate noted that the sign would say “Crown 
Building – 8855 Holly Lane” in 6 inch letters at the top of the sign.   He confirmed that Ms. Scola was 
right that several tenants occupied two or more spaces and that some tenants did not want signs at all.  At 
the Tigard location tenants were allowed to do their own logos, which resulted in confusion.   This time, 
signs would be in Times New Roman Bold, their name and suite number with no logos or fancy pictures 
of birds or things like that.  It would make them easier to read.  He had turned down multiple requests for 
A-frame signs, flags, banners, etc.   He wanted to keep it simple to avoid confusion. 
 
Ms. Akervall confirmed that the sign would look like the example provided and say “Crown Building” 
with the address below. 
 
Mr. Goddard confirmed that top two spaces on both sides of the sign would say “8855 Holly Lane.” 
 
Chair Fierros Bower called for public testimony in favor of, opposed and neutral to the application. 
Seeing none, she closed the public hearing at 6:53 pm. 
 
James Frinell moved to approve Resolution No. 328 and the staff report as amended with condition 
PD5 as presented in the memorandum. The motion was seconded by Ronald Heberlein and passed 
unanimously. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower read the rules of appeal into the record. 

 
VIII. Board Member Communications:  There were none. 
 
IX. Staff Communications: 
 
Daniel Pauly updated the Board on the Republic Services/SORT Bioenergy application, which was 
approved by City Council on first reading. 
 
X. Adjournment 
The meeting adjourned at 6:55 p.m. 
 
 

 



Development Review Board Panel A  June 13, 2016 
Minutes  Page 4 of 4  

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
 

 
Shelley White, Planning Administrative Assistant 



RESOLUTION NO.  329         PAGE 1 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 
RESOLUTION NO. 329 

 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING FINDINGS AND CONDITIONS APPROVING A MODIFICATION 
TO A PREVIOUSLY APPROVED CONDITION OF APPROVAL, TENTATIVE PARTITION PLAT, 
MODIFIED STAGE I MASTER PLAN, STAGE II FINAL PLAN, TENTATIVE SUBDIVISION 
PLAT, SITE DESIGN REVIEW, TYPE C TREE PLAN, AND WAIVERS FOR A 12-LOT SINGLE-
FAMILY SUBDIVISION LOCATED AT 8195 SW MAXINE LANE ON TAX LOT 2700 OF 
SECTION 13B, T3S, R1W, WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, CITY OF WILSONVILLE, CLACKAMAS 
COUNTY, OREGON. RANDY MYERS, BROWNSTONE DEVELOPMENT - APPLICANT. 
 

 WHEREAS, an application, together with planning exhibits for the above-captioned development, 
has been submitted in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 4.008 of the Wilsonville Code, and 
 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Staff has prepared staff report on the above-captioned subject dated June 
30, 2016, and 
 

 WHEREAS, said planning exhibits and staff report were duly considered by the Development 
Review Board Panel A at a scheduled meeting conducted on July 11, 2016, at which time exhibits, together 
with findings and public testimony were entered into the public record, and  
 

 WHEREAS, the Development Review Board considered the subject and the recommendations 
contained in the staff report, and 
 

 WHEREAS, interested parties, if any, have had an opportunity to be heard on the subject. 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Development Review Board of the City of 
Wilsonville does hereby adopt the staff report dated June 30, 2016, attached hereto as Exhibit A1, with 
findings and recommendations contained therein, and authorizes the Planning Director to issue permits 
consistent with said recommendations for:  
 

AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082, Modification to a Previously Approved 
Condition of Approval, Tentative Partition Plat, Stage I Preliminary Plan, Stage II Final Plan, Tentative 
Subdivision Plat, Site Design Review, Type C Tree Plan, and Waivers for a 12-lot residential subdivision, and 
associated open space and other improvements. 
 

ADOPTED by the Development Review Board of the City of Wilsonville at a regular meeting thereof 
this 11th day of July, 2016 and filed with the Planning Administrative Assistant on _______________.  This 
resolution is final on the l5th calendar day after the postmarked date of the written notice of decision per WC 
Sec 4.022(.09) unless appealed per WC Sec 4.022(.02) or called up for review by the council in accordance 
with WC Sec 4.022(.03). 
       
          ______,  
      Mary Fierros Bower, Chair, Panel A 
      Wilsonville Development Review Board 
Attest: 
 
       
Shelley White, Planning Administrative Assistant 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 1 of 94 

Exhibit A1 
Staff Report 

Wilsonville Planning Division 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane  

 
Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ 

Quasi-Judicial Public Hearing 
 

Hearing Date: July 11, 2016 
Date of Report: June 30, 2016 

Application Nos.: A. AR15-0088 Modification to Condition of Approval (87AR25) 
 B. DB15-0075 Remedial Partition – Tentative Partition Plat 
 C. DB15-0076 Modify Stage I Master Plan for Ash Meadows 
 D. DB15-0077 Stage II Final Plan 
 E. DB15-0078 Tentative Subdivision Plat 
 F. DB15-0079 Site Design Review 
 G. DB15-0080 Type C Tree Plan  
 H. DB15-0082 3 Waivers 
 
Request: The Development Review Board is being asked to review a Modification to Condition 
of Approval for Ash Meadows (87AR25), Remedial Partition, Stage I Preliminary Plan for Ash 
Meadows, Stage II Final Plan, Tentative Subdivision Plat, Site Design Review, Type C Tree 
Removal Plan, and 3 Waivers for a 12-lot single-family subdivision, associated parks, open 
space and other improvements on approximately 2.13 acres. 
 
Location: 8195 SW Maxine Lane. The subject property is more particularly described as being 
Tax Lot 2700 in Section 13B; Township 3S, Range 1W; Clackamas County; Wilsonville, Oregon 
 
Owner: Dutch Ventures LLC (10240 SW Egret Place; Beaverton, OR 97007) 
 
Applicant: Brownstone Development (Contact: Randy Myers) 
 
Applicant’s Representative: Ben Altman, Pioneer Design Group, Inc. 
 
Comprehensive Plan  
Designation: Residential 6-7 dwelling units per acre 
 
Zone Map Classification: PDR-4 (Planned Development Residential - 4) 
 
Staff Reviewers: Connie Randall, Associate Planner 
 Steve Adams PE, Development Engineering Manager 
 Kerry Rappold, Natural Resources Program Manager 
 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 1 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 2 of 94 

Staff Recommendation: Approve with conditions the requested Modification to Condition of 
Approval; Remedial Partition Plat; Stage I Master Plan Modification, Stage II Final Plan, 
Tentative Subdivision Plat, Site Design Review request, Type C Tree Plan, and Waivers.   
 
Applicable Review Criteria: 
 
Development Code:  
Section 4.008 Application Procedures-In General 
Section 4.009 Who May Initiate Application 
Section 4.010 How to Apply 
Section 4.011 How Applications are Processed 
Section 4.012 Public Hearing Notices 
Section 4.013 Hearing Procedures 
Section 4.014 Burden of Proof 
Section 4.015 Findings and Conditions 
Section 4.031 Authority of the Development Review Board 
Section 4.035 Site Development Permits 
Section 4.110 Zones 
Section 4.113 Standards Applying to Residential Development in 

Any Zone 
Section 4.118 Standards Applying to Planned Development Zones 
Section 4.124 Standards Applying to All Planned Development 

Residential Zones 
Section 4.124.4 PDR-4 
Section 4.140 Planned Development Regulations 
Section 4.154 On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation 
Section 4.155 Parking, Loading, and Bicycle Parking 
Section 4.167 Access, Ingress, and Egress 
Section 4.169 Double-Frontage Lots 
Section 4.171 Protection of Natural Features and Other Resources 
Section 4.175 Public Safety and Crime Prevention 
Section 4.176 Landscaping, Screening, and Buffering 
Section 4.177 Street Improvement Standards 
Sections 4.200 through 4.220 
Sections 4.236 through 4.270 

Land Divisions 

Sections 4.300 through 4.320 Underground Utilities 
Sections 4.400 through 4.440 as 
applicable 

Site Design Review 

Sections 4.600-4.640.20 Tree Preservation and Protection 
Other Documents:  
Comprehensive Plan  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 2 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 3 of 94 

VICINITY MAP 

 
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The subject property, Tax Lot 2700, is part of a previously-approved residential planned 
development, Ash Meadows, initially composed of 77 acres and as many as 30 phases. After the 
initial phase was constructed the owner/developer sought approvals for alternative designs of 
the originally-approved phases. Some pursuits were successful, but not built. In 1988, 46+ acres 
of the approved master plan were sold to Mentor Graphics whose high tech industrial campus 
is located nearby, north of the residential development. Adjustments to the uses and phases of 
the planned development were made through prior City approvals. Despite those adjustments, 
the planned development’s master plan, which includes the subject property in this application, 
remains in effect. 
 
SUMMARY: 
 

A project narrative is provided by the applicant, found in under Section 1 of Exhibit B1. The 
applicant’s narrative adequately describes the proposed application components, and provides 
proposed findings regarding applicable review criteria. Except where necessary to examine 
issues identified in this report, staff has relied upon the applicant’s submitted documents, rather 
than repeat their contents again here. 
 
 

ASH MEADOWS 

CONDOMINIUMS 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 3 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 4 of 94 

Requests A and B – Tentative Remedial Partition Plat and Delete Condition No. 2 in 87AR25  
(AR15-0088 and DB15-0075) 
 

Tax Lot 2700, the property subject to this request, had been sold many times before being 
purchased by the current owners. In a recent Planning Director written interpretation (case-file 
AR15-0047) the Planning Director determined that such sales did not create a “lot of record”, 
unless performed as the result of compliance with land use requirements and procedures in 
effect at the time of the parcel’s creation. Thus, the proposed Tentative Partition Plat is to 
validate Tax Lot 2700 under ORS 92.176. A related request to delete Condition No. 2 in case file 
87AR25 will allow the parcel to be separated from the original Ash Meadows Master Plan. 
These actions will allow planned development to proceed as proposed in Requests C through H 
of this application.   
 

The following are applicable discussion points from Case file AR15-0047 (Legal Lot of Record 
interpretation) relative to the proposed remedial Tentative Partition Plat (DB15-0075): and the 
applicant’s request to delete Condition No. 2 in case-file 87AR25.   
 

“Approval of a minor partition was sought and granted by the City in 1987 (87AR25). Two 
conditions were imposed upon the approval: 1) ‘Street plugs’ (reserve strips) [are] required 
along existing public roads, excepting existing approved access to Ash Meadows 
Condominiums; and, 2) Recreation area to continue to be utilized as common area for 
condominiums.” (Figure 1, recreation area in red) 

 

“As a result of the conditions of the partition 
approval described above, a lot line adjustment 
was performed in 1987 by the then-owner, Ash and 
Associates. The boundary of Ash Meadows was 
adjusted, and the subject property was retained as 
part of Ash Meadows.  A record of survey was 
filed in this regard in September, 1988.  The 
recorded conveyance also occurred in 1988.” 
 

“In addition to the adjustment, three large tracts 
comprising approximately 67.43 acres were 
partitioned as a result of City approval in 1987 and 
sold to Mentor Graphics Corporation in 1988.  The 
record of survey for the partition was filed with the 
County Surveyor in July, 1987.” (Figure 1, Mentor 
Graphics sale shown in yellow) 
 

“Despite the conditions of approval imposed by the City in the partition approval noted above, 
Ash and Associates sold the lots for 33 condominium “building lots” (Lots 38 – 71), and a 2.129 
acre tract now known as Tax Lot 2700, to G. and J. Reeves in 1994.  City partition approval had 
not been sought or approved for the creation of the 2.129 acre tract to exist as a separate parcel.” 

FIGURE 1 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 4 of 101

http://www.wilsonvillemaps.com:6080/arcgis/rest/directories/arcgisoutput/Utilities/PrintingTools_GPServer/_ags_b0c0e137730f43acb4891eeb0fba4d42.png


Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 5 of 94 

The applicant has demonstrated that Tax Lot 2700 can be validated as a legal lot pursuant to 
ORS 92.176 and that the deletion of Condition No. 2 is reasonable and necessary to facilitate 
redevelopment of Tax Lot 2700. 
 
Request C – Modify Stage I Preliminary Plan (Ash Meadows Master Plan) 
 

As indicated in the staff narrative above for the proposed Tentative Partition Plat, Tax Lot 2700, 
the subject property, is not a lot, as defined by Section 4.001, as its existence did not result from 
approval of a subdivision or partition by the City of Wilsonville. Instead, the subject property 
was adjusted to remain with the plat of Ash Meadows, to remain in recreational use by its 
residents. A sale in 1994 included Units 38 - 71 of Ash Meadows, and the portion of the property 
upon which the existing Ash Meadows tennis courts, recreation facility and associated parking 
are located on the subject tax Lot 2700.  
 

Thus the applicant is proposing to modify the Ash Meadows Master Plan to replace the existing 
Ash Meadows tennis courts, recreation facility and associated parking with a 12 lot single-
family residential subdivision and not be in common property associated with Ash Meadows 
planned development. 
 

The applicant’s intent is for the site to be used for residential development in compliance with 
the proposed Comprehensive Plan designation of 6 - 7 dwelling units per acre. This intent, 
typically achieved through a preliminary plan, is implemented per Section 4.210(.01)(B)(19), as 
reviewed in Request B and the Tentative Subdivision Plat, as reviewed in Request D. 
 
Request D – Stage II Final Plan 
 

Traffic 
Streets are designed for a certain traffic volume and the City has a Level of Service capacity 
standard to ensure traffic volumes from development do not exceed street and intersection 
capacity. The DKS Traffic Report confirms the streets and nearby intersections continue to 
exceed the City’s capacity standards with the proposed development (Exhibit B1, Item 9). In 
addition, the City maintains a number of other standards including sidewalks to separate 
pedestrian and vehicle traffic, crosswalk, and signage standards, among others, to support 
pedestrian safety on local residential and all levels of City streets. 
 
Utilities and Services 
All utility and services are readily available to support the proposed. 
 
Parks and Open Space 
The City requires 25% of residential development be open space. In addition, the City requires 
¼ acre, or 10,890 square feet, of “usable open space”. The applicant is seeking a waiver to 
reduce the amount of general open space to 22.8% (see waiver discussion below and Request 
H). The applicant is exceeding the required “usable open space” with the provision of 11,070 
square feet of recreations area in Tract ‘A’.  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 5 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 6 of 94 

Setbacks and Lot Coverage 
The lots provide for home sites meeting front and street side setbacks. Waivers are requested to 
reduce the side yard and rear yard setbacks for 2-story homes from 7 feet to 5 feet and from 20 
feet to 15 feet, respectively (see waiver discussion below and Request H). the PDR-4 zone allows 
75% lot coverage for all buildings. No waiver from the lot coverage requirement is sought. 
 
Density  
The subject site is 2.13 acres with a Comprehensive Plan Designation of Residential 6-7 dwelling 
units per acre. The minimum density allowed under the Comprehensive Plan is 12.78 or 12 
units. The maximum density allowed is 14.91, or 14 units. The proposed development seeks to 
develop 12 single-family lots, meeting the minimum density requirement. 
 
Lot Size and Shape 
The PDR-4 zone requires a minimum lot size of 4,000 square feet. The proposed subdivision 
includes 12 lots ranging in size from 4,045 to 5,606 square feet, exceeding the minimum 4,000 
square foot requirement. All lots meet the minimum width and depth requirements of the PDR-
4 zone, 35 foot width and 60 foot depth.  
 
Pedestrian Access and Circulation 
The applicant’s plans show sidewalks extending along the public streets and along the south 
side of the development, adjacent to Maxine Lane, and existing private drive a part of the Ash 
Meadows condominium development and owned and maintained by the Ash Meadows HOA. 
The design ensures pedestrian connectivity to the front of all homes and provides connectivity 
between the existing Ash Meadows and proposed Ash Park developments. 
 
Parking 
The applicant plans driveways of sufficient size on each lot to satisfy the minimum parking 
requirement. Thus, neither public streets or garages, though they are available for parking, are 
needed to meet minimum parking requirements. 
 
Street and Access Improvements 
Street and access improvements are proposed consistent with the City’s Transportation Systems 
Plan and Public Works Standards and other applicable standards. The applicant has acquired 
an agreement with Mentor Graphics to complete an off-site street improvement, a full street 
extention of SW Roger Boulvevard along the east side of the proposed subdivision. A new 
public street, Ryber Road, will be provided, connecting the extension of SW Roger Boulevard to 
Maxine Lane, an existing private drive located south of the subdivision.  
 

The applicant has secured a perpetual nonexclusive access agreement with the Ash Meadows 
HOA granting ingress, egress, and utilities for the design, installation, construction, operation, 
use, repair and maintenance of Maxine Lane for the benefit of the Ash Park Property. As part of 
this private agreement, the applicant will be constructing off-site improvements to Maxine 
Lane, including the construction of a 4-foot wide concrete sidewalk along the south border of 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 6 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 7 of 94 

Maxine Lane along the frontage of Lots 38 through 51of Ash Meadows; engineer and place a 
two-inch asphalt overlay on Maxine Lane; and plant street trees on the south side of Maxine 
Lane as described in the agreement.  
 
Request E – Tentative Subdivision Plat 
 

The tentative subdivision plat shows all the necessary information consistent with the Stage II 
Final Plan for dividing the properties in a manner to allow the proposed development. The 
applicant proposes to record a subdivision plat for 12 lots, together with Tracts A through E to 
be held in common by the collective owners of those lots. 
 
Request F – Site Design Review 
 

The scope of Site Design Review is the public landscaped areas, including the landscaping in 
the planter strips between the sidewalk and street as well as the park area. All landscaping and 
fixtures are appropriate for the site, of an acceptable quality, and professionally designed 
enhancing the appeal of the subdivision. 
 
Request G – Type C Tree Removal Plan 
 

An arborist report was prepared by Teragan & Associates Arboricultural Consultants, found in 
Exhibit B1, inventoried 22 regulated trees. The report and tree inventory indicates 4 Red Maples 
and 3 Scotch Pines are the only trees to be retained. The proposed Type C Tree Removal Plan is 
in substantial compliance with the applicable provisions of Subsection 4.610.40 and 4.620.00. 
The Board may approve the Type C Tree Removal Plan, together with recommended conditions 
of approval. 
 
Request H – Two (2) Waivers 
 

The applicant is requesting two (2) waivers from the PDR-4 standards: (1) a reduction to the 
side yard setback from seven feet to five feet; and (2) a reduction to the rear yard setback from 
20 feet to 15 feet. A third waiver, requesting a reduction in the amount of required open space 
has been found to be unnecessary as the proposal meets the requirement. 
 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 7 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 8 of 94 

CONCLUSION AND CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

Staff has reviewed the applicant’s analysis of compliance with the applicable criteria.  The Staff 
report adopts the applicant’s responses as Findings of Fact except as noted in the staff’s 
Findings. Based on the Findings of Fact and information included in this Staff Report, and 
information received from a duly advertised public hearing, Staff recommends that the 
Development Review Board approve the proposed applications (AR15-0088, DB15-0075 
through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082) with the following conditions: 
 
Planning Division Conditions: 
Request A: AR15-0088 Modification to Condition of Approval 

Request B: DB15-0075 Remedial Tentative Partition Plat 

Request C: DB15-0076 Modify Stage I Master Plan for Ash Meadows 

Request D: DB15-0077 Stage II Final Plan 

No conditions for this request. 

PDB 1. Prior to approval of the Final Partition Plat, the Applicant/Owner shall: 
a. Assure that the parcel shall not be sold or conveyed until such time as the final 

plat is recorded with Clackamas County. 
b. Submit an application for Final Plat review and approval on the Planning 

Division Site Development Application and Permit form. The Applicant/Owner 
shall also provide materials for review by the City’s Planning Division in 
accordance with Section 4.220 of the City’s Development Code. Prepare the 
Final Plat in substantial accord with the Tentative Partition Plat, as approved b 
the Development Review Board, and as amended by these conditions, except as 
may be subsequently altered by Board approval or by minor revisions by the 
Planning Director. 

c. Illustrate existing and proposed easements on the Final Plat. 
d. The Applicant/Owner shall record the Final Partition Plat with Clackamas 

County to validate Tax Lot 2700 prior to site development. 
PDB 2. The Applicant/Owner shall secure signatures of approval of the Final Plat form the 

Planning Director and Community Development Director. Following such 
authorization, the Final Plat may be recorded, according to the procedures 
employed by the City Engineer. 

PDB 3. Approval of the Tentative Partition Plat will expire two years after final approval if 
substantial development has not occurred on the property within that time, unless 
extended by the DRB for just cause. 

No conditions for this request. 

PDD 1. The approved final plan and development schedule shall control the issuance of all 
building permits and shall restrict the nature, location and design of all uses.  
Minor changes in an approved preliminary or Stage II Final Plan may be approved 
by the Planning Director through the Class I Administrative Review Process if such 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 8 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 9 of 94 

Request E: DB15-0078 Tentative Subdivision Plat 

changes are consistent with the purposes and general character of the development 
plan. All other modifications shall be processed in the same manner as the original 
application and shall be subject to the same procedural requirements. See Finding 
D15. 

PDD 2. Prior to the recording of the final plat of the subdivision the applicant shall submit 
for review and approval by the City Attorney CC&R’s, bylaws, etc. related to the 
maintenance of the open space area and sidewalk in Tract ‘C’. Such documents 
shall assure the long-term protection and maintenance of the open space areas. See 
Finding D29. 

PDD 3. Provide crosswalks that are clearly marked with contrasting paint or paving 
materials where the sidewalks cross Ryber Road. Finding D63. 

PDD 4. A waiver of remonstrance against the formation of a local improvement district 
shall be recorded covering the subject properties. Such waiver shall be recorded in 
the County Recorder’s Office, as well as the City’s Lein Docket, prior to or as part 
of the recordation of the Final Subdivision Plat. See Finding D107. 

PDD 5. Provide a six-foot wide pedestrian access easement across Tract ‘C’ to provide 
access to and across the sidewalk. See Finding D113. 

PDD 6. All travel lanes shall be constructed to be capable of carrying a twenty-three (23) 
ton load. See Finding D118. 

PDD 7. Temporary driveways providing access to a construction site or staging area shall 
be paved or graveled to prevent tracking of mud onto adjacent paved streets. See 
Finding D125. 

PDE 1. Any necessary easements or dedications shall be identified on the Final 
Subdivision Plat.  

PDE 2. The Final Subdivision Plat shall indicate dimensions of all lots, lot area, minimum 
lot size, easements, proposed lot and block numbers, parks/open space by name 
and/or type, and any other information that may be required as a result of the 
hearing process for the Stage II Final Plan or the Tentative Plat. 

PDE 3. Public Utility Easements shall be provided along frontages of lots and tracts 
consistent with the City’s Public Works Standards for installation of franchise 
utilities. See Finding E20. 

PDE 4. Easements for sanitary or storm sewers, drainage, water mains, or other public 
utilities shall be dedicated wherever necessary consistent with the City’s Public 
Works Standards. This includes over park and open space with public utilities 
beneath them. See Finding E20. 

PDE 5. Unless additional right-of-way is secured for SW Roger Boulevard as required in 
Condition of Approval PF 5, a street tree easement shall be dedicated on the Final 
Subdivision Plat along SW Roger Boulevard guaranteeing the City the right to 
enter the site and plant, remove, or maintain approved street trees that are located 
on private property. See Findings E23. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 9 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 10 of 94 

Request F: DB15-0112 Site Design Review 
PDF 1. Construction, site development, and landscaping shall be carried out in substantial 

accord with the Development Review Board approved plans, drawings, sketches, 
and other documents. Minor revisions may be approved by the Planning Director 
through administrative review pursuant to Section 4.030. See Finding F14. 

PDF 2. Street trees and planter strip landscaping on or adjoining a lot shall be completed 
prior to occupancy of each home, unless security equal to one hundred and ten 
percent (110%) of the cost of the landscaping as determined by the Planning 
Director is filed with the City assuring such installation within six (6) months of 
occupancy.  "Security" is cash, certified check, time certificates of deposit, 
assignment of a savings account or such other assurance of completion as shall 
meet with the approval of the City Attorney.  In such cases the developer shall also 
provide written authorization, to the satisfaction of the City Attorney, for the City 
or its designees to enter the property and complete the landscaping as approved.  
If the installation of the landscaping is not completed within the six-month period, 
or within an extension of time authorized by the Board, the security may be used 
by the City to complete the installation.  Upon completion of the installation, any 
portion of the remaining security deposited with the City will be returned to the 
applicant. See Finding F25. 

PDF 3. The approved landscape plan is binding upon the applicant/owner.  Substitution of 
plant materials, irrigation systems, or other aspects of an approved landscape plan 
shall not be made without official action of the Planning Director or Development 
Review Board, pursuant to the applicable sections of Wilsonville’s Development 
Code. See Finding F26.  

PDF 4. All landscaping shall be continually maintained, including necessary watering, 
weeding, pruning, and replacing, in a substantially similar manner as originally 
approved by the Board, unless altered as allowed by Wilsonville’s Development 
Code. See Finding F27. 

PDF 5. The following requirements for planting of shrubs and ground cover shall be met: 
• Non-horticultural plastic sheeting or other impermeable surface shall not be 

placed under landscaping mulch. 
• Native topsoil shall be preserved and reused to the extent feasible. 
• Surface mulch or bark dust shall be fully raked into soil of appropriate depth, 

sufficient to control erosion, and shall be confined to areas around plantings.   
• All shrubs shall be well branched and typical of their type as described in 

current AAN Standards and shall be equal to or better than 2-gallon containers 
and 10” to 12” spread.  

• Shrubs shall reach their designed size for screening within three (3) years of 
planting. 

• Ground cover shall be equal to or better than the following depending on the 
type of plant materials used:  gallon containers  spaced at 4 feet on center 
minimum, 4" pot spaced 2 feet on center minimum, 2-1/4" pots spaced at 18 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 10 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 11 of 94 

Request G: DB15-0113 Type C Tree Plan 

inch on center minimum. 
• No bare root planting shall be permitted. 
• Ground cover shall be sufficient to cover at least 80% of the bare soil in 

required landscape areas within three (3) years of planting.   
• Appropriate plant materials shall be installed beneath the canopies of trees and 

large shrubs to avoid the appearance of bare ground in those locations. 
• Compost-amended topsoil shall be integrated in all areas to be landscaped, 

including lawns. See Findings F28 and F34. 
PDF 6. All trees shall be balled and burlapped and conform in size and grade to 

“American Standards for Nursery Stock” current edition. See Finding F35 and G12. 
PDF 7. Plant materials shall be installed to current industry standards and be properly 

staked to ensure survival. Plants that die shall be replaced in kind, within one 
growing season, unless appropriate substitute species are approved by the City. 
See Finding F39. 

PDG 1. This approval for removal applies only to the 12 trees identified in the Applicant’s 
submitted materials plus off-site trees number 16 through 18 required to be 
removed for the extension of SW Roger Boulevard, for a total of 15 trees. All other 
trees on the property shall be maintained unless removal is approved through 
separate application. See Finding G9. 

PDG 2. The Applicant shall submit an application for a Type ‘C’ Tree Removal Permit on 
the Planning Division’s Development Permit Application form, together with the 
applicable fee.  In addition to the application form and fee, the Applicant shall 
provide the City’s Planning Division an accounting of trees to be removed within 
the project site, corresponding to the approval of the Development Review Board.  
The applicant shall not remove any trees from the project site until the tree removal 
permit, including the final tree removal plan, have been approved by the Planning 
Division staff.  

PDG 3. The Applicant/Owner shall install the required 15 mitigation trees, as shown in the 
Applicant’s sheet L1, per Section 4.620 WC. See Finding G10. 

PDG 4. The permit grantee or the grantee’s successors-in-interest shall cause the 
replacement trees to be staked, fertilized and mulched, and shall guarantee the 
trees for two (2) years after the planting date. A “guaranteed” tree that dies or 
becomes diseased during the two (2) years after planting shall be replaced. See 
Finding G11. 

PDG 5. Prior to site grading or other site work that could damage trees, the 
Applicant/Owner shall install six-foot-tall chain-link fencing around the drip line 
of preserved trees. The fencing shall comply with Wilsonville Public Works 
Standards Detail Drawing RD-1230. See Finding G14. 

PDG 6. The following measures shall be taken for preservation and protection or retained 
trees: 
• Landscaping and irrigation beneath the drip line of preserved trees shall be 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 11 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 12 of 94 

Request H: DB15-082 Waivers 

The following Conditions of Approval are provided by the Engineering, Natural Resources, or Building 
Divisions of the City’s Community Development Department or Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue, all of 
which have authority over development approval. A number of these Conditions of Approval are not 
related to land use regulations under the authority of the Development Review Board or Planning 
Director. Only those Conditions of Approval related to criteria in Chapter 4 of Wilsonville Code and the 
Comprehensive Plan, including but not limited to those related to traffic level of service, site vision 
clearance, recording of plats, and concurrency, are subject to the Land Use review and appeal process 
defined in Wilsonville Code and Oregon Revised Statutes and Administrative Rules. Other Conditions of 
Approval are based on City Code chapters other than Chapter 4, state law, federal law, or other agency 
rules and regulations. Questions or requests about the applicability, appeal, exemption or non-compliance 
related to these other Conditions of Approval should be directed to the City Department, Division, or 
non-City agency with authority over the relevant portion of the development approval.  

Engineering Division Conditions: 
 
All Requests: 
PF 1. Public Works Plans and Public Improvements shall conform to the “Public Works 

Plan Submittal Requirements and Other Engineering Requirements” in Exhibit C1. 
PF 2. At the request of Staff, DKS Associates completed a Trip Generation and Traffic 

Assessment study, dated July 17, 2015, for a proposed 16-lot subdivision. Since that 
time the project has been revised to a proposed 12-lot subdivision. The project is 
hereby limited to no more than the following impacts. 

Estimated New PM Peak Hour Trips 12 

Estimated Weekday PM Peak Hour Trips 5 
Through Wilsonville Road Interchange Area 

PF 3. With the proposed project Applicant shall obtain access to public right-of-way by 
extending Roger Blvd. to the proposed Ryber Road.  All lots shall take access from 

compatible with the trees. Turf grass and other water intensive plantings are 
typically not appropriate. 

• All privacy fence installation within the drip line of trees shall be hand dug 
under the supervision of a certified arborist. If tree roots are encountered, 
adjust the location of post holes to avoid root impacts. Mix concrete away from 
tree protection areas and transport using buckets or a wheel barrow. Boards 
shall be stockpiled outside of protected tree drip lines. 

• Encroachment of home foundations and walls within tree drip lines is only 
allowed under the guidance of a certified arborist. Any necessary root and 
canopy pruning shall follow accepted professional practices under supervision 
of a certified arborist and shall not damage the overall health of the trees. 
Finding G14. 

No conditions for this request. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 12 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 13 of 94 

Ryber Road. 
PF 4. Applicant has submitted recorded document No. 2016-018680, an agreement with 

Mentor Graphics Corporation providing a 40-foot right-of-way to extend Roger 
Blvd. through the proposed intersection with Ryber Road.  Applicant shall be 
required to complete design and construction for full street improvements 
including a 28-foot street section, curb & gutter, sidewalks, streetlighting, 
landscaping, irrigation, streetlighting and signage. 

PF 5. For Roger Blvd. Public Works Standards require a minimum 49-foot right-of-way 
for a 28-foot wide street.  Applicant shall be required to obtain an additional 4.5 
feet of right-of-way dedication from Mentor Graphics to complete the landscaping 
and sidewalk on either side of the 40-foot right-of-way being provided by Mentor 
Graphics, or provide a public sidewalk and access easement to construct the 
required roadway improvements. 

PF 6. Applicant shall be required to complete design and construction for full street 
improvements for the extension of Roger Blvd. per the agreement with Mentor 
Graphics and in compliance with Public Works Standards through the far corner 
radius of the intersection with Ryber Road. 

PF 7. It is understood that the Applicant has obtained a perpetual nonexclusive 
easement for ingress, egress and utilities from the Ash Meadows Homeowner’s 
Association for use of the private street Maxine Lane.  A copy of the recorded 
document shall be provided to the City prior to issuance of the Public Works 
Permit. 

PF 8. For the stormwater structures proposed on Tracts “D” and “E” at a minimum 
access to the inlet and outlet structures shall be provided per the Public Works 
Standards (per Sec. 301.4.10 of the Public Works Standards). 

PF 9. Rainwater management components will be allowed to be located in the public 
right-of-way, however such components shall be maintained by the Applicant, or 
subsequent HOA, and this shall be included in the Ownership and Maintenance 
agreement per Exhibit C1, Item 27. 

PF 10. Applicant shall provide a looped water system by tying the proposed water system 
into the existing public water mains located in Roger Blvd. and Maxine Lane (per 
Sec. 501.2.04.a of the Public Works Standards). 

PF 11. The proposed water system shall be extended to the north edge of the Roger Blvd. 
street improvements and terminated at a valved tee and fire hydrant, providing for 
the possible future extension of the system (per Sec. 501.2.04 of the Public Works 
Standards). 

PF 12. Existing fire hydrant shall be removed and the water line to the main in Maxine 
Lane properly abandoned.  New fire hydrants meeting Public Works Standards 
shall be installed with the project. 

PF 13. Applicant shall provide sufficient mail box units for this proposed development; 
applicant shall construct mail kiosk at a location coordinated with City staff and 
the Wilsonville U.S. Postmaster. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 13 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 14 of 94 

PF 14. At the time of plan submittal for a Public Works Permit, the applicant shall provide 
to the City a copy of correspondence showing that the plans have also been 
distributed to the franchise utilities.  Prior to issuance of a Public Works Permit, the 
applicant shall have coordinated the proposed locations and associated 
infrastructure design for the franchise utilities. Should permanent/construction 
easements or right-of-way be required to construct the public improvements or to 
relocate a franchised utility, the applicant shall provide a copy of the recorded 
documents. Should the construction of public improvements impact existing 
utilities within the general area, the applicant shall obtain written approval from 
the appropriate utility prior to commencing any construction. 

PF 15. The proposed Ash Park subdivision consists of 12 lots.  All construction work in 
association with the Public Works Permit and Project Corrections List shall be 
completed prior to the City Building Division issuing a certificate of occupancy, or 
a building permit for the housing unit(s) in excess of 50% of total (7th lot). 

 
Natural Resources Division Conditions: 
 
All Requests 
PF 1. Natural Resource Division Requirements and Advisories listed in Exhibit C3 

apply to the proposed development. 
 
 
Master Exhibit List: 
 
The following exhibits are hereby entered into the public record by the Development Review 
Board as confirmation of its consideration of the application as submitted. This is the exhibit list 
that includes exhibits for Planning Case File AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and 
DB15-0082. 
 
Planning Staff Materials 
A1. Staff report and findings (this document) 
A2. Staff’s Presentation Slides for Public Hearing (to be presented at Public Hearing) 
 
Materials from Applicant 
B1. Applicant’s Notebook: Narrative and Submitted Materials (under separate cover) 
 1. Response to Incomplete Application  
 2. Application 
 3. Compliance Narrative 
 4. TVF&R (Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue) 
 5. Republic Services 
 6. Proposed Stage I Master Plan 
 7. Ash Meadows Stage I Master Plan 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 14 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 15 of 94 

 8. Arborist Report 
 9. Traffic Impact Report 
 10. Geo-Tech Pavement Assessment 
 11. Current CC&R’s (Ash Meadows, Phase I) 
 12. HOA Access Agreement 

13. Mentor Graphics Agreement for Roger Blvd 
14. Materials and Colors Boards 
15. Architectural Design 
16. Ash Meadows Open Space Analysis 
17. Geo-Tech Infiltration Report 
18. Storm Drainage Report 
19. Title Report 
20. Remedial Partition TL 2700 
21. Reduced Drawings (not in electronic copy, same as Exhibit B2 below) 

 
B2. Drawings and Plans (under separate cover) 
 Sheet 1 of 8 Preliminary Plat 
 Sheet 2 of 8 Stage I Master Plan 
 Sheet 3 of 8 Existing Conditions 
 Sheet 4 of 8 Preliminary Grading Plan 
 Sheet 5 of 8 Preliminary Streets Plan 
 Sheet 6 of 8 Ryber Road Street Profile 
 Sheet 7 of 8 Preliminary Utilities Plan 
 Sheet 8 of 8 Circulation and Aerial Plan 
 Sheet L1 of 3 Planting Plan 
 Sheet L2 of 3 Storm Facility Planting Plan – West  
 Sheet L3 of 3 Storm Facility Planting Plan – Central and Eastern Area 
B3. Email Correspondence from Ben Altman dated March 30, 2016 
 
Development Review Team Correspondence 
C1. Public Works Plan Submittal Requirements and Other Engineering Requirements 
C2. Natural Resources Findings & Requirements 
 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 15 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 16 of 94 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
 
1. The statutory 120-day time limit that applies to this application was waived by the applicant 

on March 30, 2016 (Exhibit B3).  
 
2. Surrounding land uses are as follows: 
 

Compass Direction Zone: Existing Use: 

North: RA-HI Vacant (Mentor Graphics) 
East: PDR-4 Vacant (Mentor Graphics) 

South: PDR-4 Ash Meadows Condominiums 
West: RA-HI Vacant (Mentor Graphics) 

 
3. Previous Planning Approvals:  

Ord No. 160 Rezone RA-1 to PDR (2/2/80) 
81PC01 Stage II, Phase 1 
81PC16 Stage II, Phase 2 
82DR03 Final Architecture 
86PC33 Preliminary Plat, Phase 3 
85DR03 Site Design Review, Phase 2 & 3 
86DR03 Site Design Review, Phase 2 
87AR25 Land Partition 

 
4. The applicant has complied with Sections 4.013-4.031 of the Wilsonville Code, said sections 

pertaining to review procedures and submittal requirements. Notice of the application was 
mailed to property owners within 250 feet of the subject site and posted online and in three 
(3) standard locations for public notice on June 16, 2016 in accordance with Section 4.012 of 
the City of Wilsonville Code. The required public notices have been sent and all proper 
notification procedures have been satisfied. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 16 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 17 of 94 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 
NOTE: Pursuant to Section 4.014 the burden of proving that the necessary findings of fact can 
be made for approval of any land use or development application rests with the applicant in the 
case. 
 

General Information 
 
Application Procedures-In General 
Section 4.008 

Review Criteria: This section lists general application procedures applicable to a number of types of land 
use applications and also lists unique features of Wilsonville’s development review process. 
Finding: These criteria are met.  
Details of Finding: The application is being processed in accordance with the applicable 
general procedures of this Section. 
 
Initiating Application 
Section 4.009 

Review Criterion: “Except for a Specific Area Plan (SAP), applications involving specific sites may be 
filed only by the owner of the subject property, by a unit of government that is in the process of acquiring 
the property, or by an agent who has been authorized by the owner, in writing, to apply.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The application has been submitted on behalf of the property owner, Dutch 
Ventures, LLC. and is signed by an authorized representative. 
 
Pre-Application Conference 
Subsection 4.010 (.02) 

Review Criteria: This section lists the pre-application process. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: A Pre-application conferences was held on April 23, 2015 (PA15-0007) in 
accordance with this subsection. 
 
Lien Payment before Approval 
Subsection 4.011 (.02) B. 

Review Criterion: “City Council Resolution No. 796 precludes the approval of any development 
application without the prior payment of all applicable City liens for the subject property. Applicants 
shall be encouraged to contact the City Finance Department to verify that there are no outstanding liens. 
If the Planning Director is advised of outstanding liens while an application is under consideration, the 
Director shall advise the applicant that payments must be made current or the existence of liens will 
necessitate denial of the application.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 17 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 18 of 94 

Details of Finding: No applicable liens exist for the subject property. The application can thus 
move forward. 
 
General Submission Requirements 
Subsection 4.035 (.04) A. 

Review Criteria: “An application for a Site Development Permit shall consist of the materials specified as 
follows, plus any other materials required by this Code.” Listed 1. through 6. j. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has provided all of the applicable general submission 
requirements contained in this subsection. 
 
Zoning-Generally 
Section 4.110 

Review Criteria: “The use of any building or premises or the construction of any development shall be in 
conformity with the regulations set forth in this Code for each Zoning District in which it is located, 
except as provided in Sections 4.189 through 4.192.” “The General Regulations listed in Sections 4.150 
through 4.199 shall apply to all zones unless the text indicates otherwise.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: This proposed development is in conformity with the applicable zoning 
district and general development regulations listed in Sections 4.150 through 4.199 have been 
applied in accordance with this Section. 
 

Request A: AR15-0088 Modification to Condition of Approval (87AR25) 
 
A1. In order to develop the proposed 12-lot subdivision as described in Requests C through 

H, the applicant must establish a legal lot on Tax Lot 2700 (Request B) and separate the 
lot from the Ash Meadows Master Plan by removing a Condition of Approval No. 2 
required as a condition of the approval of a partition plat that sought to remove all areas 
outside the Phase I development of the original Ash Meadows Master Plan. As 
discussed in the applicant’s narrative, Exhibit B1, Tax Lot 2700 was developed with a 
tennis court, clubhouse and associated parking as part of Phase II in anticipation of 
additional residential development that never materialized due to markert conditions. 
Ownership of the recreational improvements were never incorporated into or turned 
over to the Ash Meadows HOA and were retained by the original owner, Ash & 
Associates. The recreational amenities were never utilized, were subsequently sold 
without establishing a legal lot and have since fell into a state of disrepair.  Given the 
documented history and lack of use of the site, the applicant has demonstrated that 
deletion of Condition of Approval No. 2 is appropriate and necessary to facilitate the 
redevelopment of the site. 

  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 18 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 19 of 94 

Request B: DB15-0075 Remedial Partition – Tentative Partition Plat 
 
B1. As noted in the applicant’s narrative, a legal lot must be created before the proposed 12-

lot subdivision can be created. Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) Chapter 92, Section 92.176 
provide for the “validation of unit of land not lawfully established”. The applicant 
provides a thorough analysis and staff agrees with findings related to ORS 92.176 on 
pages 7 through 10 of the applicant’s narrative (Exhibit B1).  

 
Land Division Authorization 
 

Plat Review Authority 
Subsection 4.202 (.01) through (.03) 
 

B2. Review Criteria: “Pursuant to ORS Chapter 92, plans and plats must be approved by the 
Planning Director or Development Review Board (Board), as specified in Sections 4.030 and 
4.031, before a plat for any land division may be filed in the county recording office for any land 
within the boundaries of the City, except that the Planning Director shall have authority to 
approve a final plat that is found to be substantially consistent with the tentative plat approved 
by the Board. 
The Development Review Board and Planning Director shall be given all the powers and duties 
with respect to procedures and action on tentative and final plans, plats and maps of land 
divisions specified in Oregon Revised Statutes and by this Code. 
Approval by the Development Review Board or Planning Director of divisions of land within the 
boundaries of the City, other than statutory subdivisions, is hereby required by virtue of the 
authority granted to the City in ORS 92.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative partition plat is being reviewed by the 
Development Review Board according to this subsection. The final plat will be reviewed 
by the Planning Division under the authority of the Planning Director to ensure 
compliance with the DRB review of the tentative partition plat. 

 
Legal Lot Requirement 
Subsection 4.202 (.04) A. 
 

B3. Review Criterion: “No person shall sell any lot or parcel in any condominium, subdivision, or 
land partition until a final condominium, subdivision or partition plat has been approved by the 
Planning Director as set forth in this Code and properly recorded with the appropriate county.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Tax Lot 2700 has been previously sold prior to creating a legal 
lot. The purpose of this action is to validate Tax Lot 2700 as a legal lot. No addition land 
sales are anticipated until the final plat has been approved by the Planning Director and 
recorded. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 19 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 20 of 94 

Undersized Lots Prohibited 
Subsection 4.202 (.04) B. 
 

B4. Review Criterion: “It shall be a violation of this Code to divide a tract of land into a parcel 
smaller than the lot size required in the Zoning Sections of this Code unless specifically approved 
by the Development Review Board or City Council.  No conveyance of any portion of a lot, for 
other than a public use, shall leave a structure on the remainder of the lot with less than the 
minimum lot size, width, depth, frontage, yard or setback requirements, unless specifically 
authorized through the Variance procedures of Section 4.196 or the waiver provisions of the 
Planned Development procedures of Section 4.118.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The purpose of this remedial partition plat is to create a legal 
lot of record. No lots will be divided into a size smaller than allowed by the proposed 
PDR-4 zone designation. 

 
Plat Application Procedure 
 

Pre-Application Conference 
Subsection 4.210 (.01) 
 

B5. Review Criterion: “Prior to submission of a tentative condominium, partition, or subdivision 
plat, a person proposing to divide land in the City shall contact the Planning Department to 
arrange a pre-application conference as set forth in Section 4.010.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A pre-application conference was held in accordance with this 
subsection. 

 
Tentative Plat Preparation 
Subsection 4.210 (.01) A. 
 

B6. Review Criterion: “The applicant shall cause to be prepared a tentative plat, together with 
improvement plans and other supplementary material as specified in this Section.  The Tentative 
Plat shall be prepared by an Oregon licensed professional land surveyor or engineer.  An 
affidavit of the services of such surveyor or engineer shall be furnished as part of the submittal.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Sheet 2 of Exhibit B2 is a tentative partition plat submitted 
consistent with this subsection. 

 
Tentative Plat Submission 
Subsection 4.210 (.01) B. 
 

B7. Review Criteria: “The design and layout of this plan plat shall meet the guidelines and 
requirements set forth in this Code.  The Tentative Plat shall be submitted to the Planning 
Department with the following information:” Listed 1. through 26. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 20 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 21 of 94 

Explanation of Finding: The proposed tentative partition plat is to validate Tax Lot 2700 
under ORS 92.176. This will allow planned development to proceed as proposed in 
Requests C through H of this application. The tentative partition plat has been 
submitted with the required information. 

 
Phases to Be Shown 
Subsection 4.210 (.01) D. 
 

B8. Review Criteria: “Where the applicant intends to develop the land in phases, the schedule of 
such phasing shall be presented for review at the time of the tentative plat.  In acting on an 
application for tentative plat approval, the Planning Director or Development Review Board may 
set time limits for the completion of the phasing schedule which, if not met, shall result in an 
expiration of the tentative plat approval.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The purpose of this remedial partition plat is to create a legal 
lot of record. A subsequent tentative subdivision plat for a 12-lot subdivision to be 
developed in one phase is the subject of Request E. 

 
Remainder Tracts 
Subsection 4.210 (.01) E. 
 

B9. Review Criteria: “Remainder tracts to be shown as lots or parcels.  Tentative plats shall clearly 
show all affected property as part of the application for land division.  All remainder tracts, 
regardless of size, shall be shown and counted among the parcels or lots of the division.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All affected property has been incorporated into the tentative 
partition plat. 

 
Street Requirements for Land Divisions 
Subsections 4.236 (.01) through (0.9) 
 

B10. Review Criteria: These subsections establish general requirements to address the following: 
conformity to the Transportation System Plan; relation to adjoining streets; easements; 
topography; reserve strips; future expansion of streets; existing streets; and street names.  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The purpose of this remedial partition plat is to create a legal 
lot of record. No new streets are proposed and the proposed tentative partition plat does 
not hinder to develop local streets consistent with the Transportation Master Plan in the 
future.  

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 21 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 22 of 94 

General Land Division Requirements 
Subsections 4.237 (.01) through (.13) 
 

B11. Review Criteria: These subsections establish general requirements to address the following: 
blocks; easements; pedestrian and bicycle pathways; tree planting; lot size and shape; access; 
through lots; lot side lines; large lot land divisions; building line; build-to line; land for public 
purposes; and corner lots. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The purpose of this remedial tentative partition plat is to create 
a legal lot of record. No new residential lots, blocks, or easements are created with this 
request. The proposed 12-lot subdivision plat is reviewed under Request E. 

 
Lots of Record 
 

Defining Lots of Record 
Section 4.250 
 

B12. Review Criteria: “All lots of record that have been legally created prior to the adoption of this 
ordinance shall be considered to be legal lots.  Tax lots created by the County Assessor are not 
necessarily legal lots of record.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The purpose of this request is to correct a past error where a tax 
lot was created but not a legal lot of record. This action will create a legal lot of record. 

 
Public Improvements 
 

Improvements-Procedures 
Section 4.260 
 

B13. Review Criteria: “In addition to other requirements, improvements installed by the developer, 
either as a requirement of these regulations or at the developer's own option, shall conform to the 
requirements of this Code and improvement standards and specifications of the City.  The 
improvements shall be installed in accordance with the City's Public Works Standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No improvements are proposed are required with this request. 

 
Improvements-Requirements 
Section 4.262 
 

B14. Review Criteria: This section establishes requirements for a number of different improvements 
including curbs, sidewalks, sanitary sewers, drainage, underground utility and service facilities, 
streetlight standards, street signs, monuments, and water. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No improvements are proposed are required with this request. 

  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 22 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 23 of 94 

Request C: DB15-0076 Modify Stage I Preliminary Plan for Ash Meadows 
 
Planned Development Regulations 
 

Planned Development Purpose 
Subsection 4.140 (.01) 
 

C1. Review Criterion: “The purposes of these regulations are to encourage the development of tracts 
of land sufficiently large to allow for comprehensive master planning, and to provide flexibility 
in the application of certain regulations in a manner consistent with the intent of the 
Comprehensive Plan and general provisions of the zoning regulations and to encourage a 
harmonious variety of uses through mixed use design within specific developments thereby 
promoting the economy of shared public services and facilities and a variety of complimentary 
activities consistent with the land use designation on the Comprehensive Plan and the creation of 
an attractive, healthful, efficient and stable environment for living, shopping or working.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposal is to modify a development previously approved as a 
planned development. 

 
Planned Development Lot Qualifications 
Subsection 4.140 (.02) 
 

C2. Review Criterion: “A. Planned Development may be established on lots which are suitable for 
and of a size to be planned and developed in a manner consistent with the purposes and 
objectives of Section 4.140.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The property is of sufficient size to be developed in a manner 
consistent the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140.  

 

C3. Review Criteria: “B. Any site designated for development in the Comprehensive Plan may be 
developed as a Planned Development, provided that it is zoned “PD.”  All sites which are greater 
than two (2) acres in size, and designated in the Comprehensive Plan for commercial, residential, 
or industrial use shall be developed as Planned Developments, unless approved for other uses 
permitted by the Development Code.”   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The subject property is greater than 2 acres, is designated for 
residential development 6-7 dwelling units per acre in the Comprehensive Plan, and is 
zoned Planned Development Residential (PDR-4). The property will be developed as a 
planned development with the permitted density in accordance with this subsection.  

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 23 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 24 of 94 

Ownership Requirements 
Subsection 4.140 (.03) 
 

C4. Review Criterion: “The tract or tracts of land included in a proposed Planned Development 
must be in one (1) ownership or control or the subject of a joint application by the owners of all 
the property included.”  
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The subject parcel is under one ownership. 

 
Professional Design Team 
Subsection 4.140 (.04) 
 

C5. Review Criteria: “The applicant for all proposed Planned Developments shall certify that the 
professional services of the appropriate professionals have been utilized in the planning process 
for development. One of the professional consultants chosen by the applicant shall be designated 
to be responsible for conferring with the planning staff with respect to the concept and details of 
the plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As can be found in the applicant’s submitted materials, appropriate 
professionals have been involved in the planning and permitting process. Ben Altman 
with Pioneer Design Group, Inc. is the project manager for the project. 

 
Planned Development Permit Process 
Subsection 4.140 (.05) 
 

C6. Review Criteria: “All parcels of land exceeding two (2) acres in size that are to be used for 
residential, commercial or industrial development, shall, prior to the issuance of any building 
permit: 
1. Be zoned for planned development; 
2. Obtain a planned development permit; and 
3. Obtain Development Review Board, or, on appeal, City Council approval.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The subject property is greater than 2 acres, is designated for 
residential development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned proposed to be zoned 
Planned Development Residential. The property will be developed as a planned 
development in accordance with this subsection.  

 
Comprehensive Plan Consistency 
Subsection 4.140 (.06) 
 

C7. Review Criteria: “The planning staff shall prepare a report of its findings and conclusions as to 
whether the use contemplated is consistent with the land use designated on the Comprehensive 
Plan.” “The applicant may proceed to apply for Stage I - Preliminary Approval - upon 
determination by either staff or the Development Review Board that the use contemplated is 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.”  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 24 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 25 of 94 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed project, as found elsewhere in this report, complies 
with the Planned Development Residential-4 zoning designation, which implements the 
proposed Comprehensive Plan designation of ‘Residential’ 6-7 dwelling units per acre 
for this property.  

 
Application Requirements 
Subsection 4.140 (.07) 
 

C8. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes that the Development Review Board shall consider a 
Stage I Master Plan after completion or submission of a variety of application requirements. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Review of the proposed revised Stage I Master Plan has been 
scheduled for a public hearing before the Development Review Board in accordance 
with this subsection and the applicant has met all the applicable submission 
requirements as follows: 
• The property affected by the revised Stage I Master Plan is under the sole 

ownership of Dutch Ventures LLC.  
• The application for a Stage I Master Plan has been submitted on a form prescribed 

by the City.  
• The professional design team and coordinator has been identified. See Finding C5. 
• The applicant has stated the uses involved in the Master Plan and their locations. 
• The boundary information is provided with the concurrent tentative subdivision 

plat request. 
• Sufficient topographic information has been submitted.  
• A tabulation of the land area to be devoted to various uses has been provided.  
• The proposed development will be built in a single phase. 
• Any necessary performance bonds will be required. 
• Waivers have been requested concurrently with the Stage I Master Plan. 

 
Standards for Residential Development in Any Zone 
 

Outdoor Recreational Area 
Subsections 4.113 (.01)A. 
 

C9. Review Criteria: “The purposes of the following standards for outdoor recreational area are to 
provide adequate light, air, open space and usable recreational facilities to occupants of each 
residential development.  Outdoor recreational area shall be: 
1. Designed with a reasonable amount of privacy balanced between indoor and outdoor living 

areas.  Such outdoor recreational area shall be provided consistent with the requirements of 
this Section. 

2. Recreational areas shall be provided in keeping with the needs of the prospective tenants and 
shall not be located in required yards, parking, or maneuvering areas, or areas that are 
inaccessible.  Standards for outdoor recreational areas may be waived by the Development 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 25 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 26 of 94 

Review Board upon finding that the recreational needs of the residents will be adequately 
met through the use of other recreational facilities that are available in the area. 

3. In mixed-use developments containing residential uses, the Development Review Board shall 
establish appropriate requirements for outdoor recreational area, consistent with this Section. 

4. The Development Review Board may establish conditions of approval to alter the amount of 
required outdoor recreation area, based on findings of projected need for the development.  
Multi-family developments shall provide at least the following minimum recreational area: 
a. For ten (10) or fewer dwelling units, 1000 square feet of usable recreation area;  
b. For eleven (11) through nineteen (19) units, 200 square feet per unit; 
c. For twenty (20) or more units, 300 square feet per unit. 

5. Outdoor recreational area shall be considered to be part of the open space required in the 
following subsection.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has proposed an outdoor recreation area in a tract 
separate from the required yards to meet the needs of the prospective tenants consistent 
with this subsection. No waiver from the required recreation area is requested. 

 
Open Space Area 
Subsections 4.113 (.02) 
 

C10. Review Criteria: “A. In all residential subdivisions including subdivision portions of mixed use 
developments where (1) the majority of the developed square footage is to be in residential use or 
(2) the density of residential units is equal or greater than 3 units per acre, at least twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the area shall be in open space excluding streets and private drives.  Open space  
must include, as a minimum  natural areas that are preserved under the City’s SROZ regulations 
and usable open space such as public park area, tot lots, swimming and wading pools, grass area 
for picnics and recreational play, walking paths, and other like space.  For subdivisions with less 
than 25% SROZ lands and those with no SROZ lands, the minimum requirement shall be ¼ acre 
of usable park area for 50 or less lots, ½ acre of usable park area for 51 to 100 lots, and pro rata 
amounts based on this formula for subdivisions exceeding 100 lots.  Front, side and rear yards of 
individual residential lots shall not be counted towards the 25% open space.  
Provided, however, where SROZ is greater than 25% of the developable area for any 
development, the development must also provide ¼ acre of usable park area for a development 
of less than 100 lots, and ½ acre of usable park area for a development of 100 lots, and pro rata 
amounts based on this formula for subdivisions exceeding 100 lots.  The Development Review 
Board may waive the usable open space requirement if there is substantial evidence in the record 
to support a finding that the intent and purpose of the requirement will be met in alternative 
ways.  Irrespective of the amount of SROZ, a development may not use phasing to avoid the 
minimum usable space requirement. 
Multi-family developments shall provide a minimum of 25% open space excluding streets and 
private drives.  Open space must include, as a minimum natural areas that are preserved under 
the City’s SROZ regulations, and outdoor recreational area as provided in 4.113(.01)(A)(1) 
through (5). 
B. Open space area required by this Section may, at the discretion of the Development Review 
Board, be protected by a conservation easement or dedicated to the City, either rights in fee or 
easement, without altering the density or other development standards of the proposed 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 26 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 27 of 94 

development.  Provided that, if the dedication is for public park purposes, the size and amount of 
the proposed dedication shall meet the criteria of the City parks standards.  The square footage of 
any land, whether dedicated or not, which is used for open space shall be deemed a part of the 
development site for the purpose of computing density or allowable lot coverage. 
C. The Development Review Board may specify the method of assuring the long-term protection 
and maintenance of open space and/or recreational areas.  Where such protection or maintenance 
are the responsibility of a private party or homeowners’ association, the City Attorney shall 
review any pertinent bylaws, covenants, or agreements prior to recordation.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The net site area, excluding land dedicated for right-of-way, is 
70,022 square feet. The applicant has requested a waiver from the requirement to 
provide 25% of the net site area, or 17,505.5 square feet, of open space. However, upon 
review of the proposal, staff has determined that the applicant miscalculated the open 
space. Open space is defined as land that is not covered by buildings, paving, or other 
hard surfaces, unless hard surfaces are part of an approved landscape plan. 
Additionally, required sidewalks and private yards are not counted toward open space 
requirements. As the proposed sidewalk in Tract ‘C’ is not a required sidewalk, will be 
owned and maintained by the HOA and provides pedestrian connectivity between the 
remaining 4 open space tracts, staff finds that is acts as a recreational path providing a 
connection between landscaped open space areas and can be reviewed and approved as 
part of the landscape plan. The applicant is meeting the requirement as follows: 

 

Tract Size Description 
A 11,070 sq ft Useable, recreational open space 
B 1,295 sq ft Landscaping, passive open space 
C 1,722 sq ft Paved path (private sidewalk), recreational open space 
D 2,322 sq ft Landscaped water quality facility 
E 1,254 sq ft Landscaped water quality facility 

TOTAL 17,663 sq ft Open Space (25.2%) Useable Space (12,792 sq ft) 
 

As noted above, the applicant is providing 12,792 square feet of useable open space in 
Tracts ‘A’ and ‘C’, exceeding the required ¼ acre, or 10,890 square feet, requirement. 

 
Building Setbacks 
Subsections 4.113 (.03)B. 
 

C11. Review Criteria: “For lots not exceeding 10,000 square feet: 
1. Minimum front yard setback:  Fifteen (15) feet, with open porches allowed to extend to 

within ten (10) feet of the property line. 
2. Minimum side yard setback:  One story: five (5) feet; Two or more stories: seven (7) feet.  In 

the case of a corner lot, abutting more than one street or tract with a private drive, the side 
yard on the street side of such lot shall be not less than ten (10) feet. 

3. In the case of a key lot, the front setback shall equal one-half (1/2) the sum of depth of the 
required yard on the adjacent corner lot along the street or tract with a private drive upon 
which the key lot faces and the setback required on the adjacent interior lot.   

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 27 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 28 of 94 

4. No structure shall be erected within the required setback for any future street shown within 
the City’s adopted Transportation Master Plan or Transportation Systems Plan. 

5. Minimum setback to garage door or carport entry: Twenty (20) feet. Wall above the garage 
door may project to within fifteen (15) feet of property line, provided that clearance to garage 
door is maintained.  Where access is taken from an alley, garages or carports may be located 
no less than four (4) feet from the property line adjoining the alley.  

6. Minimum rear yard setback:  One story:  fifteen (15) feet.  Two or more stories:  Twenty (20) 
feet.  Accessory buildings on corner lots must observe the same rear setbacks as the required 
side yard of the abutting lot.” 

Finding: These criteria are not satisfied as proposed, but can be satisfied with the 
approval of a waiver to the amount of open space required as proposed in Request H. 
Details of Finding: These standards are proposed to be met with two exceptions: in 
Request H, the applicant is seeking waivers to reduce the minimum side yard setback 
for two-story homes from 7 feet to 5 feet and to reduce the minimum rear yard setback 
for two-story homes from 20 feet to 15 feet. 

 
Other Standards 
Subsections 4.113 (.04) through (.14) 
 

C12. Review Criteria: These subsections establishes a number of standards for residential 
development in the City including height guidelines, residential uses for treatment and training, 
fences, prohibited uses, accessory dwelling units, bed and breakfasts, and needed housing. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: These standards are proposed to be met. 

 
Standards for All Planned Development Residential Zones 
 

Typically Permitted Uses 
Subsection 4.124 (.01) 
 

C13. Review Criteria: This subsection list the allowed uses in the PDR Zones. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The list of typically permitted uses includes single-family dwelling 
units, open space, and parks, which is what is proposed on the subject properties. 

 
Accessory Uses 
Subsection 4.124 (.02) 
 

C14. Review Criterion: This subsection list the permitted accessory uses in the PDR Zones. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: While none of the listed accessory uses are specifically proposed, 
they continue to be accessory uses which would be allowed. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 28 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 29 of 94 

Appropriate PDR Zone 
Subsection 4.124 (.05) 
 

C15. Review Criteria:  
Comprehensive Plan Density Zoning District 

6-7 u/acre PDR-4 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The subject site is appropriately zoned PDR-4 based on the 
Comprehensive Plan density designation of 6-7 dwelling units per acre.  

 
Block and Access Standards 
Subsection 4.124 (.06)  
 

C16. Review Criterion: This subsection lists the block and access standards for all PDR Zones. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Street locations and lot configurations are such as to support the 
development of blocks supportive of these standards with potential future development 
of adjacent properties.  
 

PDR-4 Zone 
 

Development Standards 
Section 4.124.4 
 

C17. Review Criterion: This subsection lists the development standards for the PDR-4 zone including 
lot size, setbacks, lot width, lot depth, height, and lot coverage. 
Finding: This criterion is not satisfied, but can be satisfied with the approval of the 
requested waiver in Request H. 
Details of Finding: The minimum lot size standard of 4,000 square feet is met or 
exceeded by each lot. All lots are at least 35 feet wide and 60 feet deep. Front yard and 
street side yard setbacks will be met. Waivers to reduce side yard and rear yard setbacks 
have been requested and are discussed in Request H. Maximum height and lot coverage 
will be met.  

  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 29 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 30 of 94 

Request D: DB15-0077 Stage II Final Plan 
 
Planned Development Lot Qualifications 
 

Lots Suitable for Planned Development 
Subsection 4.140 (.02) A. 
 

D1. Review Criteria: “Planned Development may be established on lots which are suitable for and of 
a size to be planned and developed in a manner consistent with the purposes and objectives of 
Section 4.140.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The lot of the subject development site is of sufficient size to be 
developed in a manner consistent the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140. 

 
Applicability of Planned Development Regulations 
Subsection 4.140 (.02) B. 
 

D2. Review Criteria: “Any site designated for development in the Comprehensive Plan may be 
developed as a Planned Development, provided that it is zoned ‘PD.’ All sites which are greater 
than two (2) acres in size, and designated in the Comprehensive Plan for commercial, residential, 
or industrial use shall be developed as Planned Developments, unless approved for other uses 
permitted by the Development Code.”   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The subject property is greater than 2 acres, is designated for 
residential development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned 
Development Residential. The property will be developed as a planned development in 
accordance with this subsection.  

 
Ownership Requirement for Planned Developments 
 

All Owners Must be Involved in Application 
Subsection 4.140 (.03) A. 
 

D3. Review Criterion: “The tract or tracts of land included in a proposed Planned Development must 
be in one (1) ownership or control or the subject of a joint application by the owners of all the 
property included.“ 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The subject parcel is under one ownership. 

 
Transfer of Land in Planned Developments 
Subsection 4.140 (.03) B. 
 

D4. Review Criterion: “Unless otherwise provided as a condition for approval of a Planned 
Development permit, the permittee may divide and transfer units or parcels of any development.  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 30 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 31 of 94 

The transferee shall use and maintain each such unit or parcel in strict conformance with the 
approval permit and development plan.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: It is understood the properties will be subdivided, lots sold, and 
park areas deeded to a HOA. It is understood all the lots and tracts will be maintained 
consistent with the Stage II Final Plan. 

 
Professional Design of Planned Developments 
 

Professional Design Team 
Subsection 4.140 (.04) A. and B. 
 

D5. Review Criteria: “The applicant for all proposed Planned Developments shall certify that the 
professional services of the appropriate professionals have been utilized in the planning process 
for development.” Appropriate Professionals listed 1. through 4. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As can be found in the applicant’s submitted materials, appropriate 
professionals have been involved in the planning and permitting process.  

 
Professional Coordinator 
Subsection 4.140 (.04) C. and D. 
 

D6. Review Criteria: “One of the professional consultants chosen by the applicant from either 1, 2, or 
3, above, shall be designated to be responsible for conferring with the planning staff with respect 
to the concept and details of the plan.” “The selection of the professional coordinator of the 
design team will not limit the owner or the developer in consulting with the planning staff.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Ben Altman of Pioneer Design Group, Inc. has been designated as 
the professional coordinator. 

 
Stage II Final Plan Submission Requirements and Process 
 

Timing of Submission 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) A. 
 

D7. Review Criterion: “Unless an extension has been granted by the Development Review Board, 
within two (2) years after the approval or modified approval of a preliminary development plan 
(Stage I), the applicant shall file with the City Planning Department a final plan for the entire 
development or when submission in stages has been authorized pursuant to Section 4.035 for the 
first unit of the development” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The Stage II Request is being submitted concurrently with the Stage 
I Master Plan.  

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 31 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 32 of 94 

Stage I Conformance, Submission Requirements 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) C. 
 

D8. Review Criteria: “The final plan shall conform in all major respects with the approved 
preliminary development plan, and shall include all information included in the preliminary plan 
plus the following:” listed 1. through 6. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The Stage II plans substantially conforms with the Stage I Master 
Plan. The applicant has provided the required drawings and other documents showing 
all the additional information required by this subsection. 

 
Stage II Final Plan Detail 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) D. 
 

D9. Review Criterion: “The final plan shall be sufficiently detailed to indicate fully the ultimate 
operation and appearance of the development or phase of development.”   
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has provided sufficiently detailed information to 
indicate fully the ultimate operation and appearance of the development, including a 
detailed site plan and landscape plans. 

 
Submission of Legal Documents 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) E. 
 

D10. Review Criterion: “Copies of legal documents required by the Development Review Board for 
dedication or reservation of public facilities, or for the creation of a non-profit homeowner’s 
association, shall also be submitted.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No additional legal documentation is required for dedication or 
reservation of public facilities. 

 
Expiration of Approval 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) I. and Section 4.023 
 

D11. Review Criterion: This subsection and section identify the period for which Stage II approvals 
are valid. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The Stage II Approval, along other associated applications, will 
expire two (2) years after approval, unless an extension is approved in accordance with 
these subsections. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 32 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 33 of 94 

Consistency with Plans 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 1. 
 

D12. Review Criteria: “The location, design, size and uses, both separately and as a whole, are 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, and with any other applicable plan, development map 
or Ordinance adopted by the City Council.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As documented in the Applicant’s Narrative (Exhibit B1), the 
proposed development is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and other applicable 
plans of which staff are aware. 

 
Traffic Concurrency 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 2. 
 

D13. Review Criteria: “That the location, design, size and uses are such that traffic generated by the 
development at the most probable used intersection(s) can be accommodated safely and without 
congestion in excess of Level of Service D, as defined in the Highway Capacity Manual published 
by the National Highway Research Board, on existing or immediately planned arterial or 
collector streets and will, in the case of commercial or industrial developments, avoid traversing 
local streets.  Immediately planned arterial and collector streets are those listed in the City’s 
adopted Capital Improvement Program, for which funding has been approved or committed, 
and that are scheduled for completion within two years of occupancy of the development or four 
year if they are an associated crossing, interchange, or approach street  improvement to  
Interstate 5.” Additional qualifiers and criteria listed a. through e. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: A traffic study has been completed (Exhibit B1, Item 9) and 
concludes that the proposed development will not result in congestion in excess of Level 
of Service D. 

 
Facilities and Services Concurrency 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 3. 
 

D14. Review Criteria: “That the location, design, size and uses are such that the residents or 
establishments to be accommodated will be adequately served by existing or immediately 
planned facilities and services.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As documented in the Applicant’s Narrative (Exhibit B1) sufficient 
facilities and services, including utilities, are proposed to be development concurrently 
with the subdivision. Adequate capacity exists in the 8-inch sanitary sewer line in SW 
Parkway Avenue that serves Ash Meadows to serve the proposed development. No 
improvements are planned to the sanitary sewer system. Similarly, adequate capacity 
exists in the 12-inch water line in SW Parkway Avenue to serve existing and planned 
residential development. No improvements are planned for the portion of the system 
within Maxine Lane to serve the proposed 12-lot subdivision.  

 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 33 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 34 of 94 

Adherence to Approved Plans 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) L. 
 

D15. Review Criteria: “The applicant shall agree in writing to be bound, for her/himself and her/his 
successors in interest, by the conditions prescribed for approval of a development.  The approved 
final plan and stage development schedule shall control the issuance of all building permits and 
shall restrict the nature, location and design of all uses.  Minor changes in an approved 
preliminary or final development plan may be approved by the Director of Planning if such 
changes are consistent with the purposes and general character of the development plan.  All 
other modifications, including extension or revision of the stage development schedule, shall be 
processed in the same manner as the original application and shall be subject to the same 
procedural requirements.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 1. 
Details of Finding: Condition of Approval PDD 1 ensures adherence to approved plans 
except for minor revisions by the Planning Director. 

 
Residential Development Standards: Open Space and Outdoor Recreation 
 

Purpose of Outdoor Recreational Area 
Subsection 4.113 (.01) A. 
 

D16. Review Criteria: “The purposes of the following standards for outdoor recreational area are to 
provide adequate light, air, open space and usable recreational facilities to occupants of each 
residential development.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The required outdoor recreational area is proposed. 

 
Design for Privacy 
Subsection 4.113 (.01) A. 1. 
 

D17. Review Criteria: “Outdoor recreational area shall be: Designed with a reasonable amount of 
privacy balanced between indoor and outdoor living areas.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed park area provides a shared outdoor living area 
without causing any privacy issues for private living areas. 

 
Needs of Tenants 
Subsection 4.113 (.01) A. 2. 
 

D18. Review Criteria: “Recreational areas shall be provided in keeping with the needs of the 
prospective tenants and shall not be located in required yards, parking, or maneuvering areas, or 
areas that are inaccessible.  Standards for outdoor recreational areas may be waived by the 
Development Review Board upon finding that the recreational needs of the residents will be 
adequately met through the use of other recreational facilities that are available in the area.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 34 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 35 of 94 

Details of Finding: Providing the required area is adequate for the 12-lot subdivision. 
The applicant has proposed an outdoor recreation area in a tract separate from the 
required yards to meet the needs of the prospective tenants consistent with this 
subsection. No waiver from the required recreation area is requested. 

 
Mixed Use Developments 
Subsection 4.113 (.01) A. 3. 
 

D19. Review Criteria: “In mixed-use developments containing residential uses, the Development 
Review Board shall establish appropriate requirements for outdoor recreational area, consistent 
with this Section.” 
Finding: This criterion is not applicable. 
Details of Finding: The proposed development is a single-family subdivision, not a 
mixed use development.  

 
DRB Altering Amount of Outdoor Recreation Area 
Subsection 4.113 (.01) A. 4. 
 

D20. Review Criteria: “The Development Review Board may establish conditions of approval to alter 
the amount of required outdoor recreation area, based on findings of projected need for the 
development.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No additional conditions of approval are proposed. 

 
Outdoor Recreational Area Part of Required Open Space 
Subsection 4.113 (.01) A. 5. 
 

D21. Review Criteria: “Outdoor recreational area shall be considered to be part of the open space 
required in the following subsection.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The shared outdoor recreational area is included as part of the open 
space requirement. 

 
25 % Open Space Required 
Subsection 4.113 (.02) A. 
 

D22. Review Criteria: “In all residential subdivisions including subdivision portions of mixed use 
developments where (1) the majority of the developed square footage is to be in residential use or 
(2) the density of residential units is equal or greater than 3 units per acre, at least twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the area shall be in open space excluding streets and private drives.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As discussed in Finding C10 above, 25.2% of net site area is 
proposed for open space.  

 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 35 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 36 of 94 

What Open Space Must Include 
Subsection 4.113 (.02) A. 
 

D23. Review Criteria: “Open space must include, as a minimum natural areas that are preserved 
under the City’s SROZ regulations and usable open space such as public park area, tot lots, 
swimming and wading pools, grass area for picnics and recreational play, walking paths, and 
other like space.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed open space is includes active and passive recreational 
opportunities. There are no SROZ areas within the site. Additional discussion of open 
space can be found on page 29 of the applicant’s narrative in Exhibit B1. 

 
Usable Open Space with No SROZ Lands 
Subsection 4.113 (.02) A. 
 

D24. Review Criteria: “For subdivisions with less than 25% SROZ lands and those with no SROZ 
lands, the minimum requirement shall be ¼ acre of usable park area for 50 or less lots, ½ acre of 
usable park area for 51 to 100 lots, and pro rata amounts based on this formula for subdivisions 
exceeding 100 lots.  Front, side and rear yards of individual residential lots shall not be counted 
towards the 25% open space.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: A usable park area of 11,070 square feet is proposed in Tract ‘A’ and 
a walking path (sidewalk) is proposed in Tract ‘C’ (1,722 square feet) for a total 12,792 
square feet of useable open space, exceeding the 10,890 square foot (0.25 acre) 
requirement.  

 
Waiving Usable Open Space Requirement 
Subsection 4.113 (.02) A. 
 

D25. Review Criteria: “The Development Review Board may waive the usable open space 
requirement if there is substantial evidence in the record to support a finding that the intent and 
purpose of the requirement will be met in alternative ways.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No waiver of the useable open space requirement is requested. 

 
Phasing and Usable Open Space Requirement 
Subsection 4.113 (.02) A. 
 

D26. Review Criteria: “Irrespective of the amount of SROZ, a development may not use phasing to 
avoid the minimum usable space requirement.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No phasing is proposed. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 36 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 37 of 94 

Easements and Dedication to the Public of Open Space 
Subsection 4.113 (.02) B. 
 

D27. Review Criteria: “Open space area required by this Section may, at the discretion of the 
Development Review Board, be protected by a conservation easement or dedicated to the City, 
either rights in fee or easement, without altering the density or other development standards of 
the proposed development.  Provided that, if the dedication is for public park purposes, the size 
and amount of the proposed dedication shall meet the criteria of the City parks standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The open space tracts will be owned by a homeowners association. 

 
Including Open Space Area in Density and Lot Coverage Calculations 
Subsection 4.113 (.02) B. 
 

D28. Review Criteria: “The square footage of any land, whether dedicated or not, which is used for 
open space shall be deemed a part of the development site for the purpose of computing density 
or allowable lot coverage.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The open space area has been included in the density calculations. 

 
Assuring Protection and Maintenance of Open Space 
Subsection 4.113 (.02) C. 
 

D29. Review Criteria: “The Development Review Board may specify the method of assuring the long-
term protection and maintenance of open space and/or recreational areas.  Where such protection 
or maintenance are the responsibility of a private party or homeowners’ association, the City 
Attorney shall review any pertinent bylaws, covenants, or agreements prior to recordation.” 
Finding: These criteria will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 2. 
Details of Finding: Condition of Approval PDD 2 requires City review of subdivision 
and homeowners association documents to ensure long term protection and 
maintenance of open space areas. 

 
Residential Development: Setbacks for Lots Less than 10,000 Square Feet 
 

Front Yard Setback 
Subsection 4.113 (.03) B. 1. 
 

D30. Review Criteria: “Minimum front yard setback:  Fifteen (15) feet, with open porches allowed to 
extend to within ten (10) feet of the property line.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed lots will allow homes to be built meeting these 
setbacks. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 37 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 38 of 94 

Side Yard Setback 
Subsection 4.113 (.03) B. 2. 
 

D31. Review Criteria: “Minimum side yard setback: One story: five (5) feet; Two or more stories:  
seven (7) feet.  In the case of a corner lot, abutting more than one street or tract with a private 
drive, the side yard on the street side of such lot shall be not less than ten (10) feet.” 
Finding: These criteria are not satisfied as proposed, but can be satisfied with the 
approval of the waiver to the side yard setback as proposed in Request H. 
Details of Finding: All homes will be 2 or more stories and a waiver is being requested 
to reduce the required side yard setback from 7 feet to 5 feet. Similar setback waivers 
have been approved for other nearby developments, including Benchley Estates (see 
Request H and applicant’s findings on page 5 and 8 of their narrative in Exhibit B1). The 
street side yard setback on Lots 5 and 6 will be 10 feet as required.  

 
Setbacks and Future Streets 
Subsection 4.113 (.03) B. 4. 
 

D32. Review Criteria: “No structure shall be erected within the required setback for any future street 
shown within the City’s adopted Transportation Master Plan or Transportation Systems Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No special setbacks are required for future planned streets. 

 
Garage Door or Carport Setbacks 
Subsection 4.113 (.03) B. 5. 
 

D33. Review Criteria: “Minimum setback to garage door or carport entry: Twenty (20) feet. Wall 
above the garage door may project to within fifteen (15) feet of property line, provided that 
clearance to garage door is maintained.  Where access is taken from an alley, garages or carports 
may be located no less than four (4) feet from the property line adjoining the alley.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed lots will allow homes to be built meeting these 
setbacks. 

 
Rear Yard Setbacks 
Subsection 4.113 (.03) B. 6. 
 

D34. Review Criteria: “Minimum rear yard setback:  One story:  fifteen (15) feet.  Two or more stories:  
Twenty (20) feet.  Accessory buildings on corner lots must observe the same rear setbacks as the 
required side yard of the abutting lot.” 
Finding: These criteria are not satisfied as proposed, but can be satisfied with the 
approval of a waiver to the rear yard setback as proposed in Request H. 
Details of Finding: All homes will be 2 or more stories and a waiver is being requested 
to reduce the required rear yard setback from 20 feet to 15 feet (Request H). 

 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 38 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 39 of 94 

Residential Development: Height Guidelines 
 

Height Guidelines 
Subsection 4.113 (.04)  
 

D35. Review Criteria: “The Development Review Board may regulate heights as follows: 
A. Restrict or regulate the height or building design consistent with adequate provision of fire 

protection and fire-fighting apparatus height limitations. 
B. To provide buffering of low density developments by requiring the placement of buildings 

more than two (2) stories in height away from the property lines abutting a low density zone. 
C. To regulate building height or design to protect scenic vistas of Mt. Hood or the Willamette 

River from greater encroachments than would occur if developed conventionally. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No additional height regulations beyond the typical for the zone is 
recommended. 

 
Residential Treatment Facilities 
 

Residential Homes (Treatment Facilities) Allowed in Single-Family Development 
Subsection 4.113 (.05) A. 
 

D36. Review Criteria: “Residential Homes, as defined in Section 4.001, shall be permitted in any 
location where a single-family dwelling is permitted.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No residential homes are proposed, however a home could be 
converted in the future. 

 
Fences in Residential Development 
 

Front Yard Fence Height 
Subsection 4.113 (.08) A. 
 

D37. Review Criteria: “The maximum height of a sight-obscuring fence located in the required front 
yard of a residential development shall not exceed four (4) feet.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No fences are proposed in the front yard. 

 
Side and Rear Yard Fence Height 
Subsection 4.113 (.08) B. 
 

D38. Review Criteria: “The maximum height of a sight-obscuring fence located in the side yard of a 
residential lot shall not exceed four (4) feet forward of the building line and shall not exceed six 
(6) feet in height in the rear yard, except as approved by the Development Review Board.  Except, 
however, that a fence in the side yard of residential corner lot may be up to six (6) feet in height, 
unless a greater restriction is imposed by the Development Review Board acting on an 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 39 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 40 of 94 

application.  A fence of up to six (6) feet in height may be constructed with no setback along the 
side, the rear, and in the front yard of a residential lot adjoining the rear of a corner lot as shown 
in the attached Figure.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All fences will be required to meet these height requirements. The 
applicant’s narrative discusses a proposed 6-foot “good neighbor” fence along the north 
property line and behind lots 6-12, and a wall or fence along the rear of lots 1-5 to 
separate the rear yard from the adjacent sidewalk (Tract ‘C’) and open space (Track ‘B’) 
along Maxine Lane. No fences over 6 feet are proposed requiring DRB review.  

 
Prohibited Fence Materials 
Subsection 4.113 (.08) D. 
 

D39. Review Criteria: “Fences in residential zones shall not include barbed wire, razor wire, 
electrically charged wire, or be constructed of sheathing material such as plywood or 
flakeboard.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed fences, as illustrated on the Landscape Plan (Exhibit 
B2, Sheet L1) will be constructed of wood. No barbed wire, razor wire or electrically 
charged wire is proposed. Installed fences will not be allowed to be constructed of 
plywood or flakeboard.  

 
Prohibited Uses in Residential Areas 
 

Prohibited Uses 
Subsection 4.113 (.10) 
 

D40. Review Criteria: This subsection lists uses prohibited in residential development including: uses 
for structures not specifically permitted in the applicable zone, trailers travel trailers or mobile 
coaches for a residence except in approved RV parks, and outdoor advertising display, signs, or 
advertising structures as provided in the City’s sign code. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No prohibited uses are proposed and these uses will continue to be 
prohibited. 

 
Accessory Dwelling Units 
 

Accessory Dwelling Units 
Subsection 4.113 (.11) 
 

D41. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes the standards for accessory dwelling units for all 
PDR zones, R zone, RA-H zone, and Village zone. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No accessory dwelling units are proposed and any future accessory 
dwelling units will be required to conform with this subsection.  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 40 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 41 of 94 

Compliance, Conditions, and Effect on Cost of Needed Housing 
 

Impacting Needed Housing Cost 
Subsection 4.113 (.14) 
 

D42. Review Criteria: “The Planning Director and Development Review Board shall, in making their 
determination of compliance in attaching conditions, consider the effects of this action on the 
availability and cost of needed housing.  The provisions of this section shall not be used in such a 
manner that additional conditions, either singularly or cumulatively, have the effect of 
unnecessarily increasing the cost of housing or effectively excluding a needed housing type.  
However, consideration of these factors shall not prevent the Board or Planning Director from 
imposing conditions of approval necessary to meet the minimum requirements of the 
Comprehensive Plan and Code.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: During review of the project no conditions or requirements have 
been identified that would unduly increase the cost of housing proposed in the 
subdivision. 

 
Standards Applying in All Planned Development Zones 
 

Additional Height Guidelines 
Subsection 4.118 (.01) 
 

D43. Review Criterion: “In cases that are subject to review by the Development Review Board, the 
Board may further regulate heights as follows:  
A. Restrict or regulate the height or building design consistent with adequate provision of fire 

protection and fire-fighting apparatus height limitations. 
B. To provide buffering of low density developments by requiring the placement of three or 

more story buildings away from the property lines abutting a low density zone. 
C. To regulate building height or design to protect scenic vistas of Mt. Hood or the Willamette 

River.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Staff does not recommend the Development Review Board require a 
height less than otherwise allowed as the allowed height provides for fire protection 
access, does not abut a low density zone where shorter homes are required, and does not 
impact scenic views of Mt. Hood or the Willamette River. 

 
Underground Utilities 
Subsection 4.118 (.02) and Sections 4.300 to 4.320 
 

D44. Review Criteria: “Underground Utilities shall be governed by Sections 4.300 to 4.320.  All 
utilities above ground shall be located so as to minimize adverse impacts on the site and 
neighboring properties.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All utilities are required to be installed underground.  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 41 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 42 of 94 

Waivers 
Subsection 4.118 (.03) A.-D. 
 

D45. Review Criteria: “Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4.140 to the contrary, the 
Development Review Board, in order to implement the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140, 
and based on findings of fact supported by the record may” waive a number of standards as 
listed in A. through D.  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Three waivers are being requested as detailed in Request H. 

 
Other Requirements or Restrictions 
Subsection 4.118 (.03) E. 
 

D46. Review Criteria: “Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4.140 to the contrary, the 
Development Review Board, in order to implement the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140, 
and based on findings of fact supported by the record may: E. Adopt other requirements or 
restrictions, inclusive of, but not limited to, the following:” Listed 1. through 12. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No additional requirements or restrictions are recommended 
pursuant to this subsection.  

 
Impact on Development Cost 
Subsection 4.118 (.04) 
 

D47. Review Criteria: “The Planning Director and Development Review Board shall, in making their 
determination of compliance in attaching conditions, consider the effects of this action on 
availability and cost.  The provisions of this section shall not be used in such a manner that 
additional conditions, either singularly or cumulatively, have the effect of unnecessarily 
increasing the cost of development.  However, consideration of these factors shall not prevent the 
Board from imposing conditions of approval necessary to meet the minimum requirements of the 
Comprehensive Plan and Code.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: It is staff’s professional opinion that the determination of 
compliance or attached conditions do not unnecessarily increase the cost of 
development, and no evidence has been submitted to the contrary. 

 
Requiring Tract Dedications 
Subsection 4.118 (.05) 
 

D48. Review Criteria: “The Planning Director, Development Review Board, or on appeal, the City 
Council, may as a condition of approval for any development for which an application is 
submitted, require that portions of the tract or tracts under consideration be set aside, improved, 
conveyed or dedicated for the following uses:” Listed A though C, Recreational Facilities, Open 
Space Area, and Easements. 
Finding: These criteria will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PF 1. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 42 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 43 of 94 

Details of Finding: The applicant is proposing two open space tracts, Tract ‘A’ and ‘B’, 
to be conveyed to a Homeowners Association (HOA). A 6-foot sidewalk easement is 
proposed in Tract ‘C’ along Maxine Lane, a private drive. Additional easements will be 
required for public utilities as described in the Engineering Condition of Approval PF 1. 

 
Habitat Friendly Development Practices 
Subsection 4.118 (.09) 
 

D49. Review Criteria: “To the extent practicable, development and construction activities of any lot 
shall consider the use of habitat-friendly development practices, which include:  
A. Minimizing grading, removal of native vegetation, disturbance and removal of native soils, 

and impervious area; 
B. Minimizing adverse hydrological impacts on water resources, such as using the practices 

described in Part (a) of Table NR-2 in Section 4.139.03, unless their use is prohibited by an 
applicable and required state or federal permit, such as a permit required under the federal 
Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§1251 et seq., or the federal Safe Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C. 
§§300f et seq., and including conditions or plans required by such permit; 

C. Minimizing impacts on wildlife corridors and fish passage, such as by using the practices 
described in Part (b) of Table NR-2 in Section 4.139.03; and  

D. Using the practices described in Part (c) of Table NR-2 in Section 4.139.03.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The portions of the subject properties being developed do not 
contain any wildlife corridors or fish passages. The site does not contain SROZ. Water, 
sewer and storm water are available and will be designed and constructed in accordance 
with the Code to minimize adverse impacts on the site, surrounding properties and 
environment. 

 
Standards Applying to All Planned Development Residential Zones 
 

Typically Permitted Uses 
Subsection 4.124 (.01) 
 

D50. Review Criteria: This subsection lists the typically permitted uses in all PDR Zones including: 
open space, single-family dwelling units, multi-family dwelling units subject to the density 
standards of the zone, public parks, playgrounds, recreational and community buildings and 
grounds, tennis courts, and similar recreational uses, and manufactured homes. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding:  The proposal is for single-family homes and open spaces as listed as 
permitted uses in this subsection. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 43 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 44 of 94 

Uses Permitted Accessory to Single-Family Dwellings 
Subsection 4.124 (.02) 
 

D51. Review Criteria: This subsection lists the uses permitted accessory to single-family dwellings 
including: uses customarily incidental, living quarters for employees or guests, accessory 
dwelling units, home occupations, private garage or parking area, keeping a limited amount of 
boarders (up to 2), temporary construction buildings, accessory buildings, and livestock and farm 
animals subject to City established provisions. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding:  None of the listed accessory uses are specifically listed by the 
applicant but will be allowed consistent with this subject. 

 
Block and Access Standards in PDR Zones 
 

Maximum Block Perimeter 
Subsection 4.124 (.06) 1. 
 

D52. Review Criteria: “Maximum block perimeter in new land divisions:  1,800 feet.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding:  One new block is created with the new internal public road, Ryber 
Road, creating a 746 linear foot block with SW Roger Road, SW Maxine Lane, and Ryber 
Road. This block contains Lots 1-5 and Tracts ‘B’, ‘C’, and ‘E’. Lots 6-12 and Tracts ‘A’ 
and ‘D’ are located on an existing block which the applicant has no ability to alter.  

 
Maximum Spacing between Streets for Local Access 
Subsection 4.124 (.06) 2. 
 

D53. Review Criteria: “Maximum spacing between streets or private drives for local access:  530 feet, 
unless waived by the Development Review Board upon finding that barriers such as railroads, 
freeways, existing buildings, topographic variations, or designated Significant Resource Overlay 
Zone areas will prevent street extensions meeting this standard.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding:  The proposed public street providing access to the project, Ryber 
Road, is 185 feet north of Maxine Lane.  

 
Maximum Block Length 
Subsection 4.124 (.06) 3. 
 

D54. Review Criteria: “Maximum block length without pedestrian and bicycle crossing:  330 feet, 
unless waived by the Development Review Board upon finding that barriers such as railroads, 
freeways, existing buildings, topographic variations, or designated Significant Resource Overlay 
Zone areas will prevent pedestrian and bicycle facility extensions meeting this standard.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding:  The block length of the new block between SW Roger Road and 
Maxine Lane is approximately 330 feet.  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 44 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 45 of 94 

PDR-4 Zone Standards 
 

Minimum Lot Size 
Subsection 4.124.3 (.02) 
 

D55. Review Criteria: “Minimum lot size: 4,000 square feet.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding:  All lots are proposed to be 4,000 square feet or more, with the 
smallest proposed lot being 4,045 square feet. 

 
Minimum Density 
Subsection 4.124.3 (.03) 
 

D56. Review Criteria: “Minimum density at build out: One unit per 6,000 square feet.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding:  Minimum density has been calculated based on the Comprehensive 
Plan density range, which is understood to be controlling standard for density, as has 
been applied elsewhere with Planned Development Residential zoning. The minimum 
density calculation is as follows: Usable (non-SROZ) acres 2.13 x 6 du/ac = 12.78 or 12 
lots minimum. 

 
Minimum Lot Width 
Subsection 4.124.3 (.04) A. 
 

D57. Review Criteria: “Minimum lot width at building line: Thirty-five (35) feet.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding:  All lot widths are 35 feet or greater as shown in the Preliminary Plat 
(Exhibit B2, Sheet 1). 

 
Minimum Street Frontage 
Subsection 4.124.3 (.04) B. 
 

D58. Review Criteria: “Minimum street frontage of lot: Thirty-five (35) feet; however, street frontage 
may be reduced to twenty-four (24) feet when the lot fronts a cul-de-sac.  No street frontage is 
required when the lot fronts on an approved, platted private drive.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding:  As shown on the tentative plat all lots have 35 feet or greater of 
frontage on a street. 

 
Minimum Lot Depth 
Subsection 4.124.3 (.04) C. 
 

D59. Review Criteria: “Minimum lot depth:  Sixty (60) feet. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 45 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 46 of 94 

Details of Finding:  As shown on the preliminary plat all lots are greater than 60 feet in 
depth (Exhibit B2, Sheet 1). 

 
Maximum Height 
Subsection 4.124.3 (.04) E. 
 

D60. Review Criteria: “Maximum building or structure height:  Thirty-five (35) feet.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding:  No homes will be approved for construction in this subdivision 
with a height greater than 35 feet. 

 
Maximum Lot Coverage 
Subsection 4.124.3 (.04) F. 
 

D61. Review Criteria: “Maximum lot coverage:  Seventy-five (75%) for all buildings.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding:  All proposed lots would be allowed up to 75% lot coverage. 

 
On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation 
 

Conformance with Standards 
Section 4.154 (.01) B. 1.  
 

D62. Review Criteria: “Development shall conform to all of the following standards:” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All of the on-site pedestrian access and circulation standards 
are being applied to the proposed development.  

 
Continuous Pathway System 
Section 4.154 (.01) B. 1.  
 

D63. Review Criteria: “A pedestrian pathway system shall extend throughout the development site 
and connect to adjacent sidewalks, and to all future phases of the development, as applicable.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Sidewalks are shown in the applicant’s plans extending along 
the public streets as well as a sidewalk along Maxine Drive, a private drive. The design 
ensures pedestrian connectivity to the front of each home.  

 
Safe, Direct, and Convenient 
Section 4.154 (.01) B. 2.  
 

D64. Review Criteria: “Pathways within developments shall provide safe, reasonably direct, and 
convenient connections between primary building entrances and all adjacent parking areas, 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 46 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 47 of 94 

recreational areas/playgrounds, and public rights-of-way and crosswalks based on all of the 
following criteria:” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Pedestrian connections are provided to all the lots and the 
useable open space area, Tract ‘A’ as shown on the preliminary subdivision plat (Exhibit 
B2, Sheet 1). 

 
Free from Hazards/Smooth Surface 
Section 4.154 (.01) B. 2. a. 
 

D65. Review Criteria: “Pedestrian pathways are designed primarily for pedestrian safety and 
convenience, meaning they are free from hazards and provide a reasonably smooth and 
consistent surface.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed pathways are planned to be free from hazards 
and will be a smooth hard surface for sidewalks and pathway to the useable open space 
area.  

 
Reasonably Direct 
Section 4.154 (.01) B. 2. b. 
 

D66. Review Criteria: “The pathway is reasonably direct. A pathway is reasonably direct when it 
follows a route between destinations that does not involve a significant amount of unnecessary 
out-of-direction travel.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The sidewalks and pathway provide direct access to the lots 
and useable open space area. 

 
Vehicle/Pathway Separation 
Section 4.154 (.01) B. 3. 
 

D67. Review Criteria: “Except as required for crosswalks, per subsection 4, below, where a pathway 
abuts a driveway or street it shall be vertically or horizontally separated from the vehicular lane. 
For example, a pathway may be vertically raised six inches above the abutting travel lane, or 
horizontally separated by a row of bollards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All pedestrian pathways are vertically and or horizontally 
separated, except as necessitated by driveway cuts. 

 
Crosswalks 
Section 4.154 (.01) B. 4. 
 

D68. Review Criteria: “Where a pathway crosses a parking area or driveway, it shall be clearly 
marked with contrasting paint or paving materials (e.g., pavers, light-color concrete inlay 
between asphalt, or similar contrast).” 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 47 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 48 of 94 

Finding: These criteria can be satisfied with Condition of Approval PDD 3. 
Explanation of Finding: A condition of approval requires the provision crosswalks 
where a pathway crosses the new public street, Ryber Road. 

 
Pathway Width and Surface 
Section 4.154 (.01) B. 5. 
 

D69. Review Criteria: “Primary pathways shall be constructed of concrete, asphalt, brick/masonry 
pavers, or other durable surface, and not less than five (5) feet wide. Secondary pathways and 
pedestrian trails may have an alternative surface except as otherwise required by the ADA.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All proposed pathways are 6 feet wide. 

 
Parking Area Design Standards 
 

Minimum and Maximum Parking 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) G. 
 

D70. Review Criteria: “Tables 5 shall be used to determine the minimum and maximum parking 
standards for various land uses.  The minimum number of required parking spaces shown on 
Tables 5 shall be determined by rounding to the nearest whole parking space.  For example, a use 
containing 500 square feet, in an area where the standard is one space for each 400 square feet of 
floor area, is required to provide one off-street parking space.  If the same use contained more 
than 600 square feet, a second parking space would be required.  Structured parking and on-
street parking are exempted from the parking maximums in Table 5.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Each dwelling unit requires 1 parking space. The applicant states 
each lot will accommodate 2 cars in the driveway and 2 cars in the garage. 

 
Other Parking Area Design Standards 
Subsections 4.155 (.02) and (.03)  
 

D71. Review Criteria: These subsections list a number of standards affecting the design of parking 
areas. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicable standards are met as follows: 

  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 48 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 49 of 94 

Standard Met Explanation 
Subsection 4.155 (.02) General Standards 
B. All spaces accessible and usable 

for Parking 
☒ 

Standard residential driveway design is 
proposed for the exterior parking. Conceptual 
house plans show a garage measuring 18 feet by 
19.5 feet, which appear accessible and able to 
accommodate two standards cars.  

I. Surfaced with asphalt, concrete or 
other approved material. 

☒ 
Driveways and garages will be surfaced with 
concrete. Street surfaced with asphalt. 

Drainage meeting City standards 
☒ 

Drainage is professionally designed and being 
reviewed to meet City standards 

Subsection 4.155 (.03) General Standards 
A. Access and maneuvering areas 

adequate. ☒ 
All off-street parking areas will be accessible off 
the proposed street and provide adequate area 
for typical vehicles to circulate.  

A.2. To the greatest extent possible, 
vehicle and pedestrian traffic 
separated. 

☒ 
Vehicle and pedestrian traffic are clearly 
delineated and separated.  

 
Other Parking Standards and Policies and Procedures 
 

Parking Standards Minimum Criteria 
Subsection 4.155 (.02) A.  
 

D72. Review Criteria: “The standards set forth herein shall be considered by the Development Review 
Board as minimum criteria.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The standards are being considered minimum criteria and in many 
cases have been exceeded such as number and size of planned parking spaces. 

 
Parking Variances and Waivers 
Subsection 4.155 (.02) A. 1.-2.  
 

D73. Review Criteria: “1. The Board shall have the authority to grant variances or planned 
development waivers to these standards in keeping with the purposes and objectives set forth in 
the Comprehensive Plan and this Code. 2. Waivers to the parking, loading, or bicycle parking 
standards shall only be issued upon a findings that the resulting development will have no 
significant adverse impact on the surrounding neighborhood, and the community, and that the 
development considered as a whole meets the purposes of this section.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No variances or waivers to the parking standards are requested nor 
would be necessary to approve the proposed subdivision. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 49 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 50 of 94 

On-Street Parking for Parking Calculations 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) F. 
 

D74. Review Criteria: “On-street parking spaces, directly adjoining the frontage of and on the same 
side of the street as the subject property, may be counted towards meeting the minimum off-
street parking standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Limited on-street parking is available and could accommodate at 
least 10 cars, as reflected on the Preliminary Streets Plan (Exhibit B2, Sheet 5). However, 
no on-street parking is being counted as required parking for the proposed subdivision. 

 
Access, Ingress, and Egress 
 

Access at Defined Points 
Subsection 4.167 (.01) 
 

D75. Review Criterion: “Each access onto streets or private drives shall be at defined points as 
approved by the City”   
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The access points are at defined points appropriate for a local street. 

 
Health, Safety, and Welfare 
Subsection 4.167 (.01) 
 

D76. Review Criterion: “Each access onto streets or private drives shall be . . . consistent with the 
public's health, safety and general welfare.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: By virtue of meeting applicable standards of Chapter 4 as well as 
being required to meet Public Works Standards a finding can be made the access points 
will be consistent with the public’s health, safety and general welfare. 

 
Approval of Access Points 
Subsection 4.167 (.01) 
 

D77. Review Criterion: “Such defined points of access shall be approved at the time of issuance of a 
building permit if not previously determined in the development permit.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The Engineering Division is reviewing and approving all points of 
access to public streets. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 50 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 51 of 94 

Protection of Natural Features and Other Resources 
 

Regard for Natural Terrain and Features 
Subsection 4.171 (.02) A. 
 

D78. Review Criteria: “All developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained 
with maximum regard to natural terrain features and topography, especially hillside areas, 
floodplains, and other significant landforms.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The site is relatively flat and does not contain and natural features 
identified in this subsection. 

 
Grading Compliance with Uniform Building Code 
Section 4.171 (.02) B. 
 

D79. Review Criteria: “All grading, filling and excavating done in connection with any development 
shall be in accordance with the Uniform Building Code” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Prior to any site earth work a grading permit must be issued by the 
City’s Building Division ensuring planned grading conforms with the Uniform Building 
Code. 

 
Limiting Soil Disturbance 
Section 4.171 (.02) C. 1. 
 

D80. Review Criteria: “all developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained so as 
to: Limit the extent of disturbance of soils and site by grading, excavation and other land 
alterations” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Only areas necessary for street construction and create home sites 
are being graded thus minimizing the areas being disturbed. 

 
Avoiding Erosion, Pollution, Etc. 
Section 4.171 (.02) C. 2. 
 

D81. Review Criteria: “all developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained so as 
to: Avoid substantial probabilities of:  (l) accelerated erosion;  (2) pollution, contamination, or 
siltation of lakes, rivers, streams and wetlands;  (3) damage to vegetation;  (4) injury to wildlife 
and fish habitats.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Erosion control measures will be required during construction and 
no indications exist of the development leading to accelerated erosion, pollution, 
contamination, or siltation of water bodies, damage to significant native vegetation, or 
injury to wildlife or fish habitat. 

 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 51 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 52 of 94 

Minimize Tree Removal 
Section 4.171 (.02) C. 3. 
 

D82. Review Criteria: “all developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained so as 
to: Minimize the removal of trees and other native vegetation that stabilize hillsides, retain 
moisture, reduce erosion, siltation and nutrient runoff, and preserve the natural scenic character.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Both the applicant and staff have carefully reviewed the tree 
removal plan to maximize the number of retained trees (see Request G). 

 
Timing of Vegetation Disturbance 
Section 4.171 (.04) A. 1. 
 

D83. Review Criteria: “All developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained so 
that: Existing vegetation is not disturbed, injured, or removed prior to site development and prior 
to an approved plan for circulation, parking and structure location.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant is not authorized to remove any vegetation that 
otherwise would not be removed for property maintenance or other non-development 
related reasons. 

 
Incorporation of Trees and Wooded Area in Site Planning 
Section 4.171 (.04) A. 2. 
 

D84. Review Criteria: “All developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained so 
that: Existing wooded areas, significant clumps/groves of trees and vegetation, and all trees with 
a diameter at breast height of six inches or greater shall be incorporated into the development 
plan and protected wherever feasible.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: There are no existing wooded areas or significant clumps/groves of 
trees on site.  The site has been designed to protect the four Red maple trees that have 
been deemed in good condition. 

 
Preservation of Trees in Right-of-Way 
Section 4.171 (.04) A. 3. 
 

D85. Review Criteria: “All developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained so 
that: Existing trees are preserved within any right-of-way when such trees are suitably located, 
healthy, and when approved grading allows.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Both the applicant and staff have carefully reviewed the tree 
removal plan and have not found additional trees appropriate to preserve within the 
right-of-way.  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 52 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 53 of 94 

Tree Protection During Construction 
Section 4.171 (.04) B. 
 

D86. Review Criteria: “Trees and woodland areas to be retained shall be protected during site 
preparation and construction according to City Public Works design specifications, by:” Listed 1. 
through 4. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As required under Request G, retained trees will be protected 
during construction consistent with City standards. 

 
Public Safety and Crime Prevention 
 

Design for Public Safety 
Subsection 4.175 (.01) 
 

D87. Review Criteria: “All developments shall be designed to deter crime and insure public safety.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The development will be a fairly traditional single-family 
subdivision to create a quiet area with eyes on the street to discourage crime.  

 
Addressing and Directional Signing 
Subsection 4.175 (.02) 
 

D88. Review Criteria: “Addressing and directional signing shall be designed to assure identification of 
all buildings and structures by emergency response personnel, as well as the general public.” 
Finding: These criteria is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All homes will be required to have addresses meeting applicable 
requirements. 

 
Surveillance and Access 
Subsection 4.175 (.03) 
 

D89. Review Criterion: “Areas vulnerable to crime shall be designed to allow surveillance.  Parking 
and loading areas shall be designed for access by police in the course of routine patrol duties.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No parking or loading areas are proposed needing surveillance. No 
other areas especially vulnerable to crime are proposed. 

 
Lighting to Discourage Crime 
Subsection 4.175 (.04) 
 

D90. Review Criterion: “Exterior lighting shall be designed and oriented to discourage crime.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No specific lighting is proposed or needed to discourage crime. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 53 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 54 of 94 

Landscaping Standards 
 

Landscape Code Compliance 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) B. 
 

D91. Review Criteria: “All landscaping and screening required by this Code must comply with all of 
the provisions of this Section, unless specifically waived or granted a Variance as otherwise 
provided in the Code.  The landscaping standards are minimum requirements; higher standards 
can be substituted as long as fence and vegetation-height limitations are met.  Where the 
standards set a minimum based on square footage or linear footage, they shall be interpreted as 
applying to each complete or partial increment of area or length” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No waivers or variances to landscape standards have been 
requested. Thus all landscaping and screening must comply with standards of this 
section.  

 
Intent and Required Materials 
Subsections 4.176 (.02) C. through I. 
 

D92. Review Criteria: These subsections identify the various landscaping standards, including the 
intent of where they should be applied, and the required materials. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PF 1. 
Details of Finding: All landscape areas subject to the landscape standards are required 
to meet the general landscape standard. The standard is met except on the east side of 
lot 5 where it abuts the proposed extension of SW Roger Boulevard and curb-tight 
sidewalks are proposed. Condition of Approval PF 1 requires adherence to the Public 
Works Standards, which requires detatched sidewalks with landscaping between the 
street and sidewalk. The applicant has submitted a request for an exception to the City 
Engineer requesting approval to for the detached sidewalk to be placed in an easement 
on Lot 5 and relocating the proposed street trees shown of Lot 5 (Exhibit B2, Sheet L1) to 
the right-of-way, consistent with Public Works Standards. No decision on the exception 
has been made at the time of this staff report. An update will be provided at the DRB 
public hearing. 
Required Materials: “Shrubs and trees, other than street trees, may be grouped.  
Ground cover plants must fully cover the remainder of the landscaped area (see Figure 
21:  General Landscaping).  The General Landscaping Standard has two different 
requirements for trees and shrubs: 
a. Where the landscaped area is less than 30 feet deep, one tree is required for every 30 

linear feet. 
b. Where the landscaped area is 30 feet deep or greater, one tree is required for every 

800 square feet and two high shrubs or three low shrubs are required for every 400 
square feet.” 

Materials Provided: Street trees where driveway cuts and infrastructure placement 
allows, additional evergreen trees in the park area. All additional landscaping strip and 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 54 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 55 of 94 

open space areas will have groundcover. 
 
Landscape Area  
Subsection 4.176 (.03) 
 

D93. Review Criteria: “Not less than fifteen percent (15%) of the total lot area, shall be landscaped 
with vegetative plant materials.  The ten percent (10%) parking area landscaping required by 
section 4.155.03(B)(1) is included in the fifteen percent (15%) total lot landscaping requirement.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: In residential development this standard is met by the open space 
requirements in Section 4.113.  

 
Landscape Locations 
Subsection 4.176 (.03) 
 

D94. Review Criteria: “Landscaping shall be located in at least three separate and distinct areas of the 
lot, one of which must be in the contiguous frontage area.  Planting areas shall be encouraged 
adjacent to structures.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Landscaping is provided in all the landscaping strips throughout the 
project in addition to the proposed open space tracts.  

 
Use of Landscaping 
Subsection 4.176 (.03) 
 

D95. Review Criteria: “Landscaping shall be used to define, soften or screen the appearance of 
buildings and off-street parking areas.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: While landscaping will soften homes from the street, no other 
buildings or off-street parking areas requiring screening are proposed. 

 
Plant Material Variety 
Subsection 4.176 (.03) 
 

D96. Review Criteria: “Materials to be installed shall achieve a balance between various plant forms, 
textures, and heights.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Applicant’s sheet L1 through L3 indicate a variety of landscaping 
materials that create the variety required by this subsection. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 55 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 56 of 94 

Native Plant Material Use 
Subsection 4.176 (.03) 
 

D97. Review Criteria: “The installation of native plant materials shall be used whenever practicable.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The level of native plant use is appropriate for the application. 

 
Buffering and Screening 
Subsection 4.176 (.04) 
 

D98. Review Criteria: “Additional to the standards of this subsection, the requirements of the Section 
4.137.5 (Screening and Buffering Overlay Zone) shall also be applied, where applicable. 
A. All intensive or higher density developments shall be screened and buffered from less 

intense or lower density developments. 
B. Activity areas on commercial and industrial sites shall be buffered and screened from 

adjacent residential areas.  Multi-family developments shall be screened and buffered from 
single-family areas. 

C. All exterior, roof and ground mounted, mechanical and utility equipment shall be screened 
from ground level off-site view from adjacent streets or properties. 

D. All outdoor storage areas shall be screened from public view, unless visible storage has been 
approved for the site by the Development Review Board or Planning Director acting on a 
development permit. 

E. In all cases other than for industrial uses in industrial zones, landscaping shall be designed to 
screen loading areas and docks, and truck parking. 

F. In any zone any fence over six (6) feet high measured from soil surface at the outside of fence 
line shall require Development Review Board approval.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No buffering and screening pursuant to this subsection is required 
or proposed. 

 
Landscape Plans 
Subsection 4.176 (.09) 
 

D99. Review Criteria: “Landscape plans shall be submitted showing all existing and proposed 
landscape areas.  Plans must be drawn to scale and show the type, installation size, number and 
placement of materials.  Plans shall include a plant material list. Plants are to be identified by 
both their scientific and common names. The condition of any existing plants and the proposed 
method of irrigation are also to be indicated.”   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Applicant’s sheets L1 through L3 provide the required information 
(Exhibit B2). 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 56 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 57 of 94 

Street Improvement Standards-Generally 
 

Conformance with Standards and Plan 
Subsection 4.177 (.01) 
 

D100. Review Criteria: “Development and related public facility improvements shall comply with the 
standards in this section, the Wilsonville Public Works Standards, and the Transportation System 
Plan,” 
Finding: These criteria will be satisfied with Condition of Approval PF 1 and PF 3 
through PF 5. 
Details of Finding: As shown in the findings below the standards of Section 4.177 are 
being applied to the proposed public improvements as well as the Public Works 
Standards and the TSP.  
The Engineering Division will issue a Public Works Permit prior to construction and 
inspect during construction ensuring the Public Works Standards are met. SW Roger 
Boulevard and the proposed new public street, Ryber Road, are local streets with no 
specific requirements in the Transportation System Plan outside the typical design 
requirements. Curb-tight sidewalks are proposed along the extension of SW Roger 
Boulevard, inconsistent with the Public Works Standards. Condition of Approval PF 1 
requires adherence to the Public Works Standards, which requires detached sidewalks 
with landscaping between the street and sidewalk. The applicant has submitted a 
request for an exception to the City Engineer requesting approval to for the detached 
sidewalk to be placed in an easement on Lot 5 and relocating the proposed street trees 
shown of Lot 5 (Exhibit B2, Sheet L1) to the right-of-way, consistent with Public Works 
Standards, for the west side of the street. No decision on the exception has been made at 
the time of this staff report. An update will be provided at the DRB public hearing. 
Condition of Approval PF 5 requires the applicant to acquire additional right-of-way or 
an easement to allow for the construction of detached sidewalks consistent with the 
Public Works Standards. 

 
Rough Proportionality 
Subsection 4.177 (.01) 
 

D101. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes public facility improvements required shall be in 
rough proportion to the potential impacts of the development. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Standard half street improvements are required and full-street 
improvements where the development is on both sides. These are the typical minimal 
standards and no questions regarding rough proportionality are being analyzed. The 
applicant is proposing an off-site improvement, the construction of the full street 
improvement for SW Roger Boulevard along the east side of the site consistent with the 
private agreement between the applicant/owner and Mentor Graphics as shown in 
Exhibit B1, Item 13. 

 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 57 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 58 of 94 

Timing of Street Improvements 
Subsection 4.177 (.01) 
 

D102. Review Criteria: “Such improvements shall be constructed at the time of development or as 
provided by Section 4.140, except as modified or waived by the City Engineer for reasons of 
safety or traffic operations.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Street improvements will be constructed prior to any home 
construction.  

 
Street Improvement Standards-Adjoining Property Connectivity 
 

Streets and Adjoining Properties 
Subsection 4.177 (.02) A. 
 

D103. Review Criteria: “All street improvements and intersections shall provide for the continuation of 
streets through specific developments to adjoining properties or subdivisions.”  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied.  
Details of Finding: The extension of SW Roger Boulevard allows for future extension 
through the Mentor Graphics property to SW Canyon Creek Road. 

 
Adjoining Property Connections 
Subsection 4.177 (.02) A. 1.  
 

D104. Review Criteria: “Development shall be required to provide existing or future connections to 
adjacent sites through the use of access easements where applicable. Such easements shall be 
required in addition to required public street dedications as required in Section 4.236(.04).” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed new public street, Ryber Road, connects the proposed 
extension of SW Roger Boulevard to Maxine Lane, a private drive. The extension of SW 
Roger Boulevard allows for future extension through the Mentor Graphics property to 
SW Canyon Creek Road. The property to the north is zoned RA-HI and intended for 
future industrial development; no additional connectivity is desired to the industrial 
properties. 

 
Street Improvement Standards-Right-of-Way 
 

Right-of-Way Width Determination 
Subsection 4.177 (.02) B.  
 

D105. Review Criteria: “The City Engineer shall make the final determination regarding right-of-way 
and street element widths using the ranges provided in Chapter 3 of the Transportation System 
Plan and the additional street design standards in the Public Works Standards.” 
Finding: These criteria will be satisfied with Condition of Approval PF 1 and PF 3 
through PF 5. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 58 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 59 of 94 

Details of Finding: The proposed street, Ryber Road, is shown consistent with Figure 3-
9 of the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan (TSP). As discussed above in Finding D100, 
the extension SW Roger Boulevard will be consistent with the TSP and Public Works 
Standards with Engineering Division conditions of approval and the private agreement 
between the applicant/owner and Mentor Graphics (Exhibit B1, Item 13). 

 
Right-of-Way Dedication 
Subsection 4.177 (.02) C. 1. 
 

D106. Review Criteria: “Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy Building permits or as a part of 
the recordation of a final plat, the City shall require dedication of rights-of-way in accordance 
with the Transportation System Plan. All dedications shall be recorded with the County 
Assessor's Office.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Right-of-way dedication is proposed as part of the Tentative 
Subdivision Plat (see Request E). 

 
Waiver of Remonstrance 
Subsection 4.177 (.02) C. 2. 
 

D107. Review Criterion: “The City shall also require a waiver of remonstrance against formation of a 
local improvement district, and all non-remonstrances shall be recorded in the County Recorder’s 
Office as well as the City's Lien Docket, prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy Building 
Permit or as a part of the recordation of a final plat.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 4. 
Details of Finding: Condition of Approval PDD 4 requires the waiver of remonstrance.  

 
Arterial Street Setbacks 
Subsection 4.177 (.02) C. 3. 
 

D108. Review Criteria: “In order to allow for potential future widening, a special setback requirement 
shall be maintained adjacent to all arterial streets. The minimum setback shall be 55 feet from the 
centerline or 25 feet from the right-of-way designated on the Master Plan, whichever is greater.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The Transportation Systems Plan does not show any arterial streets 
adjacent to the site. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 59 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 60 of 94 

Street Improvement Standards-Dead End Streets 
 

Dead-end Streets 
Subsection 4.177 (.02) D. 
 

D109. Review Criteria: “Dead-end Streets.  New dead-end streets or cul-de-sacs shall not exceed 200 
feet in length, unless the adjoining land contains barriers such as existing buildings, railroads or 
freeways, or environmental constraints such as steep slopes, or major streams or rivers, that 
prevent future street extension and connection.  A central landscaped island with rainwater 
management and infiltration are encouraged in cul-de-sac design.  No more than 25 dwelling 
units shall take access to a new dead-end or cul-de-sac street unless it is determined that the 
traffic impacts on adjacent streets will not exceed those from a development of 25 or fewer units.  
All other dimensional standards of dead-end streets shall be governed by the Public Works 
Standards. Notification that the street is planned for future extension shall be posted on the dead-
end street.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed extension of SW Roger Boulevard dead-ends 
immediately north of the intersection of the proposed new public street, Ryber Road, 
less than the 200 feet allowed. 

 
Street Improvement Standards-Clearance 
 

Corner Vision Clearance 
Subsection 4.177 (.02) E. 
 

D110. Review Criteria: “A clear vision area which meets the Public Works Standards shall be 
maintained on each corner of property at the intersection of any two streets, a street and a 
railroad or a street and a driveway.  However, the following items shall be exempt from meeting 
this requirement:” Listed a. through e. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The development is being designed to enable the required vision 
clearance to be met. 

 
Vertical Clearance 
Subsection 4.177 (.02) F. 
 

D111. Review Criteria: “Vertical clearance - a minimum clearance of 12 feet above the pavement 
surface shall be maintained over all streets and access drives.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The development is being designed to enable the required vertical 
clearance to be met. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 60 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 61 of 94 

Street Improvement Standards- Interim Improvements 
 

Interim Improvement Standards 
Subsection 4.177 (.02) G. 
 

D112. Review Criteria: “It is anticipated that all existing streets, except those in new subdivisions, will 
require complete reconstruction to support urban level traffic volumes.  However, in most cases, 
existing and short-term projected traffic volumes do not warrant improvements to full Master 
Plan standards.  Therefore, unless otherwise specified by the Development Review Board, the 
following interim standards shall apply.” Listed 1 through 3 including asphalt overlays, half-
street improvements, and single-asphalt lifts. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding:  No interim improvements are proposed. 

 
Street Improvement Standards-Sidewalks 
 

Sidewalks Required 
Subsection 4.177 (.03) 
 

D113. Review Criteria: “Sidewalks shall be provided on the public street frontage of all development. 
Sidewalks shall generally be constructed within the dedicated public right-of-way, but may be 
located outside of the right-of-way within a public easement with the approval of the City 
Engineer.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 5. 
Details of Finding: Sidewalks are proposed on both sides of the proposed public street 
and along the extension of SW Roger Boulevard. In addition, while not required, a 
sidewalk is proposed in Tract ‘C’ on the north side of Maxine Lane, an existing private 
drive. This will be a private sidewalk owned and maintained by the HOA with a 
pedestrian access easement. A condition of approval requires the dedication of a 
pedestrian access easement in Tract ‘C’. 

 
Through Zone 
Subsection 4.177 (.03) A. 
 

D114. Review Criteria: “Sidewalk widths shall include a minimum through zone of at least five feet. 
The through zone may be reduced pursuant to variance procedures in Section 4.196, a waiver 
pursuant to Section 4.118, or by authority of the City Engineer for reasons of traffic operations, 
efficiency, or safety.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All sidewalks are shown with a through zone of at least five feet. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 61 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 62 of 94 

Sidewalks on One Side 
Subsection 4.177 (.03) B. 
 

D115. Review Criteria: “Within a Planned Development, the Development Review Board may approve 
a sidewalk on only one side.  If the sidewalk is permitted on just one side of the street, the owners 
will be required to sign an agreement to an assessment in the future to construct the other 
sidewalk if the City Council decides it is necessary.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Sidewalks are proposed on both sides of the proposed new street, 
Ryber Road as well as both sides of SW Roger Boulevard. While not required, a sidewalk 
is proposed in Tract ‘C’ on the north side of Maxine Lane, an existing private drive. 

 
Street Improvement Standards-Bicycle Facilities and Multiuse Paths 
 

Bicycle Facilities and TSP 
Subsection 4.177 (.04) 
 

D116. Review Criteria: “Bicycle facilities shall be provided to implement the Transportation System 
Plan, and may include on-street and off-street bike lanes, shared lanes, bike boulevards, and cycle 
tracks. The design of on-street bicycle facilities will vary according to the functional classification 
and the average daily traffic of the facility.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The streets within and adjacent to the project do not require any bike 
facilities per the TSP. 

 
Street Improvements Standards- Access Drives and Driveways 
 

Clear Travel Lane 
Subsection 4.177 (.08) A. 
 

D117. Review Criteria: “An access drive to any proposed development shall be designed to provide a 
clear travel lane free from any obstructions.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No access drives are proposed. 

 
Travel Lane Load Capacity 
Subsection 4.177 (.08) B. 
 

D118. Review Criteria: “Access drive travel lanes shall be constructed with a hard surface capable of 
carrying a 23-ton load.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 6. 
Details of Finding: The condition of approval requires all travel lanes to be built of a 
hard surface capable of carrying a 23-ton load. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 62 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 63 of 94 

Emergency Vehicle Access 
Subsection 4.177 (.08) C. 
 

D119. Review Criteria: “Where emergency vehicle access is required, approaches and driveways shall 
be designed and constructed to accommodate emergency vehicle apparatus and shall conform to 
applicable fire protection requirements. The City may restrict parking, require signage, or require 
other public safety improvements pursuant to the recommendations of an emergency service 
provider.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The site has been designed for sufficient access for emergency 
vehicles and as reviewed by TVF&R. 

 
Emergency Access Lanes 
Subsection 4.177 (.08) D. 
 

D120. Review Criteria: “Secondary or emergency access lanes may be improved to a minimum 12 feet 
with an all-weather surface as approved by the Fire District.  All fire lanes shall be dedicated 
easements.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All access lanes meet or exceed the minimum 12 foot standard. 

 
Contextual Design 
Subsection 4.177 (.08) E. 
 

D121. Review Criteria: “Minimum access requirements shall be adjusted commensurate with the 
intended function of the site based on vehicle types and traffic generation.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Access is typical for single-family homes and no special 
consideration is needed for unique vehicle types or unique traffic generation.  

 
Access and Street Classifications 
Subsection 4.177 (.08) F. 
 

D122. Review Criteria: “The number of approaches on higher classification streets (e.g., collector and 
arterial streets) shall be minimized; where practicable, access shall be taken first from a lower 
classification street.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No access is proposed onto a collector or arterial street.  

 
Access Restrictions 
Subsection 4.177 (.08) G. 
 

D123. Review Criteria: “The City may limit the number or location of connections to a street, or impose 
access restrictions where the roadway authority requires mitigation to alleviate safety or traffic 
operations concerns.” 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 63 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 64 of 94 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No safety or traffic operations concerns are in the Transportation 
Impact Study that would necessitate a change to the street connection points. 

 
Ditch and Culvert Crossings 
Subsection 4.177 (.08) N. 
 

D124. Review Criteria: “Where a proposed driveway crosses a culvert or drainage ditch, the City may 
require the developer to install a culvert extending under and beyond the edges of the driveway 
on both sides of it, pursuant applicable Public Works standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No ditch or culvert crossings are proposed. 

 
Surfacing of Temporary Driveways 
Subsection 4.177 (.08) O. 
 

D125. Review Criteria: “Except as otherwise required by the applicable roadway authority or waived 
by the City Engineer, temporary driveways providing access to a construction site or staging area 
shall be paved or graveled to prevent tracking of mud onto adjacent paved streets.” 
Finding: These criteria will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 7. 
Details of Finding: A condition of approval requires temporary construction driveway 
to be paved or graveled to prevent tracking of mud onto adjacent paved streets.  

 
Street Improvement Standards- Intersection Spacing 
 

Transportation System Plan Table 3-2 
Subsection 4.177 (.09) B.  
 

D126. Review Criteria: “Minimum intersection spacing standards are provided in Transportation 
System Plan Table 3-2.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All streets involved are local streets, thus access spacing is not an 
issue. 

 
Exceptions and Adjustments 
Subsection 4.177 (.10)  
 

D127. Review Criteria: “The City may approve adjustments to the spacing standards of subsections 
(.08) and (.09) above through a Class II process, or as a waiver per Section 4.118(.03)(A.), where an 
existing connection to a City street does not meet the standards of the roadway authority, the 
proposed development moves in the direction of code compliance, and mitigation measures 
alleviate all traffic operations and safety concerns. Mitigation measures may include consolidated 
access (removal of one access), joint use driveways (more than one property uses same access), 
directional limitations (e.g., one-way), turning restrictions (e.g., right in/out only), or other 
mitigation.” 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 64 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 65 of 94 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No adjustments to spacing standards are proposed. 

 
Request E: DB15-0115 Tentative Subdivision Plat 

 
Land Division Authorization 
 

Plat Review Authority 
Subsection 4.202 (.01) through (.03) 
 

E1. Review Criteria: “Pursuant to ORS Chapter 92, plans and plats must be approved by the 
Planning Director or Development Review Board (Board), as specified in Sections 4.030 and 
4.031, before a plat for any land division may be filed in the county recording office for any land 
within the boundaries of the City, except that the Planning Director shall have authority to 
approve a final plat that is found to be substantially consistent with the tentative plat approved 
by the Board. 
The Development Review Board and Planning Director shall be given all the powers and duties 
with respect to procedures and action on tentative and final plans, plats and maps of land 
divisions specified in Oregon Revised Statutes and by this Code. 
Approval by the Development Review Board or Planning Director of divisions of land within the 
boundaries of the City, other than statutory subdivisions, is hereby required by virtue of the 
authority granted to the City in ORS 92.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat is being reviewed by the 
Development Review Board according to this subsection. The final plat will be reviewed 
by the Planning Division under the authority of the Planning Director to ensure 
compliance with the DRB review of the tentative subdivision plat. 

 
Legally Lot Requirement 
Subsection 4.202 (.04) A. 
 

E2. Review Criterion: “No person shall sell any lot or parcel in any condominium, subdivision, or 
land partition until a final condominium, subdivision or partition plat has been approved by the 
Planning Director as set forth in this Code and properly recorded with the appropriate county.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: It is understood that no lots will be sold until the final plat has 
been approved by the Planning Director and recorded. 

 
Undersized Lots Prohibited 
Subsection 4.202 (.04) B. 
 

E3. Review Criterion: “It shall be a violation of this Code to divide a tract of land into a parcel 
smaller than the lot size required in the Zoning Sections of this Code unless specifically approved 
by the Development Review Board or City Council.  No conveyance of any portion of a lot, for 
other than a public use, shall leave a structure on the remainder of the lot with less than the 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 65 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 66 of 94 

minimum lot size, width, depth, frontage, yard or setback requirements, unless specifically 
authorized through the Variance procedures of Section 4.196 or the waiver provisions of the 
Planned Development procedures of Section 4.118.” 
Finding: This criterion is not satisfied as proposed, but can be satisfied with the 
approval of a waiver to the amount of open space required as proposed in Request H. 
Explanation of Finding: No lots will be divided into a size smaller than allowed by the 
PDR-4 zone designation with requested waivers to side and rear yard setbacks (Request 
H). 

 
Plat Application Procedure 
 

Pre-Application Conference 
Subsection 4.210 (.01) 
 

E4. Review Criterion: “Prior to submission of a tentative condominium, partition, or subdivision 
plat, a person proposing to divide land in the City shall contact the Planning Department to 
arrange a pre-application conference as set forth in Section 4.010.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A pre-application conference was held in accordance with this 
subsection. 

 
Tentative Plat Preparation 
Subsection 4.210 (.01) A. 
 

E5. Review Criterion: “The applicant shall cause to be prepared a tentative plat, together with 
improvement plans and other supplementary material as specified in this Section.  The Tentative 
Plat shall be prepared by an Oregon licensed professional land surveyor or engineer.  An 
affidavit of the services of such surveyor or engineer shall be furnished as part of the submittal.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed tentative subdivision plat, Sheet 1 of Exhibit B2, 
has been submitted consistent with this subsection. 

 
Tentative Plat Submission 
Subsection 4.210 (.01) B. 
 

E6. Review Criteria: “The design and layout of this plan plat shall meet the guidelines and 
requirements set forth in this Code.  The Tentative Plat shall be submitted to the Planning 
Department with the following information:” Listed 1. through 26. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat has been submitted with the 
required information. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 66 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 67 of 94 

Phases to Be Shown 
Subsection 4.210 (.01) D. 
 

E7. Review Criteria: “Where the applicant intends to develop the land in phases, the schedule of 
such phasing shall be presented for review at the time of the tentative plat.  In acting on an 
application for tentative plat approval, the Planning Director or Development Review Board may 
set time limits for the completion of the phasing schedule which, if not met, shall result in an 
expiration of the tentative plat approval.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The subdivision is proposed to be developed in a single phase. 

 
Remainder Tracts 
Subsection 4.210 (.01) E. 
 

E8. Review Criteria: “Remainder tracts to be shown as lots or parcels.  Tentative plats shall clearly 
show all affected property as part of the application for land division.  All remainder tracts, 
regardless of size, shall be shown and counted among the parcels or lots of the division.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All affected property has been incorporated into the tentative 
subdivision plat. 

 
Street Requirements for Land Divisions 
 

Master Plan or Map Conformance 
Subsection 4.236 (.01) 
 

E9. Review Criteria: “Land divisions shall conform to and be in harmony with the Transportation 
Master Plan (Transportation Systems Plan), the Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan, the Parks and 
Recreation Master Plan, the Official Plan or Map and especially to the Master Street Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The land division allows for construction of local streets 
consistent with the Transportation Master Plan. 
Access to the development will be primarily via SW Roger Boulevard, a local public 
street. SW Roger Boulevard will require its extension along the east side of the project 
and improvements as a part of this subdivision action. The applicant has secured an 
agreement with Mentor Graphics, the owner of the 65 acre parcel immediately east of 
the subject property, to construct a public roadway and sidewalks to extend SW Roger 
Boulevard further north along the east side of the site. SW Roger Boulevard will 
ultimately be extended to SW Canyon Creek Road when the Mentor Graphics property 
is developed (Exhibit B1, Item 13).  
SW Maxine Lane is a private street which is legal non-conforming.  The existing 
improvement was constructed in the 1980’s to accommodate for the Ash Meadows 
Condominiums, meeting the private street criteria of when the condominiums were 
approved. The applicant has secured an access agreement from the Ash Meadows HOA 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 67 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 68 of 94 

granting access to the Ash Park development (Exhibit B1, Item 12). Improvements to SW 
Maxine Lane, structural rehabilitation and pavement resurfacing, will be completed by 
the applicant with the development of the Ash Park subdivision (Exhibit B1, page 58).  

 
Adjoining Streets Relationship 
Subsection 4.236 (.02) 
 

E10. Review Criteria: “A land division shall provide for the continuation of the principal streets 
existing in the adjoining area, or of their proper projection when adjoining property is not 
developed, and shall be of a width not less than the minimum requirements for streets set forth in 
these regulations.  Where, in the opinion of the Planning Director or Development Review Board, 
topographic conditions make such continuation or conformity impractical, an exception may be 
made.  In cases where the Board or Planning Commission has adopted a plan or plat of a 
neighborhood or area of which the proposed land division is a part, the subdivision shall 
conform to such adopted neighborhood or area plan. 
Where the plat submitted covers only a part of the applicant's tract, a sketch of the 
prospective future street system of the unsubmitted part shall be furnished and the 
street system of the part submitted shall be considered in the light of adjustments and 
connections with the street system of the part not submitted. 
At any time when an applicant proposes a land division and the Comprehensive Plan 
would allow for the proposed lots to be further divided, the city may require an 
arrangement of lots and streets such as to permit a later resubdivision in conformity to 
the street plans and other requirements specified in these regulations.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As discussed in Finding E9 above, SW Roger Boulevard will be 
extended further north along the east side of the project. A sketch of the ultimate 
connection to SW Canyon Creek Road is provided on the tentative subdivision plat 
(Exhibit B2, Sheet 1) consistent with this subsection.  
A new public road, Ryber Road, is proposed through the development, providing a loop 
connection with SW Roger Road and SW Maxine Lane. As previously discussed, the 
applicant has provided documentation of an agreement with the Ash Meadows HOA 
granting access to SW Maxine Lane.  

 
Streets Standards Conformance 
Subsection 4.236 (.03) 
 

E11. Review Criteria: “All streets shall conform to the standards set forth in Section 4.177 and the 
block size requirements of the zone.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed plat enables the development of the streets 
consistent with the Stage II Final Plan and thus will conform with the listed standards 
and requirements for which compliance was reviewed with the Stage II Final Plan (see 
Request D). 

 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 68 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 69 of 94 

Creation of Easements 
Subsection 4.236 (.04) 
 

E12. Review Criteria: “The Planning Director or Development Review Board may approve an 
easement to be established without full compliance with these regulations, provided such an 
easement is the only reasonable method by which a portion of a lot large enough to allow 
partitioning into two (2) parcels may be provided with vehicular access and adequate utilities.  If 
the proposed lot is large enough to divide into more than two (2) parcels, a street dedication may 
be required.”   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No specific easements are requested pursuant to this 
subsection. 

 
Topography 
Subsection 4.236 (.05) 
 

E13. Review Criterion: “The layout of streets shall give suitable recognition to surrounding 
topographical conditions in accordance with the purpose of these regulations.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No significant topography exists where streets are proposed to 
be developed affecting street layout decisions. 

 
Reserve Strips 
Subsection 4.236 (.06) 
 

E14. Review Criteria: “The Planning Director or Development Review Board may require the 
applicant to create a reserve strip controlling the access to a street.  Said strip is to be placed 
under the jurisdiction of the City Council, when the Director or Board determine that a strip is 
necessary:” Reasons listed A. through D. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No reserve strips are required. 

 
Future Street Expansion 
Subsection 4.236 (.07) 
 

E15. Review Criteria: When necessary to give access to, or permit a satisfactory future division of, 
adjoining land, streets shall be extended to the boundary of the land division and the resulting 
dead-end street may be approved without a turn-around.  Reserve strips and street plugs shall be 
required to preserve the objective of street extension. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: SW Roger Boulevard is proposed to be extended north along 
the east side of the development and allows for the future extension to SW Canyon 
Creek Road with the development of the Mentor Graphics property.  

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 69 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 70 of 94 

Additional Right-of-Way 
Subsection 4.236 (.08) 
 

E16. Review Criteria: “Whenever existing streets adjacent to or within a tract are of inadequate width, 
additional right-of-way shall conform to the designated width in this Code or in the 
Transportation Systems Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Conditions of Approval PF 1 
and PF 3 through PF 5. 
Explanation of Finding: Engineering Division conditions of approval are included 
requiring that all right-of-way dedications, easements and street improvements are to be 
completed in accordance with the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards – 2015 (PF 
1). In addition, the applicant is required to: obtain access to public right-of-way by way 
of extending SW Roger Boulevard (PF 3); complete design and construction for the 
extension of SW Roger Boulevard (PF 4); and obtain an additional 4.5 feet of right-of-
way dedication from Mentor Graphics to complete the landscaping and sidewalk on 
either side of the 40-foot right-of-way being provided by Mentor Graphics or provide a 
public sidewalk and access easement (PF 5). 

 
Street Names 
Subsection 4.236 (.09) 
 

E17. Review Criteria: “No street names will be used which will duplicate or be confused with the 
names of existing streets, except for extensions of existing streets.  Street names and numbers 
shall conform to the established name system in the City, and shall be subject to the approval of 
the City Engineer.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed street name is “Ryber Road”. Staff is unaware of 
any concerns or conflicts with the proposed street name. At the final plat, street names 
will be required to be consistent with the City’s policies. 

 
General Land Division Requirements 
 

Block Length, Width and Shape 
Subsection 4.237 (.01) A. 
 

E18. Review Criteria: “The length, width, and shape of blocks shall be designed with due regard to 
providing adequate building sites for the use contemplated, consideration of needs for 
convenient access, circulation, control, and safety of pedestrian, bicycle, and motor vehicle traffic, 
and recognition of limitations and opportunities of topography.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat shows blocks of the necessary 
size to allow for creation of residential lots and a shared open space tract. Blocks will be 
consistent with the Stage II Final Plan (see Request D). 

 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 70 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 71 of 94 

Block Size 
Subsection 4.237 (.01) B. 
 

E19. Review Criteria: “Blocks shall not exceed the sizes and lengths specified for the zone in which 
they are located unless topographical conditions or other physical constraints necessitate larger 
blocks.  Larger blocks shall only be approved where specific findings are made justifying the size, 
shape, and configuration.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat shows blocks consistent with 
those proposed Stage II Final Plan (see Request D). 

 
Utility Line Easements 
Subsection 4.237 (.02) A. 
 

E20. Review Criteria: Utility lines.  Easements for sanitary or storm sewers, drainage, water mains, 
electrical lines or other public utilities shall be dedicated wherever necessary.  Easements shall be 
provided consistent with the City's Public Works Standards, as specified by the City Engineer or 
Planning Director.  All of the public utility lines within and adjacent to the site shall be installed 
within the public right-of-way or easement; with underground services extending to the private 
parcel constructed in conformance to the City’s Public Works Standards.  All franchise utilities 
shall be installed within a public utility easement.  All utilities shall have appropriate easements 
for construction and maintenance purposes.   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Conditions of Approval PF 1, 
PDE 3, and PDE 4. 
Explanation of Finding: Many utilities will be located in the public right-of-way. A 
condition of approval requires public utility easements along the front of all lots and 
tracts for installation of franchise utilities. An additional condition of approval requires 
easements for any public utilities underneath private property such as the proposed 
tracts. An Engineering Department condition of approval requires all right-of-way 
dedications, easements and street improvements are to be completed in accordance with 
the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards – 2015. 

 
Water Course Easements 
Subsection 4.237 (.02) B. 
 

E21. Review Criteria: “Water courses.  Where a land division is traversed by a water course, drainage 
way, channel or stream, there shall be provided a storm water easement or drainage right-of-way 
conforming substantially with the lines of the water course, and such further width as will be 
adequate for the purposes of conveying storm water and allowing for maintenance of the facility 
or channel.  Streets or parkways parallel to water courses may be required.” 
Finding: These criteria are not applicable. 
Explanation of Finding: There are no water courses, drainage way, channel or street 
traversing the site.  

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 71 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 72 of 94 

Pedestrian and Bicycle Pathways 
Subsection 4.237 (.03) 
 

E22. Review Criteria: “An improved public pathway shall be required to transverse the block near its 
middle if that block exceeds the length standards of the zone in which it is located.   
• Pathways shall be required to connect to cul-de-sacs or to pass through unusually shaped 

blocks. 
• Pathways required by this subsection shall have a minimum width of ten (10) feet unless they 

are found to be unnecessary for bicycle traffic, in which case they are to have a minimum 
width of six (6) feet.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed blocks do not exceed the block length standard 
for the PDR-4 zone (site block size finding). No mid-block crossings are proposed or 
required. 

 
Tree Planting 
Subsection 4.237 (.04) 
 

E23. Review Criteria: “Tree planting plans for a land division must be submitted to the Planning 
Director and receive the approval of the Director or Development Review Board before the 
planting is begun. Easements or other documents shall be provided, guaranteeing the City the 
right to enter the site and plant, remove, or maintain approved street trees that are located on 
private property.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PF 5 
and PDE 5. 
Explanation of Finding: A landscape plan has been submitted as part of the Stage II 
Final Plan (Exhibit B2, Sheet L1) showing the proposed tree planting. Street trees are 
proposed to be planted in the public right-of-way for all lots fronting the new public 
street, Ryber Road. Conditions of approval are included to require street trees along the 
SW Roger Boulevard to be planted in public right-of way or an easement. 

 
Lot Size and Shape  
Subsection 4.237 (.05) 
 

E24. Review Criteria: “The lot size, width, shape and orientation shall be appropriate for the location 
of the land division and for the type of development and use contemplated.  Lots shall meet the 
requirements of the zone where they are located. 
A. In areas that are not served by public sewer, an on-site sewage disposal permit is required 

from the City.  If the soil structure is adverse to on-site sewage disposal, no development 
shall be permitted until sewer service can be provided. 

B. Where property is zoned or deeded for business or industrial use, other lot widths and areas 
may be permitted at the discretion of the Development Review Board.  Depth and width of 
properties reserved or laid out for commercial and industrial purposes shall be adequate to 
provide for the off-street service and parking facilities required by the type of use and 
development contemplated. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 72 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 73 of 94 

C. In approving an application for a Planned Development, the Development Review Board 
may waive the requirements of this section and lot size, shape, and density shall conform to 
the Planned Development conditions of approval.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied with approval of the waivers in 
Request H. 
Explanation of Finding: Proposed lot sizes, widths, shapes and orientations are 
appropriate for the proposed single-family residential development. Lots will meet the 
criteria of the PDR-4 zone with the approval of waivers to the side and rear yard 
setbacks as proposed in Request H. The proposed tentative subdivision plat is for 
residential lots that will be served by the public sewer system. The land division enables 
development consistent with the proposed Stage II Final Plan (Request D). 

 
Minimum Street Frontage 
Subsection 4.237 (.06) 
 

E25. Review Criteria: “The division of land shall be such that each lot shall have a minimum frontage 
on a street or private drive, as specified in the standards of the relative zoning districts. This 
minimum frontage requirement shall apply with the following exceptions: 
A. A lot on the outer radius of a curved street or tract with a private drive, or facing the circular 

end of a cul-de-sac shall have frontage of not less than twenty-five (25) feet upon a street or 
tract with a private drive, measured on the arc. 

B. The Development Review Board may waive lot frontage requirements where in its judgment 
the waiver of frontage requirements will not have the effect of nullifying the intent and 
purpose of this regulation or if the Board determines that another standard is appropriate 
because of the characteristics of the overall development.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Each lot meets or exceeds the 35-foot minimum street frontage 
of lot as the required by the PDR-4 zone.  No waiver to the minimum street frontage is 
requested. 

 
Through Lots 
Subsection 4.237 (.07) 
 

E26. Review Criteria: “Through lots shall be avoided except where essential to provide separation of 
residential development from major traffic arteries or adjacent non-residential activity or to 
overcome specific disadvantages of topography and orientation. A planting screen easement of at 
least ten (10) feet, across which there shall be no access, may be required along the line of lots 
abutting such a traffic artery or other disadvantageous use.  Through lots with planting screens 
shall have a minimum average depth of one hundred (100) feet.  The Development Review Board 
may require assurance that such screened areas be maintained as specified in Section 4.176.”  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No through lots are proposed. Lots 1-5 are separated from 
Maxine Lane, a private drive, by Tracts ‘B’ and ‘C’.  

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 73 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 74 of 94 

Lot Side Lines 
Subsection 4.237 (.08) 
 

E27. Review Criteria: “The side lines of lots, as far as practicable for the purpose of the proposed 
development, shall run at right angles to the street or tract with a private drive upon which the 
lots face.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The side lines for the parcels run at or near a right angle to the 
street and the front lot lines. 

 
Large Lot Divisions 
Subsection 4.237 (.09) 
 

E28. Review Criteria: “In dividing tracts which at some future time are likely to be re-divided, the 
location of lot lines and other details of the layout shall be such that re-division may readily take 
place without violating the requirements of these regulations and without interfering with the 
orderly development of streets.  Restriction of buildings within future street locations shall be 
made a matter of record if the Development Review Board considers it necessary.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No future divisions of the proposed lots or tracts are planned. 

 
Building Line  
Subsections 4.237 (.10) 
 

E29. Review Criteria: The Planning Director or Development Review Board may establish special 
building setbacks to allow for the future redivision or other development of the property or for 
other reasons specified in the findings supporting the decision.  If special building setback lines 
are established for the land division, they shall be shown on the final plat.  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No future divisions of the proposed lots or tracts are planned. 
No special building setback lines are proposed or recommended. 

 
Build-to Line 
Subsections 4.237 (.11) 
 

E30. Review Criteria: The Planning Director or Development Review Board may establish special 
build-to lines for the development, as specified in the findings and conditions of approval for the 
decision.  If special build-to lines are established for the land division, they shall be shown on the 
final plat. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No future divisions of the proposed lots or tracts are planned. 
No special build-to lines are proposed or recommended. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 74 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 75 of 94 

Land for Public Purposes 
Subsection 4.237 (.12) 
 

E31. Review Criterion: “The Planning Director or Development Review Board may require property 
to be reserved for public acquisition, or irrevocably offered for dedication, for a specified period 
of time.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No property reservation is recommended as described in this 
subsection. 

 
Corner Lots 
Subsection 4.237 (.13) 
 

E32. Review Criterion: “Lots on street intersections shall have a corner radius of not less than ten (10) 
feet.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Lots 5 and 6 are located at a street intersection and have been 
designed with a corner radius that meets or exceeds the minimum corner radius of ten 
(10) feet. 

 
Lots of Record 
 

Defining Lots of Record 
Section 4.250 
 

E33. Review Criteria: “All lots of record that have been legally created prior to the adoption of this 
ordinance shall be considered to be legal lots.  Tax lots created by the County Assessor are not 
necessarily legal lots of record.” 
Finding: This criterion can be met with the approval of Request B. 
Explanation of Finding: Request B seeks to create a legal lot of record, correcting a past 
error that created Tax Lot 2700 without establishing a legal lot. 

 
Public Improvements 
 

Improvements-Procedures 
Section 4.260 
 

E34. Review Criteria: “In addition to other requirements, improvements installed by the developer, 
either as a requirement of these regulations or at the developer's own option, shall conform to the 
requirements of this Code and improvement standards and specifications of the City.  The 
improvements shall be installed in accordance with the City's Public Works Standards.” 
Finding: These criteria will be satisfied with Condition of Approval PF1. 
Explanation of Finding: All improvements will be required to conform to the Public 
Works Standards. 

 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 75 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 76 of 94 

Improvements-Requirements 
Section 4.262 
 

E35. Review Criteria: This section establishes requirements for a number of different improvements 
including curbs, sidewalks, sanitary sewers, drainage, underground utility and service facilities, 
streetlight standards, street signs, monuments, and water. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Conformance with these requirements will be ensured through 
the Engineering Division’s, and Building Division’s where applicable, permit and 
inspection process. 

 
Request F: DB15-0112 Site Design Review 

 
Objectives of Site Design Review 
 

Proper Functioning of the Site 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) A. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

F1. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 
objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Assure that Site Development Plans 
are designed in a manner that insures proper functioning of the site” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The park and landscape area has been professionally designed 
with significant thought on to make the site functional and safe. In addition, by virtue of 
satisfying applicable functional criteria as part of the Stage II Final Plan approval the 
area can be found to be designed to ensure proper function. 

 
High Quality Visual Environment 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) A. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

F2. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 
objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Assure that Site Development Plans 
are designed in a manner that ... maintains a high quality visual environment” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Professional landscaping of the streetscape and open space 
tracts illustrates the professional design of the layout of the subdivision meeting City 
standards supports a high quality visual environment. 

 
Encourage Originality, Flexibility, and Innovation 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) B. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

F3. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 
objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Encourage originality, flexibility and 
innovation in site planning and development, including the architecture, landscaping and 
graphic design of said development;” 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 76 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 77 of 94 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The design allows for a variety of plants allowing for 
originality and flexibility in landscape design. 

 
Discourage Inharmonious Development 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) C. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

F4. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 
objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Discourage monotonous, drab, 
unsightly, dreary and inharmonious developments;” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As indicated in Finding E2 above the professional unique 
design of the landscaping and subdivision layout support a high quality visual 
environment and thus prevent monotonous, drab, unsightly, dreary development.  

 
Proper Site Relationships 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) D. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

F5. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 
objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Conserve the City's natural beauty 
and visual character and charm by assuring that structures, signs and other improvements are 
properly related to their sites,” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A professional site specific design has been developed that 
carefully considers the relationship of the street and homes to the open space and street 
scape.  

 
Proper Relationships with Surroundings 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) D. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

F6. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 
objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Conserve the City's natural beauty 
and visual character and charm by assuring that structures, signs and other improvements are 
properly related ... to surrounding sites and structures,” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A professional site specific design has been developed that 
carefully considers the relationship of the street, homes, open space, and pedestrian 
connectivity to the adjacent existing residential and planned industrial development.  

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 77 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 78 of 94 

Regard to Natural Aesthetics 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) D. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

F7. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 
objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Conserve the City's natural beauty 
and visual character and charm ... with due regard to the aesthetic qualities of the natural terrain 
and landscaping” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed residential development will redevelop an aged 
and neglected tennis court and clubhouse. A professionally designed landscape is being 
installed along the streets and in the open space and storm water facilities consistent 
with City landscaping standards to further increase the natural and landscaping 
aesthetic of the project area. 

 
Protect and Enhance City’s Appeal 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) E. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

F8. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 
objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Protect and enhance the City's 
appeal and thus support and stimulate business and industry and promote the desirability of 
investment and occupancy in business, commercial and industrial purposes;” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Redeveloping the subject site with professionally designed 
streetscape and open space and single-family homes will enhance the design of the 
subdivision and thus the appeal as part of the City. 

 
Stabilize Property Values/Prevent Blight 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) F. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

F9. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 
objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Stabilize and improve property 
values and prevent blighted areas and, thus, increase tax revenues;” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed development will redevelop a site that was 
developed in the late 1980s but never utilized and maintained as originally intended. 
Over the years the site has fallen into a state of disrepair. The proposed development 
will create a pleasant residential neighborhood free from blight. 

 
Adequate Public Facilities 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) G. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

F10. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 
objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Insure that adequate public facilities 
are available to serve development as it occurs and that proper attention is given to site planning 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 78 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 79 of 94 

and development so as to not adversely impact the orderly, efficient and economic provision of 
public facilities and services.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All necessary public facilities are available and have adequate 
capacity to serve the site. 

 
Pleasing Environments and Behavior 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) H. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

F11. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 
objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Achieve the beneficial influence of 
pleasant environments for living and working on behavioral patterns and, thus, decrease the cost 
of governmental services and reduce opportunities for crime through careful consideration of 
physical design and site layout under defensible space guidelines that clearly define all areas as 
either public, semi-private, or private, provide clear identity of structures and opportunities for 
easy surveillance of the site that maximize resident control of behavior -- particularly crime;” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant aims to create a pleasing recreation and open 
space area to be a pleasant environment supportive of positive behavioral patterns. 

 
Civic Pride and Community Spirit 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) I. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

F12. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 
objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Foster civic pride and community 
spirit so as to improve the quality and quantity of citizen participation in local government and in 
community growth, change and improvements;” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The landscaping aims to contribute to a subdivision where a 
pleasing environment where stability and pride of place contribute to individuals desire 
and ability to participate in civic activities. 

 
Favorable Environment for Residents 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) J. and Subsection 4.421 (.03) 
 

F13. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 
objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Sustain the comfort, health, 
tranquility and contentment of residents and attract new residents by reason of the City's 
favorable environment and, thus, to promote and protect the peace, health and welfare of the 
City.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The landscaping aims to create an attractive residential 
development as an option for existing Wilsonville residents as well as attract new 
residents. 

 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 79 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 80 of 94 

Jurisdiction and Power of the DRB for Site Design Review 
 

Development Review Board Jurisdiction 
Section 4.420 
 

F14. Review Criteria: The section states the jurisdiction and power of the Development Review Board 
in relation to site design review including the application of the section, that development is 
required in accord with plans, and variance information. 
Finding: These criteria will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDF 1. 
Details of Finding: A condition of approval has been included to ensure construction, 
site development, and landscaping are carried out in substantial accord with the 
Development Review Board approved plans, drawings, sketches, and other documents. 
No building permits will be granted prior to development review board approval. No 
variances are requested from site development requirements. 

 
Design Standards 
 

Use of Design Standards 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) 
 

F15. Review Criteria: “The following standards shall be utilized by the Board in reviewing the plans, 
drawings, sketches and other documents required for Site Design Review.  These standards are 
intended to provide a frame of reference for the applicant in the development of site and building 
plans as well as a method of review for the Board.  These standards shall not be regarded as 
inflexible requirements.  They are not intended to discourage creativity, invention and 
innovation.  The specifications of one or more particular architectural styles is not included in 
these standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has provided sufficient information demonstrating 
compliance with the standards of this subsection (Exhibit B1, pages 70-72). Additional 
findings are provided in findings F16 through F19 below.  

 
Preservation of Landscaping 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) A. 
 

F16. Review Criteria: “The landscape shall be preserved in its natural state, insofar as practicable, by 
minimizing tree and soils removal, and any grade changes shall be in keeping with the general 
appearance of neighboring developed areas.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed site is relatively flat and has been previously 
developed with a tennis court and clubhouse in the late 1980s that has since been 
neglected. Many of the existing trees on site have been deemed to be in poor condition. 
The proposed residential development has been designed to preserve the 4 Red maple 
trees that have been identified as being in good condition by the Arborist and blend into 
the natural environment as much as possible.   

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 80 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 81 of 94 

Surface Water Drainage 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) D. 
 

F17. Review Criteria: “Special attention shall be given to proper site surface drainage so that removal 
of surface waters will not adversely affect neighboring properties of the public storm drainage 
system.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The drainage has been professionally designed showing the proper 
attention has been paid as shown on sheet 7 of Exhibit B2. 

 
Above Ground Utility Installations 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) E. 
 

F18. Review Criteria: “Any utility installations above ground shall be located so as to have a 
harmonious relation to neighboring properties and site.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No above ground utility installations are proposed. 

 
Screening and Buffering of Special Features 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) G. 
 

F19. Review Criteria: “Exposed storage areas, exposed machinery installations, surface areas, truck 
loading areas, utility buildings and structures and similar accessory areas and structures shall be 
subject to such setbacks, screen plantings or other screening methods as shall be required to 
prevent their being incongruous with the existing or contemplated environment and its 
surrounding properties.  Standards for screening and buffering are contained in Section 4.176.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No additional screening is required for any of the listed special 
features.  

 
Applicability of Design Standards 
Subsection 4.421 (.02) 
 

F20. Review Criteria: “The standards of review outlined in Sections (a) through (g) above shall also 
apply to all accessory buildings, structures, exterior signs and other site features, however related 
to the major buildings or structures.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Design standards have been applied to the proposed streetscape and 
open space area, which are the portions of the proposed development subject to site 
design review.  

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 81 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 82 of 94 

Conditions of Approval 
Subsection 4.421 (.05) 
 

F21. Review Criterion: “The Board may attach certain development or use conditions in granting an 
approval that are determined necessary to insure the proper and efficient functioning of the 
development, consistent with the intent of the Comprehensive Plan, allowed densities and the 
requirements of this Code.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No additional conditions of approval are recommended to ensure 
the proper and efficient functioning of the development. 

 
Color or Materials Requirements 
Subsection 4.421 (.06) 
 

F22. Review Criterion: “The Board or Planning Director may require that certain paints or colors of 
materials be used in approving applications.  Such requirements shall only be applied when site 
development or other land use applications are being reviewed by the City.”   
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: A color and materials board is not required for landscape plans. 

 
Site Design Review Submission Requirements 
 

Submission Requirements 
Section 4.440 
 

F23. Review Criteria: “A prospective applicant for a building or other permit who is subject to site 
design review shall submit to the Planning Department, in addition to the requirements of 
Section 4.035, the following:” Listed A through F. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has provided a sufficiently detailed landscape plan 
and street tree plan to review the streetscape and park area subject to site design review.  

 
Time Limit on Site Design Review Approvals 
 

Void after 2 Years 
Section 4.442 
 

F24. Review Criterion: “Site design review approval shall be void after two (2) years unless a building 
permit has been issued and substantial development pursuant thereto has taken place; or an 
extension is granted by motion of the Board. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The Applicant has indicated that they will pursue development 
within two (2) years and it is understood that the approval will expire after 2 years if a 
building permit hasn’t been issued unless an extension has been granted by the board. 

 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 82 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 83 of 94 

Installation of Landscaping 
 

Landscape Installation or Bonding 
Subsection 4.450 (.01) 
 

F25. Review Criterion: “All landscaping required by this section and approved by the Board shall be 
installed prior to issuance of occupancy permits, unless security equal to one hundred and ten 
percent (110%) of the cost of the landscaping as determined by the Planning Director is filed with 
the City assuring such installation within six (6) months of occupancy.  "Security" is cash, 
certified check, time certificates of deposit, assignment of a savings account or such other 
assurance of completion as shall meet with the approval of the City Attorney.  In such cases the 
developer shall also provide written authorization, to the satisfaction of the City Attorney, for the 
City or its designees to enter the property and complete the landscaping as approved.  If the 
installation of the landscaping is not completed within the six-month period, or within an 
extension of time authorized by the Board, the security may be used by the City to complete the 
installation.  Upon completion of the installation, any portion of the remaining security deposited 
with the City shall be returned to the applicant.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDF 2. 
Details of Finding: The condition of approval will assure installation or appropriate 
security. 

 
Approved Landscape Plan 
Subsection 4.450 (.02) 
 

F26. Review Criterion: “Action by the City approving a proposed landscape plan shall be binding 
upon the applicant.  Substitution of plant materials, irrigation systems, or other aspects of an 
approved landscape plan shall not be made without official action of the Planning Director or 
Development Review Board, as specified in this Code.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDF 3. 
Details of Finding: The condition of approval shall provide ongoing assurance this 
criterion is met. 

 
Landscape Maintenance and Watering 
Subsection 4.450 (.03) 
 

F27. Review Criterion: “All landscaping shall be continually maintained, including necessary 
watering, weeding, pruning, and replacing, in a substantially similar manner as originally 
approved by the Board, unless altered with Board approval.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDF 4. 
Details of Finding: The condition of approval will ensure landscaping is continually 
maintained in accordance with this subsection. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 83 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 84 of 94 

Modifications of Landscaping 
Subsection 4.450 (.04) 
 

F28. Review Criterion: “If a property owner wishes to add landscaping for an existing development, 
in an effort to beautify the property, the Landscape Standards set forth in Section 4.176 shall not 
apply and no Plan approval or permit shall be required.  If the owner wishes to modify or 
remove landscaping that has been accepted or approved through the City’s development review 
process, that removal or modification must first be approved through the procedures of Section 
4.010.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDF 5. 
Details of Finding: The condition of approval shall provide ongoing assurance that this 
criterion is met by preventing modification or removal without the appropriate City 
review. 

 
Natural Features and Other Resources 
 

Protection 
Section 4.171 
 

F29. Review Criterion: This section provides for the protection of a number of natural features and 
other resources including: general terrain preparation, hillsides, trees and wooded areas, high 
voltage powerline easements and rights of way and petroleum pipeline easements, earth 
movement hazard areas, soil hazard areas, historic resources, and cultural resources. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: There are no natural features or other resources identified in this 
section on the subject site. 

 
Landscaping 
 

Landscape Standards Code Compliance 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) B. 
 

F30. Review Criterion: “All landscaping and screening required by this Code must comply with all of 
the provisions of this Section, unless specifically waived or granted a Variance as otherwise 
provided in the Code.  The landscaping standards are minimum requirements; higher standards 
can be substituted as long as fence and vegetation-height limitations are met.  Where the 
standards set a minimum based on square footage or linear footage, they shall be interpreted as 
applying to each complete or partial increment of area or length” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No waivers or variances to landscape standards have been 
requested. Thus all landscaping and screening must comply with standards of this 
section. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 84 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 85 of 94 

Intent and Required Materials 
Subsections 4.176 (.02) C. through I. 
 

F31. Review Criteria: These subsections identify the various landscaping standards, including the 
intent of where they should be applied, and the required materials. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The general landscape standard has been applied throughout 
different landscape areas of the site and landscape materials are proposed to meet each 
standard in the different areas. Site Design Review is being reviewed concurrently with 
the Stage II Final Plan which includes an analysis of the functional application of the 
landscaping standards (see Finding D92). 

 
Landscape Area and Locations 
Subsection 4.176 (.03) 
 

F32. Review Criteria: “Not less than fifteen percent (15%) of the total lot area, shall be landscaped 
with vegetative plant materials.  The ten percent (10%) parking area landscaping required by 
section 4.155.03(B)(1) is included in the fifteen percent (15%) total lot landscaping requirement.  
Landscaping shall be located in at least three separate and distinct areas of the lot, one of which 
must be in the contiguous frontage area.  Planting areas shall be encouraged adjacent to 
structures.  Landscaping shall be used to define, soften or screen the appearance of buildings and 
off-street parking areas.  Materials to be installed shall achieve a balance between various plant 
forms, textures, and heights. The installation of native plant materials shall be used whenever 
practicable.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Consistent with the proposed Stage II Final Plan for the site, 
applicant’s sheet L1 through L3 indicates landscaping will cover well in excess of 15% of 
the properties, not including the private landscaping on individual lots. Landscaping is 
proposed in a variety of different areas including streetscapes throughout the 
development.  A wide variety of plants have been proposed to achieve a professional 
design.  

 
Buffering and Screening 
Subsection 4.176 (.04) 
 

F33. Review Criteria: “Additional to the standards of this subsection, the requirements of the Section 
4.137.5 (Screening and Buffering Overlay Zone) shall also be applied, where applicable. 
A. All intensive or higher density developments shall be screened and buffered from less 

intense or lower density developments. 
B. Activity areas on commercial and industrial sites shall be buffered and screened from 

adjacent residential areas.  Multi-family developments shall be screened and buffered from 
single-family areas. 

C. All exterior, roof and ground mounted, mechanical and utility equipment shall be screened 
from ground level off-site view from adjacent streets or properties. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 85 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 86 of 94 

D. All outdoor storage areas shall be screened from public view, unless visible storage has been 
approved for the site by the Development Review Board or Planning Director acting on a 
development permit.  

E. In all cases other than for industrial uses in industrial zones, landscaping shall be designed to 
screen loading areas and docks, and truck parking. 

F. In any zone any fence over six (6) feet high measured from soil surface at the outside of 
fenceline shall require Development Review Board approval.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No screening is required. 

 
Shrubs and Groundcover Materials 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) A. 
 

F34. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes plant material and planting requirements for shrubs 
and ground cover. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDF 5. 
Details of Finding: The condition of approval requires that the detailed requirements of 
this subsection are met.  

 
Plant Materials-Trees 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) B. 
 

F35. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes plant material requirements for trees. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDF 6. 
Details of Finding: The plants material requirements for trees will be met as follows: 
• The condition of approval requires all trees to be B&B (Balled and Burlapped) 
• The condition of approval requires all plant materials to conform in size and grade 

to “American Standard for Nursery Stock” current edition.” 
• The applicant’s planting plan lists tree sizes meeting requirements. 

 
Types of Plant Species 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) E. 
 

F36. Review Criteria: This subsection discusses use of existing landscaping or native vegetation, 
selection of plant materials, and prohibited plant materials. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has provided sufficient information in their landscape 
plan (sheet L1 through L3) showing the proposed landscape design meets the standards 
of this subsection.  

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 86 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 87 of 94 

Tree Credit 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) F. 
 

F37. Review Criteria: “Existing trees that are in good health as certified by an arborist and are not 
disturbed during construction may count for landscaping tree credit as follows:  
Existing trunk diameter          Number of Tree Credits 
18 to 24  inches in diameter    3 tree credits  
25 to 31 inches in diameter   4 tree credits 
32 inches or greater    5 tree credits:” 
Maintenance requirements listed 1. through 2. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant is not requesting any of preserved trees be counted as 
tree credits pursuant to this subsection. 

 
Exceeding Plant Standards 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) G. 
 

F38. Review Criterion: “Landscape materials that exceed the minimum standards of this Section are 
encouraged, provided that height and vision clearance requirements are met.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The selected landscape materials do not violate any height or visions 
clearance requirements. 

 
Landscape Installation and Maintenance 
Subsection 4.176 (.07) 
 

F39. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes installation and maintenance standards for 
landscaping. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDF 7. 
Details of Finding: A condition of approval is included to ensure that the installation 
and maintenance standards are met. 

 
Landscape Plans 
Subsection 4.176 (.09) 
 

F40. Review Criterion: “Landscape plans shall be submitted showing all existing and proposed 
landscape areas.  Plans must be drawn to scale and show the type, installation size, number and 
placement of materials.  Plans shall include a plant material list. Plants are to be identified by 
both their scientific and common names.  The condition of any existing plants and the proposed 
method of irrigation are also to be indicated.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Applicant’s sheets L1 through L3 in Exhibit B2 provides the required 
information. 

 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 87 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 88 of 94 

Completion of Landscaping 
Subsection 4.176 (.10) 
 

F41. Review Criterion: “The installation of plant materials may be deferred for a period of time 
specified by the Board or Planning Director acting on an application, in order to avoid hot 
summer or cold winter periods, or in response to water shortages.  In these cases, a temporary 
permit shall be issued, following the same procedures specified in subsection (.07)(C)(3), above, 
regarding temporary irrigation systems.  No final Certificate of Occupancy shall be granted until 
an adequate bond or other security is posted for the completion of the landscaping, and the City 
is given written authorization to enter the property and install the required landscaping, in the 
event that the required landscaping has not been installed. The form of such written 
authorization shall be submitted to the City Attorney for review.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has not requested to defer installation of plant 
materials.  

 
Request G: DB15-0080 Type C Tree Plan 

 
Type C Tree Removal-General 
 

Tree Related Site Access 
Subsection 4.600.50 (.03) A. 

 

G1. Review Criterion: “By submission of an application, the applicant shall be deemed to have 
authorized City representatives to have access to applicant’s property as may be needed to verify 
the information provided, to observe site conditions, and if a permit is granted, to verify that 
terms and conditions of the permit are followed.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: It is understood the City has access to the property to verify 
information regarding trees. 

 
Review Authority 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.03) B. 
 

G2. Review Criterion: “Type C.  Where the site is proposed for development necessitating site plan 
review or plat approval by the Development Review Board, the Development Review Board shall 
be responsible for granting or denying the application for a Tree Removal Permit, and that 
decision may be subject to affirmance, reversal or modification by the City Council, if 
subsequently reviewed by the Council.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The requested removal is connected to site plan review by the 
Development Review Board for new development. The tree removal is thus being 
reviewed by the DRB. 

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 88 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 89 of 94 

Conditions of Approval 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.06) A. 
 

G3. Review Criterion: “Conditions.  Attach to the granting of the permit any reasonable conditions 
considered necessary by the reviewing authority including, but not limited to, the recording of 
any plan or agreement approved under this subchapter, to ensure that the intent of this Chapter 
will be fulfilled and to minimize damage to, encroachment on or interference with natural 
resources and processes within wooded areas;” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No additional conditions are recommended pursuant to this 
subsection. 

 
Completion of Operation 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.06) B. 
 

G4. Review Criterion: “Whenever an application for a Type B, C or D Tree Removal Permit is 
granted, the reviewing authority shall:” “Fix a reasonable time to complete tree removal 
operations;” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: It is understood the tree removal will be completed by the time 
construction of the subdivision is completed, which is a reasonable time frame for tree 
removal. 

 
Security for Permit Compliance 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.06) C. 
 

G5. Review Criterion: “Whenever an application for a Type B, C or D Tree Removal Permit is 
granted, the reviewing authority shall:” “Require the Type C permit grantee to file with the City 
a cash or corporate surety bond or irrevocable bank letter of credit in an amount determined 
necessary by the City to ensure compliance with Tree Removal Permit conditions and this 
Chapter.  
1. This requirement may be waived by the Planning Director if the tree removal must be 

completed before a plat is recorded, and the applicant has complied with WC 4.264(1) of this 
Code.” 

Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No bond is anticipated to be required to ensure compliance with the 
tree removal plan as a bond is required for overall landscaping. 

 
Tree Removal Standards 
Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) 
 

G6. Review Criteria: “Except where an application is exempt, or where otherwise noted, the 
following standards shall govern the review of an application for a Type A, B, C or D Tree 
Removal Permit:” Listed A. through J. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 89 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 90 of 94 

Details of Finding: The standards of this subsection are met as follows: 
• Standard for the Significant Resource Overlay Zone: There is no SROZ on the subject 

site. 
• Preservation and Conservation: The applicant has taken tree preservation into 

consideration, and has limited tree removal to trees that are necessary to remove for 
development. 

• Development Alternatives: No significant wooded areas or trees would be preserved 
by design alternatives. 

• Land Clearing: Land clearing is not proposed, and will not be a result of this 
development application. 

• Residential Development: The proposed residential development has been designed 
to preserve the 4 Red maple trees that have been identified as being in good 
condition by the Arborist and blend into the natural environment as much as 
possible.  

• Compliance with Statutes and Ordinances: The necessary tree replacement and 
protection is planned according to the requirements of tree preservation and 
protection ordinance. 

• Relocation or Replacement: Tree removal is limited to where it is necessary for 
construction or to address nuisances or where the health of the trees warrants 
removal. 

• Limitation: A tree survey has been provided (Exhibit B1, Item 8).  
• Additional Standards: A tree survey has been provided, and no utilities are 

proposed to be located where they would cause adverse environmental 
consequences. 

 
Review Process 
Subsection 4.610.40 (.01) 
 

G7. Review Criteria: “Approval to remove any trees on property as part of a site development 
application may be granted in a Type C permit.  A Type C permit application shall be reviewed 
by the standards of this subchapter and all applicable review criteria of Chapter 4.  Application of 
the standards of this section shall not result in a reduction of square footage or loss of density, but 
may require an applicant to modify plans to allow for buildings of greater height.  If an applicant 
proposes to remove trees and submits a landscaping plan as part of a site development 
application, an application for a Tree Removal Permit shall be included.  The Tree Removal 
Permit application will be reviewed in the Stage II development review process, and any plan 
changes made that affect trees after Stage II review of a development application shall be subject 
to review by DRB.  Where mitigation is required for tree removal, such mitigation may be 
considered as part of the landscaping requirements as set forth in this Chapter.  Tree removal 
shall not commence until approval of the required Stage II application and the expiration of the 
appeal period following that decision.  If a decision approving a Type C permit is appealed, no 
trees shall be removed until the appeal has been settled.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: An arborist report has been provided (Exhibit B1, Item 8).  The 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 90 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 91 of 94 

arborist report documents the condition, viability, and which trees will be retained on 
the site and which will be removed because of construction or condition on the project 
site. The inventory that was provided by the arborist lists tree species, size, condition 
and recommended treatment. The recommended treatments were based on tree 
characteristics as well as location within the site. The plan is being reviewed 
concurrently with the Stage II Final Plan (Request D). 

 
Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
Section 4.610.40 (.02) 
 

G8. Review Criteria: “The applicant must provide ten copies of a Tree Maintenance and Protection 
Plan completed by an arborist that contains the following information:” Listed A. 1. through A. 7. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has submitted the necessary copies of a Tree 
Maintenance and Protection Plan (Exhibit B1, Item 8). 

 
Replacement and Mitigation 
 

Tree Replacement Requirement 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.01) 
 

G9. Review Criterion: “A Type B or C Tree Removal Permit grantee shall replace or relocate each 
removed tree having six (6) inches or greater d.b.h. within one year of removal.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The arborists report and tree inventory identifies 22 trees that are 6 
inches or greater d.b.h., 17 of which are on the subject property. The arborist 
recommends removal of 12 of the 17 trees due to poor condition or direct conflicts with 
the proposed development. Five trees are proposed for retention.  At the time of the 
report, the applicant had not acquired permission to extend SW Roger Boulevard and 
consequently, three trees off-site trees, number 16-18 in the tree inventory, are proposed 
for retention that will need to be removed for construction of SW Roger Boulevard, 
increasing the total number of trees proposed for removal to 15.  The applicant proposes 
to install 22 new trees on site exceeding the one to one ratio; 11 street trees and 11 open 
space trees, as shown on the Planting Plan (Exhibit B2, Sheet L1). 

 
Basis for Determining Replacement 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.02) 
 

G10. Review Criteria: “The permit grantee shall replace removed trees on a basis of one (1) tree 
replanted for each tree removed.  All replacement trees must measure two inches (2”) or more in 
diameter.”  
Finding: These criteria are or will be satisfied with Condition of Approval PDG 3. 
Details of Finding: As proposed, replacement trees meet the minimum caliper 
requirement (Exhibit B2, Sheet L1).  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 91 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 92 of 94 

Replacement Tree Requirements 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.03) 
 

G11. Review Criteria: “A mitigation or replacement tree plan shall be reviewed by the City prior to 
planting and according to the standards of this subsection. 
A. Replacement trees shall have shade potential or other characteristics comparable to the 

removed trees, shall be appropriately chosen for the site from an approved tree species list 
supplied by the City, and shall be state Department of Agriculture Nursery Grade No. 1 or 
better.  

B. Replacement trees must be staked, fertilized and mulched, and shall be guaranteed by the 
permit grantee or the grantee’s successors-in-interest for two (2) years after the planting date. 

C. A “guaranteed” tree that dies or becomes diseased during that time shall be replaced. 
D. Diversity of tree species shall be encouraged where trees will be replaced, and diversity of 

species shall also be maintained where essential to preserving a wooded area or habitat.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDG 4. 
Details of Finding: The condition ensures the relevant requirements are met. 

 
Replacement Tree Stock Requirements 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.04) 
 

G12. Review Criteria: “All trees to be planted shall consist of nursery stock that meets requirements of 
the American Association of Nurserymen (AAN) American Standards for Nursery Stock (ANSI 
Z60.1) for top grade.” 
Finding: These criteria will be satisfied with Condition of Approval PDF 6.  
Details of Finding: A condition of approval is included to ensure that these standards 
are met. 

 
Replacement Trees Locations 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.05) 
 

G13. Review Criteria: “The City shall review tree relocation or replacement plans in order to provide 
optimum enhancement, preservation and protection of wooded areas.  To the extent feasible and 
desirable, trees shall be relocated or replaced on-site and within the same general area as trees 
removed.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant proposes to mitigate for all removed trees on site and 
in the appropriate locations for the proposed development.  

 
  

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 92 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 93 of 94 

Protection of Preserved Trees 
 

Tree Protection during Construction 
Section 4.620.10 
 

G14. Review Criteria: “Where tree protection is required by a condition of development under 
Chapter 4 or by a Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan approved under this subchapter, the 
following standards apply:” Listed A. through D. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Conditions of Approval PDG 
5 and PDG 6. 
Details of Finding: A tree protection plan is included in the Arborist’s report (Exhibit 
B1, item 8). The conditions of approval assure the applicable requirements of this Section 
will be met. 

 
Request H: DB15-0082 Waivers 

 
Waivers 1 and 2: Reduce Side Yard Setback from 7 feet to 5 feet and Rear Yard 
Setback from 20 feet to 15 feet for Two or More Stories 
 
Waiver of Typical Development Standards 
Subsection 4.118 (.03) A. 
 

H1. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes that “notwithstanding the provisions of Section 
4.140 to the contrary, the Development Review Board, in order to implement the purpose and 
objectives of Section 4.140, and based on findings of fact supported by the record” may waive a 
number of typical development standards including height and yard requirements. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Two waivers are proposed to allow a 5 foot side yard setback rather 
than a 7 foot setback and a 15 foot rear yard setback rather than a 20 foot setback for 
homes 2 stories or greater. A finding has been made regarding implementation of the 
purpose and objectives of Section 4.140. See below. 

 
Purpose and Objectives of Planned Development Regulations 
Subsection 4.140 (.01) B. 
 

H2. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes the purpose of the Planned Development 
Regulations which are as follows: 
• To take advantage of advances in technology, architectural design, and functional land use 

design: 
• To recognize the problems of population density, distribution and circulation and to allow a 

deviation from rigid established patterns of land uses, but controlled by defined policies and 
objectives detailed in the comprehensive plan; 

• To produce a comprehensive development equal to or better than that resulting from 
traditional lot land use development. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 93 of 101



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report June 30, 2016 Exhibit A1 
Ash Park 12-Lot Single-Family Subdivision at 8195 SW Maxine Lane 
AR15-0088, DB15-0075 through DB15-0080, and DB15-0082 Page 94 of 94 

• To permit flexibility of design in the placement and uses of buildings and open spaces, 
circulation facilities and off-street parking areas, and to more efficiently utilize potentials of 
sites characterized by special features of geography, topography, size or shape or 
characterized by problems of flood hazard, severe soil limitations, or other hazards; 

• To permit flexibility in the height of buildings while maintaining a ratio of site area to 
dwelling units that is consistent with the densities established by the Comprehensive Plan 
and the intent of the Plan to provide open space, outdoor living area and buffering of low-
density development. 

• To allow development only where necessary and adequate services and facilities are 
available or provisions have been made to provide these services and facilities. 

• To permit mixed uses where it can clearly be demonstrated to be of benefit to the users and 
can be shown to be consistent with the intent of the Comprehensive Plan. 

• To allow flexibility and innovation in adapting to changes in the economic and technological 
climate. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Pursuant to Subsection 4.118 (.03) A. waivers must implement or 
better implement the purpose and objectives listed in this subsection. The side yard 
setback waiver supports the necessary flexibility in building design to allow for 
variation in design of a small subdivision. As previously discussed, the proposed site 
was originally part of the Ash Meadows Master Plan which envisioned a 700 unit 
development on 70 acres. Since the construction of the first phase of attached 
condominium units south of the subject site, a majority of the remaining undeveloped 
property was sold to Mentor Graphics, leaving the subject site a remnant parcel separate 
from both Ash Meadows and Mentor Graphics. The applicant asserts, and staff agrees, 
that the requested setback waiver is consistent with, or at least not in conflict with, the 
building arrangements in Ash Meadows. Additionally, given the proposed subdivision’s 
location between the existing attached condominiums on the south and the planned 
industrial development to the north, the need for greater setbacks and buffering from 
lower density is not an issue. Finally, without the requested relief from the required 
setbacks, the applicant asserts that 2-3 lots would be lost if the subdivision were 
redesigned to meet the setback requirements, reducing the density below the minimum 
requirement. See also applicant’s findings on pages 33 through 36 of their narrative in 
Exhibit B1. 
 

Waiver 3: Reduce General Open Space Less Than 25% 
 

H3. As discussed in Finding C10 above, staff has determined that the applicant did not 
calculate the amount of open space property. As proposed, the 25% open space 
requirement is being met and exceeded with the proposed development. No waiver is 
required. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 94 of 101



From: Ben Altman
To: Randall, Connie
Cc: Randy@BrownstoneHomes.net
Subject: Ash Park - Status Update & Extension of 120 Day Review
Date: Wednesday, March 30, 2016 1:11:00 PM

Connie:
 
In response to your status check on Ash Park here’s where we are.
 
We have finally secured the Agreement with Mentor Graphics for the extension of Roger Blvd.,
 which will provide for public street access to the project.  We have also secured the Access
 Easement from the Ash Meadows HOA for access via Maxine Lane, a private street owned by the
 HOA.
 
Further, with the City’s adoption of the new storm drainage design standards, we have had to
 engage Geo-Pacific to conduct an Infiltration Analysis for the site.  Once we have that, we will be
 able to update our Preliminary Storm Drainage Report, and make appropriate revisions to the
 Preliminary Plat and on-site storm drainage system, including picking up drainage from Roger Blvd.   
 
Once we have the storm design update, we can make any necessary revisions to the preliminary
 plat, and revise the Compliance Narrative accordingly, for re-submittal for “Completeness.”
 
I don’t, yet, have a schedule for the Geo-Tech,  so I’m not sure exactly when we will be resubmitting.
 My best guess, at this time, would be 2-3 week from now, mid-April. 
 
So, given that, we will need to waive the 120 day review limit in order to allow time to complete the
 revisions, and for the DRB hearing, which I would estimate could be in June or July.
 
Thanks, I look forward to working with you on this one…
 
 
Ben Altman  SENIOR PLANNER  I   PROJECT MANAGER   l  D 971.708.6258                                              
PIONEER DESIGN GROUP, INC.   CIVIL  l  LAND USE PLANNING  l  SURVEY
9020 SW Washington Square Rd.   Suite 170   Portland, OR 97223   P 503.643.8286   pd-grp.com
 
Disclaimer:
This e-mail may contain proprietary, confidential, and/or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or have received this
 e-mail in error), please notify the sender immediately by email or telephone (503-643-8286) and delete this message along with any
 attachments without copying or disclosing the contents. Any unauthorized copying, disclosure or distribution of the material in this e-
mail is strictly forbidden. Pioneer Design Group, Inc. (PDG) shall not be liable for any changes made to the electronic data transferred.
 Distribution of electronic data to others is prohibited without the express written consent of PDG.

 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 95 of 101

Exhibit B3 - Email From B. Altman

mailto:baltman@pd-grp.com
mailto:randall@ci.wilsonville.or.us
mailto:Randy@BrownstoneHomes.net


Exhibit C1  
Public Works Plan Submittal Requirements and Other Engineering Requirements Page 1 

Exhibit C1 
Public Works Plan Submittal Requirements 

and Other Engineering Requirements 
 

 
1. All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in conformance to the 

City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards - 2015. 

2. Applicant shall submit insurance requirements to the City of Wilsonville in the following 
amounts: 

Coverage (Aggregate, accept where noted) Limit 
Commercial General Liability:  
 General Aggregate (per project)  $3,000,000 
 General Aggregate (per occurrence) $2,000,000 
 Fire Damage (any one fire) $50,000 
 Medical Expense (any one person) $10,000 

Business Automobile Liability Insurance:  
 Each Occurrence $1,000,000 
 Aggregate $2,000,000 

Workers Compensation Insurance $500,000 

3. No construction of, or connection to, any existing or proposed public utility/improvements 
will be permitted until all plans are approved by Staff, all fees have been paid, all necessary 
permits, right-of-way and easements have been obtained and Staff is notified a minimum of 
24 hours in advance. 

4. All public utility/improvement plans submitted for review shall be based upon a 22”x 34” 
format and shall be prepared in accordance with the City of Wilsonville Public Work’s 
Standards. 

5. Plans submitted for review shall meet the following general criteria: 

a. Utility improvements that shall be maintained by the public and are not contained 
within a public right-of-way shall be provided a maintenance access acceptable to the 
City. The public utility improvements shall be centered in a minimum 15-ft. wide public 
easement for single utilities and a minimum 20-ft wide public easement for two parallel 
utilities and shall be conveyed to the City on its dedication forms. 

b. Design of any public utility improvements shall be approved at the time of the issuance 
of a Public Works Permit.  Private utility improvements are subject to review and 
approval by the City Building Department. 

c. In the plan set for the PW Permit, existing utilities and features, and proposed new 
private utilities shall be shown in a lighter, grey print.  Proposed public improvements 
shall be shown in bolder, black print. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 96 of 101



Exhibit C1  
Public Works Plan Submittal Requirements and Other Engineering Requirements Page 2 

d. All elevations on design plans and record drawings shall be based on NAVD 88 Datum.   
e. All proposed on and off-site public/private utility improvements shall comply with the 

State of Oregon and the City of Wilsonville requirements and any other applicable 
codes. 

f. Design plans shall identify locations for street lighting, gas service, power lines, 
telephone poles, cable television, mailboxes and any other public or private utility 
within the general construction area. 

g. As per City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 615, all new gas, telephone, cable, fiber-optic 
and electric improvements etc. shall be installed underground.  Existing overhead 
utilities shall be undergrounded wherever reasonably possible. 

h. Any final site landscaping and signing shall not impede any proposed or existing 
driveway or interior maneuvering sight distance. 

i. Erosion Control Plan that conforms to City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 482. 
j. Existing/proposed right-of-way, easements and adjacent driveways shall be identified. 
k. All engineering plans shall be printed to PDF, combined to a single file, stamped and 

digitally signed by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of Oregon.  
l. All plans submitted for review shall be in sets of a digitally signed PDF and three 

printed sets.   

6. Submit plans in the following general format and order for all public works construction to 
be maintained by the City: 

a. Cover sheet 
b. City of Wilsonville construction note sheet 
c. General construction note sheet 
d. Existing conditions plan. 
e. Erosion control and tree protection plan. 
f. Site plan.  Include property line boundaries, water quality pond boundaries, sidewalk 

improvements, right-of-way (existing/proposed), easements (existing/proposed), and 
sidewalk and road connections to adjoining properties. 

g. Grading plan, with 1-foot contours. 
h. Composite utility plan; identify storm, sanitary, and water lines; identify storm and 

sanitary manholes. 
i. Detailed plans; show plan view and either profile view or provide i.e.’s at all utility 

crossings; include laterals in profile view or provide table with i.e.’s at crossings; vertical 
scale 1”= 5’, horizontal scale 1”= 20’ or 1”= 30’. 

j. Street plans. 
k. Storm sewer/drainage plans; number all lines, manholes, catch basins, and cleanouts for 

easier reference 
l. Water and sanitary sewer plans; plan; number all lines, manholes, and cleanouts for 

easier reference. 
m. Detailed plan for storm water detention facility (both plan and profile views), including 

water quality orifice diameter and manhole rim elevations.  Provide detail of inlet 
structure and energy dissipation device. Provide details of drain inlets, structures, and 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 97 of 101



Exhibit C1  
Public Works Plan Submittal Requirements and Other Engineering Requirements Page 3 

piping for outfall structure.  Note that although storm water detention facilities are 
typically privately maintained they will be inspected by engineering, and the plans must 
be part of the Public Works Permit set. 

n. Detailed plan for water quality facility (both plan and profile views).  Note that although 
storm water quality facilities are typically privately maintained they will be inspected by 
Natural Resources, and the plans must be part of the Public Works Permit set. 

o. Composite franchise utility plan. 
p. City of Wilsonville detail drawings. 
q. Illumination plan. 
r. Striping and signage plan. 
s. Landscape plan. 

7. Design engineer shall coordinate with the City in numbering the sanitary and stormwater 
sewer systems to reflect the City’s numbering system.  Video testing and sanitary manhole 
testing will refer to City’s numbering system.   

8. The applicant shall install, operate and maintain adequate erosion control measures in 
conformance with the standards adopted by the City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 482 
during the construction of any public/private utility and building improvements until such 
time as approved permanent vegetative materials have been installed. 

9. Applicant shall work with City’s Natural Resources office before disturbing any soil on the 
respective site.  If 5 or more acres of the site will be disturbed applicant shall obtain a 1200-C 
permit from the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.  If 1 to less than 5 acres of 
the site will be disturbed a 1200-CN permit from the City of Wilsonville is required. 

10. The applicant shall be in conformance with all stormwater and flow control requirements 
for the proposed development per the Public Works Standards. 

11. A storm water analysis prepared by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of 
Oregon shall be submitted for review and approval by the City. 

12. The applicant shall be in conformance with all water quality requirements for the proposed 
development per the Public Works Standards.  If a mechanical water quality system is used, 
prior to City acceptance of the project the applicant shall provide a letter from the system 
manufacturer stating that the system was installed per specifications and is functioning as 
designed. 

13. Storm water quality facilities shall have approved landscape planted and/or some other 
erosion control method installed and approved by the City of Wilsonville prior to streets 
and/or alleys being paved. 

14. The applicant shall contact the Oregon Water Resources Department and inform them of 
any existing wells located on the subject site. Any existing well shall be limited to irrigation 
purposes only.  Proper separation, in conformance with applicable State standards, shall be 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 98 of 101



Exhibit C1  
Public Works Plan Submittal Requirements and Other Engineering Requirements Page 4 

maintained between irrigation systems, public water systems, and public sanitary systems.  
Should the project abandon any existing wells, they shall be properly abandoned in 
conformance with State standards. 

15. All survey monuments on the subject site, or that may be subject to disturbance within the 
construction area, or the construction of any off-site improvements shall be adequately 
referenced and protected prior to commencement of any construction activity.  If the survey 
monuments are disturbed, moved, relocated or destroyed as a result of any construction, the 
project shall, at its cost, retain the services of a registered professional land surveyor in the 
State of Oregon to restore the monument to its original condition and file the necessary 
surveys as required by Oregon State law.  A copy of any recorded survey shall be submitted 
to Staff. 

16. Sidewalks, crosswalks and pedestrian linkages in the public right-of-way shall be in 
compliance with the requirements of the U.S. Access Board. 

17. No surcharging of sanitary or storm water manholes is allowed. 

18. The project shall connect to an existing manhole or install a manhole at each connection 
point to the public storm system and sanitary sewer system.  

19. A City approved energy dissipation device shall be installed at all proposed storm system 
outfalls.  Storm outfall facilities shall be designed and constructed in conformance with the 
Public Works Standards. 

20. The applicant shall provide a ‘stamped’ engineering plan and supporting information that 
shows the proposed street light locations meet the appropriate AASHTO lighting standards 
for all proposed streets and pedestrian alleyways. 

21. All required pavement markings, in conformance with the Transportation Systems Plan and 
the Bike and Pedestrian Master Plan, shall be completed in conjunction with any 
conditioned street improvements. 

22. Street and traffic signs shall have a hi-intensity prismatic finish meeting ASTM 4956 Spec 
Type 4 standards. 

23. The applicant shall provide adequate sight distance at all project driveways by driveway 
placement or vegetation control. Specific designs to be submitted and approved by the City 
Engineer. Coordinate and align proposed driveways with driveways on the opposite side of 
the proposed project site. 

24. The applicant shall provide adequate sight distance at all project street intersections, alley 
intersections and commercial driveways by properly designing intersection alignments, 
establishing set-backs, driveway placement and/or vegetation control. Coordinate and align 
proposed streets, alleys and commercial driveways with existing streets, alleys and 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 99 of 101



Exhibit C1  
Public Works Plan Submittal Requirements and Other Engineering Requirements Page 5 

commercial driveways located on the opposite side of the proposed project site existing 
roadways.  Specific designs shall be approved by a Professional Engineer registered in the 
State of Oregon.  As part of project acceptance by the City the Applicant shall have the sight 
distance at all project intersections, alley intersections and commercial driveways verified 
and approved by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of Oregon, with the 
approval(s) submitted to the City (on City approved forms). 

 
25. Access requirements, including sight distance, shall conform to the City's Transportation 

Systems Plan (TSP) or as approved by the City Engineer. Landscaping plantings shall be 
low enough to provide adequate sight distance at all street intersections and alley/street 
intersections. 

26. Applicant shall design interior streets and alleys to meet specifications of Tualatin Valley 
Fire & Rescue and Allied Waste Management (United Disposal) for access and use of their 
vehicles. 

27. The applicant shall provide the City with a Stormwater Maintenance and Access Easement 
(on City approved forms) for City inspection of those portions of the storm system to be 
privately maintained.  Stormwater or rainwater LID facilities may be located within the 
public right-of-way upon approval of the City Engineer.  Applicant shall maintain all LID 
storm water components and private conventional storm water facilities; maintenance shall 
transfer to the respective homeowners association when it is formed.  

28. The applicant shall “loop” proposed waterlines by connecting to the existing City waterlines 
where applicable. 

29. Applicant shall provide a minimum 6-foot Public Utility Easement on lot frontages to all 
public right-of-ways. An 8-foot PUE shall be provided along Collectors. A 10-ft PUE shall be 
provided along Minor and Major Arterials. 

30. For any new public easements created with the project the Applicant shall be required to 
produce the specific survey exhibits establishing the easement and shall provide the City 
with the appropriate  Easement document (on City approved forms). 

31. Mylar Record Drawings:  

At the completion of the installation of any required public improvements, and before a 
'punch list' inspection is scheduled, the Engineer shall perform a record survey. Said survey 
shall be the basis for the preparation of 'record drawings' which will serve as the physical 
record of those changes made to the plans and/or specifications, originally approved by 
Staff, that occurred during construction. Using the record survey as a guide, the appropriate 
changes will be made to the construction plans and/or specifications and a complete revised 
'set' shall be submitted. The 'set' shall consist of drawings on 3 mil. Mylar and an electronic 
copy in AutoCAD, current version, and a digitally signed PDF. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 100 of 101



Exhibit C2  
Natural Resources Requirements  Page 1 

Exhibit C2 
Natural Resources Findings & Requirements 

 

 
Findings for DB15-0076 – DB15-0080 and DB15-0082 
 
Stormwater Management Requirements 
1. Provide profiles, plan views, landscape information, and specifications for the proposed 

stormwater facilities consistent with the requirements of the 2014 Public Works Standards. 
2. Pursuant to the 2014 Public Works Standards, the applicant shall submit a maintenance plan 

(including the City’s stormwater maintenance and access easement) for the proposed 
stormwater facilities prior to approval for occupancy of the associated development. 

3. Pursuant to the 2014 Public Works Standards, access shall be provided to all areas of the 
proposed stormwater facilities. At a minimum, at least one access shall be provided for 
maintenance and inspection. 

 
Other Requirements 
4. The applicant shall comply with all applicable state and federal requirements for the 

proposed construction activities (e.g., DEQ NPDES #1200–CN permit). 
5. Pursuant to the City of Wilsonville’s Ordinance No. 482, the applicant shall submit an 

erosion and sedimentation control plan. The following techniques and methods shall be 
incorporated, where necessary:  

a. Gravel construction entrance; 
b. Stockpiles and plastic sheeting; 
c. Sediment fence; 
d. Inlet protection (Silt sacks are recommended); 
e. Dust control;  
f. Temporary/permanent seeding or wet weather measures (e.g., mulch);  
g. Limits of construction; and 
h. Other appropriate erosion and sedimentation control methods. 

DRB Panel A - Meeting July 11, 2016: Ash Park Page 101 of 101





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Responses to Incomplete 
Application 

 







































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Application 
 









 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Compliance Narrative 
 

























































































































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TVF&R 
 















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Republic Services 
 















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Proposed Stage I  
Master Plan 

 





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ash Meadows 81 
Stage I Master Plan 

 







 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Arborist Report 
 























 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Traffic Impact Study 
 



















































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Geo-Tech Pavement 
Assessment 

 



























 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Current CC&R’s 
 























































































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HOA Access Agreement 
 



















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mentor Graphics Agreement 
Roger Blvd 

 

























 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Materials & Color Board 
 





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Architectural Design 
 















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ash Meadows  
Open Space Analysis 

 





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Geo-Tech Infiltration Report 
 























 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Storm Drainage Report 
 











































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Title Report 
 















































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Remedial Partition 
TL 2700 

 





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reduced Plans 
 














































	Wilsonville City Hall
	29799 SW Town Center Loop East
	Wilsonville, Oregon
	III. Roll Call
	V. City Council Liaison Report
	Staff Report
	Wilsonville Planning Division
	Background:
	Requests A and B � Tentative Remedial Partition Plat and Delete Condition No. 2 in 87AR25  (AR15-0088 and DB15-0075)
	Request C � Modify Stage I Preliminary Plan (Ash Meadows Master Plan)
	Request D � Stage II Final Plan
	Request E � Tentative Subdivision Plat
	Request F � Site Design Review
	Request G � Type C Tree Removal Plan
	Request H � Two (2) Waivers

	Conclusion and Conditions of Approval:
	Request A: AR15-0088 Modification to Condition of Approval
	Request B: DB15-0075 Remedial Tentative Partition Plat
	Request C: DB15-0076 Modify Stage I Master Plan for Ash Meadows
	Request D: DB15-0077 Stage II Final Plan
	Request E: DB15-0078 Tentative Subdivision Plat
	Request F: DB15-0112 Site Design Review
	Request G: DB15-0113 Type C Tree Plan
	Request H: DB15-082 Waivers

	Master Exhibit List:
	B1.
	Background Information:
	Findings of Fact:
	Application Procedures-In General
	Initiating Application
	Pre-Application Conference
	Lien Payment before Approval
	General Submission Requirements
	Zoning-Generally
	Plat Review Authority
	Legal Lot Requirement
	Undersized Lots Prohibited
	Pre-Application Conference
	Tentative Plat Preparation
	Tentative Plat Submission
	Phases to Be Shown
	Remainder Tracts
	Street Requirements for Land Divisions
	General Land Division Requirements
	Defining Lots of Record
	Improvements-Procedures
	Improvements-Requirements
	Planned Development Purpose
	Planned Development Lot Qualifications
	Ownership Requirements
	Professional Design Team
	Planned Development Permit Process
	Comprehensive Plan Consistency
	Application Requirements
	Outdoor Recreational Area
	Open Space Area
	Building Setbacks
	Other Standards
	Typically Permitted Uses
	Accessory Uses
	Appropriate PDR Zone
	Block and Access Standards
	Development Standards
	Lots Suitable for Planned Development
	Applicability of Planned Development Regulations
	All Owners Must be Involved in Application
	Transfer of Land in Planned Developments
	Professional Design Team
	Professional Coordinator
	Timing of Submission
	Stage I Conformance, Submission Requirements
	Stage II Final Plan Detail
	Submission of Legal Documents
	Expiration of Approval
	Consistency with Plans
	Traffic Concurrency
	Facilities and Services Concurrency
	Adherence to Approved Plans
	Purpose of Outdoor Recreational Area
	Design for Privacy
	Needs of Tenants
	Mixed Use Developments
	DRB Altering Amount of Outdoor Recreation Area
	Outdoor Recreational Area Part of Required Open Space
	25 % Open Space Required
	What Open Space Must Include
	Usable Open Space with No SROZ Lands
	Waiving Usable Open Space Requirement
	Phasing and Usable Open Space Requirement
	Easements and Dedication to the Public of Open Space
	Including Open Space Area in Density and Lot Coverage Calculations
	Assuring Protection and Maintenance of Open Space
	Front Yard Setback
	Side Yard Setback
	Setbacks and Future Streets
	Garage Door or Carport Setbacks
	Rear Yard Setbacks
	Height Guidelines
	Residential Homes (Treatment Facilities) Allowed in Single-Family Development
	Front Yard Fence Height
	Side and Rear Yard Fence Height
	Prohibited Fence Materials
	Prohibited Uses
	Accessory Dwelling Units
	Impacting Needed Housing Cost
	Additional Height Guidelines
	Underground Utilities
	Waivers
	Other Requirements or Restrictions
	Impact on Development Cost
	Requiring Tract Dedications
	Habitat Friendly Development Practices
	Typically Permitted Uses
	Uses Permitted Accessory to Single-Family Dwellings
	Maximum Block Perimeter
	Maximum Spacing between Streets for Local Access
	Maximum Block Length
	Minimum Lot Size
	Minimum Density
	Minimum Lot Width
	Minimum Street Frontage
	Minimum Lot Depth
	Maximum Height
	Maximum Lot Coverage
	Conformance with Standards
	Continuous Pathway System
	Safe, Direct, and Convenient
	Free from Hazards/Smooth Surface
	Reasonably Direct
	Vehicle/Pathway Separation
	Crosswalks
	Pathway Width and Surface
	Minimum and Maximum Parking
	Other Parking Area Design Standards
	Parking Standards Minimum Criteria
	Parking Variances and Waivers
	On-Street Parking for Parking Calculations
	Access at Defined Points
	Health, Safety, and Welfare
	Approval of Access Points
	Regard for Natural Terrain and Features
	Grading Compliance with Uniform Building Code
	Limiting Soil Disturbance
	Avoiding Erosion, Pollution, Etc.
	Minimize Tree Removal
	Timing of Vegetation Disturbance
	Incorporation of Trees and Wooded Area in Site Planning
	Preservation of Trees in Right-of-Way
	Tree Protection During Construction
	Design for Public Safety
	Addressing and Directional Signing
	Surveillance and Access
	Lighting to Discourage Crime
	Landscape Code Compliance
	Intent and Required Materials
	Landscape Area
	Landscape Locations
	Use of Landscaping
	Plant Material Variety
	Native Plant Material Use
	Buffering and Screening
	Landscape Plans
	Conformance with Standards and Plan
	Rough Proportionality
	Timing of Street Improvements
	Streets and Adjoining Properties
	Adjoining Property Connections
	Right-of-Way Width Determination
	Right-of-Way Dedication
	Waiver of Remonstrance
	Arterial Street Setbacks
	Dead-end Streets
	Corner Vision Clearance
	Vertical Clearance
	Interim Improvement Standards
	Sidewalks Required
	Through Zone
	Sidewalks on One Side
	Bicycle Facilities and TSP
	Clear Travel Lane
	Travel Lane Load Capacity
	Emergency Vehicle Access
	Emergency Access Lanes
	Contextual Design
	Access and Street Classifications
	Access Restrictions
	Ditch and Culvert Crossings
	Surfacing of Temporary Driveways
	Transportation System Plan Table 3-2
	Exceptions and Adjustments
	Plat Review Authority
	Legally Lot Requirement
	Undersized Lots Prohibited
	Pre-Application Conference
	Tentative Plat Preparation
	Tentative Plat Submission
	Phases to Be Shown
	Remainder Tracts
	Master Plan or Map Conformance
	Adjoining Streets Relationship
	Streets Standards Conformance
	Creation of Easements
	Topography
	Reserve Strips
	Future Street Expansion
	Additional Right-of-Way
	Street Names
	Block Length, Width and Shape
	Block Size
	Utility Line Easements
	Water Course Easements
	Pedestrian and Bicycle Pathways
	Tree Planting
	Lot Size and Shape
	Minimum Street Frontage
	Through Lots
	Lot Side Lines
	Large Lot Divisions
	Building Line
	Build-to Line
	Land for Public Purposes
	Corner Lots
	Defining Lots of Record
	Improvements-Procedures
	Improvements-Requirements
	Proper Functioning of the Site
	High Quality Visual Environment
	Encourage Originality, Flexibility, and Innovation
	Discourage Inharmonious Development
	Proper Site Relationships
	Proper Relationships with Surroundings
	Regard to Natural Aesthetics
	Protect and Enhance City�s Appeal
	Stabilize Property Values/Prevent Blight
	Adequate Public Facilities
	Pleasing Environments and Behavior
	Civic Pride and Community Spirit
	Favorable Environment for Residents
	Development Review Board Jurisdiction
	Use of Design Standards
	Preservation of Landscaping
	Surface Water Drainage
	Above Ground Utility Installations
	Screening and Buffering of Special Features
	Applicability of Design Standards
	Conditions of Approval
	Color or Materials Requirements
	Submission Requirements
	Void after 2 Years
	Landscape Installation or Bonding
	Approved Landscape Plan
	Landscape Maintenance and Watering
	Modifications of Landscaping
	Protection
	Landscape Standards Code Compliance
	Intent and Required Materials
	Landscape Area and Locations
	Buffering and Screening
	Shrubs and Groundcover Materials
	Plant Materials-Trees
	Types of Plant Species
	Tree Credit
	Exceeding Plant Standards
	Landscape Installation and Maintenance
	Landscape Plans
	Completion of Landscaping
	Tree Related Site Access
	Review Authority
	Conditions of Approval
	Completion of Operation
	Security for Permit Compliance
	Tree Removal Standards
	Review Process
	Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan
	Tree Replacement Requirement
	Basis for Determining Replacement
	Replacement Tree Requirements
	Replacement Tree Stock Requirements
	Replacement Trees Locations
	Tree Protection during Construction
	Waivers 1 and 2: Reduce Side Yard Setback from 7 feet to 5 feet and Rear Yard Setback from 20 feet to 15 feet for Two or More Stories
	Subsection 4.118 (.03) A.
	Subsection 4.140 (.01) B.
	Waiver 3: Reduce General Open Space Less Than 25%


	Responses to Incomplete Application
	Application
	Compliance Narrative
	TVF&R
	Republic Services
	Proposed Stage I Master Plan
	Ash Meadows 81 Stage I Master Plan
	Arborist Report
	Traffic Impact Study
	Geo-Tech Pavement Assessment
	Current CC&R's
	HOA Access Agreement
	Mentor Graphics Agreement  Roger Blvd
	Materials & Color Board
	Architectural Design
	Ash Meadows Open Space Analysis
	Geo-Tech Infiltration Report
	Storm Drainage Report
	Title Report
	Remedial Partition TL 2700
	Reduced Plans



